
 
 
 

Planning Committee 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Date: Wednesday 22nd October 2025 
Time: 10.00 am 
Venue: Brunswick Room - Guildhall, Bath 
 
Agenda 
 
 

To: All Members of the Planning Committee 
 

Councillors:- Tim Ball, Paul Crossley, Fiona Gourley, Ian Halsall, Hal MacFie, 
Toby Simon, Shaun Hughes, Dr Eleanor Jackson, John Leach and Tim Warren CBE 
Permanent Substitutes:- Councillors: David Biddleston, Sarah Evans, Duncan Hounsell, 
Ruth Malloy and Ann Morgan 
 
Chief Executive and other appropriate officers  
Press and Public  

 
 
 
The agenda is set out overleaf. 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Corrina Haskins
Democratic Services
Lewis House, Manvers Street, Bath, BA1 1JG 
Telephone: 01225 39 4435
Web-site - http://www.bathnes.gov.uk 
E-mail: Democratic_Services@bathnes.gov.uk



 

 

NOTES: 
1. Inspection of Papers: Papers are available for inspection as follows: 
 
Council’s website: https://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/ieDocHome.aspx?bcr=1 
 
2. Details of decisions taken at this meeting can be found in the minutes which will be 
circulated with the agenda for the next meeting. In the meantime, details can be obtained by 
contacting as above.  
 
3. Recording at Meetings:- 
 
The Openness of Local Government Bodies Regulations 2014 now allows filming and recording 
by anyone attending a meeting.  This is not within the Council’s control.  Some of our meetings 
are webcast. At the start of the meeting, the Chair will confirm if all or part of the meeting is to 
be filmed.  If you would prefer not to be filmed for the webcast, please make yourself known to 
the camera operators.  We request that those filming/recording meetings avoid filming public 
seating areas, children, vulnerable people etc; however, the Council cannot guarantee this will 
happen. 
 
The Council will broadcast the images and sounds live via the internet 
www.bathnes.gov.uk/webcast. The Council may also use the images/sound recordings on its 
social media site or share with other organisations, such as broadcasters. 
 
4. Public Speaking at Meetings 
 
The Council has a specific scheme for the public to make representations at Planning 
Committee meetings.  
 
Advance notice is required by the close of business (5.00pm) two days before a 
committee. This means that for Planning Committee meetings held on Wednesdays, 
notice must be received in Democratic Services by 5.00pm the previous Monday.  
 
Further details of the scheme can be found at: 
 
https://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/ecCatDisplay.aspx?sch=doc&cat=12942 
 
5. Emergency Evacuation Procedure 
 
When the continuous alarm sounds, you must evacuate the building by one of the designated 
exits and proceed to the named assembly point. The designated exits are signposted. 
Arrangements are in place for the safe evacuation of disabled people. 
 
6. Supplementary information for meetings 
 
Additional information and Protocols and procedures relating to meetings 
 
https://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/ecCatDisplay.aspx?sch=doc&cat=13505 
 

 
 
 
 
 

https://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/ieDocHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/webcast
https://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/ecCatDisplay.aspx?sch=doc&cat=12942
https://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/ecCatDisplay.aspx?sch=doc&cat=13505


Planning Committee- Wednesday 22nd October 2025 
 

at 10.00 am in the Brunswick Room - Guildhall, Bath 
 

A G E N D A 
  

1.   EMERGENCY EVACUATION PROCEDURE  

 The Democratic Services Officer will draw attention to the emergency evacuation 
procedure. 

 
2.   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND SUBSTITUTIONS  
 
3.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

 At this point in the meeting declarations of interest are received from Members in any 
of the agenda items under consideration at the meeting. Members are asked to 
indicate: 

(a) The agenda item number and site in which they have an interest to declare. 

(b) The nature of their interest. 

(c) Whether their interest is a disclosable pecuniary interest or an other interest, 
(as defined in Part 4.4 Appendix B of the Code of Conduct and Rules for 
Registration of Interests) 

Any Member who needs to clarify any matters relating to the declaration of interests is 
recommended to seek advice from the Council’s Monitoring Officer before the meeting 
to expedite dealing with the item during the meeting. 

 
4.   TO ANNOUNCE ANY URGENT BUSINESS AGREED BY THE CHAIR  
 
5.   ITEMS FROM THE PUBLIC  

 To note that, regarding planning applications to be considered, members of the public 
who have given the requisite notice to Democratic Services will be able to make a 
statement to the Committee immediately before their respective applications are 
considered. There will be a time limit of 3 minutes for each proposal, i.e., 3 minutes for 
the Parish and Town Councils, 3 minutes for the objectors to the proposal and 3 
minutes for the applicant, agent and supporters. This allows a maximum of 9 minutes 
per proposal. 

 
6.   MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING (Pages 5 - 20) 

 To confirm the following minutes as a correct record for signing by the Chair: 
 

1. Wednesday 17 September 2025 
2. Wednesday 24 September 2025 

 
7.   MAIN PLANS LIST - APPLICATIONS FOR PLANNING PERMISSION ETC FOR 

DETERMINATION BY THE COMMITTEE (Pages 21 - 106) 



 1. 22/03025/FUL Site Of Former Folly Inn Brewery And Pleasure Ground Hampton 
Row, Bathwick   

2. 25/02732/FUL Windyridge, High Street, Wellow, Bath  
3. 25/02605/VAR Great Barn Court Block Two Dane's Lane, Keynsham  
4. 25/02948/FUL Tregonhawke, Packhorse Lane, South Stoke 
5. 25/01551/FUL 54 Uplands Road, Saltford  

 
8.   NEW PLANNING APPEALS LODGED, DECISIONS RECEIVED AND DATES OF 

FORTHCOMING HEARINGS/INQUIRIES (Pages 107 - 112) 

 The Committee is asked to note the report. 
 
9.   QUARTERLY PERFORMANCE REPORT COVERING PERIOD 1 JULY - 30 SEPT 

2025 (Pages 113 - 124) 

 The Committee is asked to note the report. 
 
 
 
The Democratic Services Officer for this meeting is Corrina Haskins who can be contacted on  
01225 394357. 
 
Delegated List Web Link: https://beta.bathnes.gov.uk/document-and-policy-library/delegated-
planning-decisions  
 

https://beta.bathnes.gov.uk/document-and-policy-library/delegated-planning-decisions
https://beta.bathnes.gov.uk/document-and-policy-library/delegated-planning-decisions


Bath and North East 
Somerset Council 

 

 

 
1 

 

 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 
Minutes of the Meeting held 
Wednesday 17th September 2025, 10.00 am 

 
Councillors: Tim Ball (Chair), Sarah Evans, Fiona Gourley, Ian Halsall, Duncan Hounsell, 
Hal MacFie, Toby Simon, Shaun Hughes, Dr Eleanor Jackson and John Leach 

  
  
40   EMERGENCY EVACUATION PROCEDURE 
  
 The Democratic Services Officer read out the emergency evacuation procedure.  
  
41   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND SUBSTITUTIONS 
  
 Apologies for absence were submitted from Cllr Paul Crossley and Cllr Tim Warren.  

Cllr Duncan Hounsell and Cllr Sarah Evans were in attendance as substitutes.  
  
42   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
  
 There were no declarations of interest.  
  
43   TO ANNOUNCE ANY URGENT BUSINESS AGREED BY THE CHAIR 
  
 There was no urgent business.  
  
44   ITEMS FROM THE PUBLIC 
  
 Public speakers were invited to address the Committee after the Planning Officer 

had given a presentation on the application under the main plans list agenda item.  
  
45   MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING 
  
 RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting held on Wednesday 27 August 2025 be 

confirmed as a correct record for signing by the Chair.  
  
46   MAIN PLANS LIST - APPLICATIONS FOR PLANNING PERMISSION ETC FOR 

DETERMINATION BY THE COMMITTEE 
  
 The Committee considered: 

 
1. A report and update report by the Head of Planning on the applications under the 

main applications list. 
2. Oral statements by members of the public and representatives.  A copy of the 

speakers’ list is attached as Appendix 1 to these minutes. 
 

RESOLVED that in accordance with the delegated powers, the applications be 
determined as set out in the main applications decisions list attached as Appendix 2 

Page 5

Agenda Item 6



 

 
2 

 

to these minutes. 
 
 
(1) 23/03558/EFUL – Bath Recreation Ground, Pulteney Mews, Bathwick, Bath, 

Bath And North East Somerset 

 
(2) 23/03559/LBA – Bath Recreation Ground, Pulteney Mews, Bathwick, Bath, 

Bath And North East Somerset 

 
The Case Officer introduced the reports which considered a full planning application 
for  
1. The demolition of the existing Clubhouse, west stand retained wall, and ancillary 

structures. Removal of all existing temporary structures. Phased comprehensive 
redevelopment to provide a new sporting, cultural and leisure stadium with hybrid 
sports pitch, including the retention of and refurbishment and extension to the 
South Stand, and construction of new permanent North, East and West Stands. 
Phased construction including the retention and relocation of temporary east 
stand to facilitate playing of sport during construction. Stadium to include ancillary 
facilities and structures including changing rooms, flood lights, television screens, 
scoreboards, camera gantries, media suite, matchday food and beverage outlets 
and hospitality suites, conference / function /banqueting / hospitality spaces, 
service and kitchen areas, flexible Page 14multi-use areas, offices, storage, plant 
and substation. Hard and soft landscaping works, flood alleviation works, tree 
planting, new steps and platform lift, infrastructure works, temporary construction 
compound and all associated construction works and operations. 

2. Listed building consent for demolition of existing unlisted Clubhouse and its 
removal from curtilage listed wall structure (northern boundary), and construction 
of permanent North Stand within curtilage of listed wall structure and Presidents 
Lounge. 
 

He gave a verbal update to report: 
1. On 26 August the Council had received a direction from the Secretary of State 

not to grant planning permission without specific authorisation.  The direction was 
issued to enable the Secretary of State to consider whether to direct under 
Section 77 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 that the application 
should be referred for determination.  The direction did not prevent the Council 
from considering the application, forming a view as to the merits or, if they were 
so minded, refusing permission. 

2. A summary of highways comments had been omitted from the report, and these 
had been circulated as an update report. 

3. The recommendations had been clarified as set out in the update report:  
(1) To note the letter from the Secretary of State dated 26 August 2025 and the 

effect of the Article 31 direction. 
(2) If the Secretary of State does call in the application, then: 

a) To advise that the Council would have granted planning permission subject to 
conditions and s.106 planning obligations. 

b) To advise that the Council would have granted listed building consent. 
c) To submit this report to the Secretary of State, along with any other 

Page 6



 

 
3 

 

background papers requested on his behalf. 
(3) If the Secretary of State does not call in the application, then: 
a) To provide Officers with delegated authority to: 

i) make such non-material amendments to the conditions and planning 
obligations set out in this report, or such other conditions or planning 
obligations recommended by the Committee, considered appropriate to 
ensure the acceptable implementation of the development; and 

ii) complete the s.106 agreement 
b) To GRANT planning permission for the development. 
c) To GRANT listed building consent. 
 
The following public representation was received: 
1. Objecting to the application: 

a. Mark Reynolds (Context Planning) on behalf of Pulteney Estate Residents 
Association (PERA). 

b. Edward Nash on behalf of Friends of Bath Recreation Ground.  
c. Penelope Moses (on behalf of resident Rosemary Carne). 
d. Eileen Anderton, local resident. 
e. Steve Osgood, Independent Planner (RTPI/RIBA member). 

2. Supporting the application: 
a. Tarquin McDonald, Chief Executive, Bath Rugby. 
b. Tim Burden, Senior Director, Turley. 
c. Alicia John, General Manager, Bath Recreation Limited. 
d. Lynne Fernquest, Chief Executive, Bath Rugby Foundation. 
e. Megan Baron, on behalf of Bath Rugby Foundation. 
f. Allison Herbert, Chief Executive, Bath BID. 

 
Cllr Manda Rigby was in attendance as ward member and read a statement as 
summarised below: 
1. In terms of local amenity, she questioned whether the benefits of the 

development would outweigh the negatives.  The adjacent property would be 
adversely affected and there was a disappointing lack of conditions relating to 
noise monitoring.  The Planning Consultant employed by PERA had suggested 
additional conditions and these should be considered if the Committee was 
minded to support the application. 

2. Heritage was fragile and precious, and this included the buildings surrounding the 
recreation ground.  There was a risk that people would not want to live in the 
area in the future due to the impact of the stadium.   

3. In relation to viability, she accepted the value of the work of Bath Rugby 
Foundation, but this was not a material planning consideration.  The rugby 
industry was precarious and if anything happened to Bath Rugby the stadium 
could be used for more commercial operations. 

4. She was concerned about the size, scale, massing and over-development of the 
site in the context of a world heritage city.   

 
In response to Members’ questions, it was confirmed: 
1. In relation to the background to issues raised by public speakers around land 

ownership, charity arrangements and covenants and whether these issues were 
a material consideration, the Monitoring Officer reported that: 

Page 7



 

 
4 

 

a. A high court decision in 2002 had determined that the 1956 conveyance 
had created a trust to preserve the fields for members of the public.  It had 
transpired through subsequent court and tribunal decisions that there was 
no covenant, only a trust which was governed by the charity commission 
and operated by the trustees under a scheme of arrangement.   

b. A 2016 tribunal set out a scheme of arrangement for the trust including 
provision of a 18,000-seater stadium.   

c. Following a High Court judgement and subsequent appeal to the Supreme 
Court, in 2022 it was held that a 1922 covenant relating to the Recreation 
Ground (and who the beneficiaries of that covenant were) was imprecise 
and unenforceable. 

d. In terms of material consideration, a local planning authority could lawfully 
conclude that a development was acceptable in land use planning terms 
and grant planning permission even if the development was incompatible 
with a different restriction on the use of the land.   His view was that there 
was not a restriction on the land. 

e. He advised that he did not think there was legal impediment to the 
development of the site but only a court could give a definitive view. 

2. In relation to the economic implications of a refusal in the context of the 
temporary permissions which were due to expire in 2027, it was unlikely that Bath 
Rugby could continue to use the ground once the permission for the temporary 
stands expired due to the limited capacity.  

3. In relation to the traffic management conditions recommended by PERA’s 
consultant, these issues would be addressed within the travel plans condition or 
by other legislation. 

4. A swept path analysis had been undertaken for all types of vehicles. 
5. There was no specific mitigation in relation to the safety of people crossing the 

road near Parade Gardens and if there was a need for extra traffic management, 
this could be reviewed at a future date.   

6. There was no proposed developer contribution towards improvements to the 
stairwell on North Parade Bridge to address the increased footfall, but there 
would be an additional lift and stairs at the southern end.  It was the view of 
highways officers that the area could accommodate the additional footfall. 

7. There had been a noise assessment and in terms of music events, the capacity 
would be lower with a maximum of 10,000 and the Environmental Protection 
Team had not recommended any further conditions to those outlined in the 
report. 

8. In terms of terminology, the ‘lifetime of the development’ was a form of words 
used in planning conditions.  An event could be more than one day but there was 
a limit on the total number of days, and a list of types of events was included as a 
condition which would provide control over these activities. 

9. Construction would take place throughout the year, including during the rugby 
season.  In terms of ensuring completion, there was no mechanism to say it had 
to be completed within a set timescale but there was a clear programme of a 3-
year phased development.  The east temporary stand could only be in place for 4 
years so that would provide an incentive to complete the development. 

10. The construction management plan would address issues relating to noise and 
traffic. 

11. In relation to the reassurances that the impact on residents of Johnson Street 

Page 8



 

 
5 

 

would be monitored, the applicant had undertaken to implement certain 
measures, and the details were included as an informative at the end of the 
conditions. 

12. SB2 specifically referred to a sporting, culture and leisure stadium in the 
recreation ground area.   

13. The range of uses in the outfield would not be affected by the development.   
14. There would be compensatory flood storage to replace what would be lost due to 

the raising of the pitch. 
15. The Environment Agency had withdrawn its objection subject to conditions 

including updated flood risk modelling and construction management.  
16. There would be a number of triggers in relation to the flood evacuation plan and 

there would be alternative routes to ensure that not everyone would be 
evacuating by the same route. 

17. In terms of mitigation for the deterioration of the plastic from the hybrid pitch 
going into the river, there was a pitch management plan, it was below pitch level 
and with the concourse and bund in place, there was limited risk of plastics 
getting into the river.   

18. The Copper Beech tree would be protected by a planning condition.  There would 
be a loss of Silver Birch trees and Tulip trees along the riverside, but these would 
be replaced in line with supplementary planning guidance relating to trees.   

19. There had been a detailed archaeological analysis, and the condition was 
considered to be the appropriate control.     

20. Floodlights were considered as external lighting rather than internal.   
21. Natural England had no objection to the floodlights for occasional use, and the 

lights were an improvement on the existing.  There would be the provision of 
more bat friendly lights around the riverside path but there may be occasions on 
match days were security lighting was brighter than the 0.5lx recommended for 
bats. 

22. The materials and colours of the roof would have to be submitted in advance for 
agreement by the planning authority and this was secured by a condition.   

23. Safety issues relating to Martyn’s Law would be addressed through other 
legislation and was not a planning consideration. 
 

Cllr Simon opened the debate as local ward councillor and raised the following 
points: 
1. He did not think any further applications for temporary use would be appropriate 

and the current application needed to be looked at in the context of the removal 
of the temporary stands. 

2. He accepted the legal advice in that there were no issues around land ownership, 
covenants or charitable status that were material to the Committee’s 
consideration. 

3. The principle of development was set out in the plan and the application was 
compliant. 

4. In terms of land use, there had been changes over the years in terms of outdoor 
recreation and there may not be as much space needed as was previously 
required.   

5. The proposed stadium had been designed in consultation with design review 
panels.   

6. The statutory consultees did not have any outstanding objections in relation to 

Page 9



 

 
6 

 

heritage impacts. 
7. The proposed stadium was more dominant than the existing but was a visual 

improvement by day and at night time there would be a positive impact as a 
result of the new controlled lighting.   

8. Flood risk was an important consideration, but this had been assessed by 
professionals including the Environment Agency. 

9. The Copper Beech tree would now be protected by a no dig zone.  
10. He supported the goods vehicle access via the main roads. 
11. Noise was the one weakness within the report and would need further mitigations 

to minimise impact. 
12. Air quality had been sufficiently addressed in the report. 
13. Socio economic analysis looked at incremental benefits of this stadium over the 

existing, but it would also preserve the existing impact. 
14. He supported the climate change analysis and the implementation plan. 
15. In terms of planning balance, he agreed with the planning officer, but he regarded 

the socio-economic aspect as more important as the new stadium was the only 
option to retain rugby in Bath.   

16. He considered the conditions suggested by PERA’s planning consultant to be 
helpful, but as they were submitted before the details of the Section 106 
agreement was published, it was likely that some of the points would be 
addressed in the S106 Agreement.  He confirmed that he would like officers to 
look at including these conditions in relation to noise controls and a review of 
transport conditions and parking controls if this was not already covered. 

 
Cllr Simon moved the officers’ recommendations as set out in the update report 
subject to officers ensuring the following were considered as part of the Section 106 
Agreement/conditions as appropriate: 
1. A permanent noise monitoring installation in sensitive locations to allow baselines 

to be established (unless advised otherwise by Environmental Health officers).  
2. Additional noise conditions and a review of transport conditions as considered 

appropriate. 
3. A S106 contribution towards a review of the controlled parking zone in the centre 

of Bath in relation to match days and hours of operation. 
4. The Changing Places toilet facilities to be open for the longest possible hours 

and times to be specified as part of the S106 agreement.  
 
Cllr Hounsell seconded the motion stating that the benefits outweighed the harm, the 
proposed development for a 18,000-seater stadium was a modest size and it would 
be a visual improvement on the existing stadium.   
 
Cllr Gourley stated that the development would result in better facilities and better 
use of the land, but she did understand the concerns of residents around noise, 
vibration and parking and it was important that the mitigations were in place and that 
they were adhered to. 
 
Cllr Hughes agreed with the importance of minimising impacts on residents and that 
officers should consider incorporating some of the conditions suggested by PERA’s 
consultant.  He welcomed the design improvements and acknowledged the 
economic benefits.   
 

Page 10



 

 
7 

 

Cllr Leach spoke against the motion as he was concerned that overall, the harms 
would not outweigh the benefits.   
 
Cllr Halsall spoke in support of the motion, he acknowledged that there would be 
some changes to the skyline, but that any severe harm had been mitigated and there 
would be significant improvements to the riverside area.  He acknowledged that 
there would be an impact on the residential amenity of residents of Johnson Street, 
but he did not consider that this was a sufficient reason to warrant refusal.   
 
On voting for the motion, it was CARRIED (9 in favour and 1 against). 
 
The Committee RESOLVED: 
 
1. To note the letter from the Secretary of State dated 26 August 2025 and the 

effect of the Article 31 direction. 
2. If the Secretary of State does call in the application, then: 

a) To advise that the Council would have granted planning permission subject to 
conditions and s.106 planning obligations.  

b) To advise that the Council would have granted listed building consent. 
c) To submit this report to the Secretary of State, along with any other 

background papers requested on his behalf. 
3. If the Secretary of State does not call in the application, then: 

a) To provide Officers with delegated authority to: 
i) make such non-material amendments to the conditions and planning 
obligations set out in this report, or such other conditions or planning 
obligations recommended by the Committee per Cllr Simon’s motion, 
considered appropriate to ensure the acceptable implementation of the 
development; and 
ii) complete the s.106 agreement 

b) To GRANT planning permission for the development 
c) To GRANT listed building consent 

 
Cllr Jackson asked that the listed building application 23/03559/LBA be the subject 
of a separate vote and moved the officer recommendation.  This was seconded by 
Cllr Gourley, and on voting for the motion it was CARRIED (9 in favour and 1 
against).  
 
The Committee RESOLVED: 
 
1. If the Secretary of State does call in the application, then to advise that the 

Council would have granted listed building consent. 
2. If the Secretary of State does not call in the application, then to GRANT listed 

building consent. 
 

The meeting ended at 2.05 pm  
 

Chair  
 

Date Confirmed and Signed  
 

Prepared by Democratic Services 

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 12



Bath and North East 
Somerset Council 

 

 

 
1 

 

 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 
Minutes of the Meeting held 
Wednesday 24th September 2025, 10.00 am 

 
Councillors: Tim Ball (Chair), Paul Crossley (Vice-Chair), David Biddleston, Ian Halsall, 
Hal MacFie, Ruth Malloy, Toby Simon, Shaun Hughes, John Leach and Tim Warren CBE 

  
  
47   EMERGENCY EVACUATION PROCEDURE 
  
 The Democratic Services Officer read out the emergency evacuation procedure.  
  
48   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND SUBSTITUTIONS 
  
 Apologies for absence were received from Cllr Eleanor Jackson and Cllr Fiona 

Gourley.  Cllr David Biddleston and Cllr Ruth Malloy were substituting.  
  
49   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
  
 Cllr Warren declared an interest in application 24/02489/EFUL - Parcel 1643, Middle 

Piece Lane, Burnett, Keynsham and withdrew from the meeting during consideration 
of the application.  

  
50   TO ANNOUNCE ANY URGENT BUSINESS AGREED BY THE CHAIR 
  
 There was no urgent business.  
  
51   ITEMS FROM THE PUBLIC 
  
 The Democratic Services Officer informed the meeting of the process for public 

speakers to address the Committee.  
  
52   MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING 
  
 The minutes of 17 September were not available and would be confirmed as a 

correct record at the October meeting.  
  
53   MAIN PLANS LIST - APPLICATIONS FOR PLANNING PERMISSION ETC FOR 

DETERMINATION BY THE COMMITTEE 
  
 The Committee considered: 

 
1. A report and update report by the Head of Planning on the applications under the 

main applications list. 
2. Oral statements by members of the public and representatives.  A copy of the 

speakers’ list is attached as Appendix 1 to these minutes. 
 

Page 13



 

 
2 

 

RESOLVED that in accordance with the delegated powers, the applications be 
determined as set out in the main applications decisions list attached as Appendix 2 
to these minutes. 
 
The Chair changed the order of the agenda, and the following application was 
considered first: 
 
3. 25/01744/FUL - 30 Shaws Way, Twerton, Bath, Bath 

 
The Planning Case Officer introduced the report which considered an application for 
a change of use from a 3-bedroom dwellinghouse (Use Class C3) to a 6-bedroom 
House in Multiple Occupation (HMO) (Use Class C4) and single-storey rear 
extension and alterations and bicycle and bin storage. 
 
She confirmed the officers’ recommendation that permission be granted subject to 
the conditions set out in the report. 
 
The following public representation was received: 
1. Brian Maddocks objecting to the application. 
 
Cllr Sarah Moore was in attendance as ward member and read a statement as 
summarised below: 
1. She was objecting to the application. 
2. The structure of the dwelling made it unsuitable for the change of use.  The party 

wall was thin with no insulation.  The structure was a metal frame with internal 
stud walls and there was no block work and nothing to attach an extension to 
without extensive works. 

3. There would need to be significant internal changes before any soundproofing 
can take place, and this would cause a lot of disruption for the neighbours. 

4. The proposed extension would replace the conservatory and would block the 
light for neighbouring properties. 

5. Parking was a severe issue on the road, there was only space to park on one 
side of the road. 

6. 40 local residents had objected to the application, there were too many HMOs in 
the area and this type of property was not suitable to be changed into a 6 bed 
HMO. 

 
In response to Members’ questions, it was confirmed: 
1. The size of the bedrooms did meet the minimum size standard and sound 

insulation was included on the plans.  It was also recommended that sound 
insulation be secured by a condition.   

2. The size of the downstairs bedrooms did not include the ensuite bathroom. 
3. The definition of sandwiching in relation to HMOs was a property with an HMO on 

either side.   
4. The issues relating to the structure of the property and the logistics of building an 

extension would be covered by building regulations. 
5. The applicant had not supplied a structural or acoustic report to support the 

application.  In terms of the noise assessment condition, the criteria would be a 
modern acceptable level of noise.    
 

Page 14



 

 
3 

 

Cllr Halsall opened the debate and acknowledged that the application was compliant 
in terms of the SPD relating to HMOs, but he was concerned about the impact on the 
residential amenity of neighbouring properties.  He expressed the view that the 
application constituted over-development of a 3 bed-dwelling to accommodate 6 
people and their associated activities, and this was contrary to Policy D6. 
 
Cllr Hughes concurred with this view and stated that without structural and acoustics 
reports, there was insufficient evidence to reassure the Committee that the proposed 
development would not result in a loss of amenity to neighbouring properties.  He 
confirmed that he would not support the officers recommendation to permit the 
application.   
 
Cllr Warren moved that the officers’ recommendation be overturned, and the 
application be refused due to the loss of amenity to neighbours and the over-
development of the site.  This was seconded by Cllr Crossley. 
 
Cllr Malloy spoke in support of the motion and also raised concerns about the 
amenity of the future occupiers as well as concerns about parking. 
 
The Team Manager – Development Management advised against including refusal 
reasons relating to parking or the amenity of future occupiers as the application was 
compliant in relation to parking standards and the bedrooms met the minimum size 
requirements.   
 
On voting for the motion, it was CARRIED (10 in favour and 0 against). 
 
RESOLVED that permission be refused for the following reason: 
1. The application to change a framed 3-bed house into a 6-bed HMO~ would result 

in over development of the site and a loss of amenity for neighbouring properties 
due to noise and disturbance. 

 
 
 
Cllr Warren withdrew from the meeting during consideration of the next application. 
 
1. 24/02489/EFUL - Parcel 1643, Middle Piece Lane, Burnett, Keynsham, Bath 

 
The Planning Case Officer introduced the report which considered an application for 
the installation, operation and decommissioning of a renewable energy generating 
station comprising ground-mounted photovoltaic solar arrays together with 
transformer stations, site accesses, internal access tracks, security measures, 
access gates, other ancillary infrastructure and landscaping and biodiversity 
enhancements.  
 
She confirmed the officers’ recommendation that permission be refused for the 
reasons set out in the report.   
 
The following public representation was received: 
1. Cllr Phillipa Paget raising concerns on behalf of Compton Dando Parish Council. 
2. Richard Arthur/Rosemary Turner, objecting to the application. 
3. Nick Leaney, agent, supporting the application. 

Page 15



 

 
4 

 

 
Cllr Duncan Hounsell was in attendance as ward member and read a statement as 
summarised below: 
1. He had asked for the application to be determined at committee to allow it to be 

debated in the public domain. 
2. He had previously supported an application for a smaller solar farm in a nearby 

village and recognised the need for renewable energy in view of the climate 
emergency. 

3. Planning policy did not support solar farms in every case, for example when 
developments would result an adverse impact on landscape. 

4. The size of this application would mean that it would be highly visible in the 
landscape. 

5. Development in the green belt was harmful by definition and there needed to be 
strong reasons to outweigh the harm. 

6. A smaller site in this location could be acceptable. 
7. He supported officers’ recommendation to refuse the application due to the size 

and impact on the green belt and landscape. 
 

In response to Members’ questions, it was confirmed: 
1. The number of the battery containers on the site was indicated on the plans.  The 

containers were situated at the opposite side to the housing in Burnett.  There 
was no proposal to include acoustic barriers, and this had not been requested by 
the Environmental Protection team. 

2. Avon and Somerset Fire Service had requested a developer contribution towards 
fire hydrants in the event of the application being permitted.   

3. In terms of meeting the Council’s target of 110Mwe (Megawatt Electricity) level of 
Renewable Energy and Heat generation by 2029, 47Mwe had been installed 
since 2010 and there was a potential for an additional 86Mwe through consented 
applications.   

4. The Environment Agency had reviewed the flood risk assessments and had 
withdrawn an initial objection on receipt of further information.   

5. As to whether the application would be policy compliant if field 1 was excluded, 
this would require a full assessment.  The applicant had chosen not to reduce the 
size of the proposed development.   

6. The applicant had assessed alternative sites within a 4k radius, and it was the 
view of officers that this was not wide enough as there had been no consideration 
of smaller sites and sites outside of the green belt.   
 

Cllr Hughes opened the debate and spoke in support of the officers assessment of 
the application.  He moved the officers’ recommendation to refuse the application.  
This was seconded by Cllr Crossley who stated that the application was too large 
and impactful and constituted inappropriate development in the green belt.   
 
Cllr Halsall spoke in support of the motion and commented that although there was 
no objection to the principle of development, the scale was not appropriate and there 
should have been a wider sequential assessment.  
 
Cllr Simon agreed that there would be an impact on the landscape, and that there 
would also be an impact on cyclists as Middlepiece Lane was part of cycle route.   
 

Page 16



 

 
5 

 

Cllr Leach spoke against the motion to refuse the application as he expressed the 
view that due to the climate emergency, the balance lay with the benefits of 
generating renewable energy rather than harm to the green belt.  
 
On voting for the motion, it was CARRIED (7 in favour and 2 against). 
 
RESOLVED that the application be refused for the reasons set out in the report. 
 
 Cllr Warren returned to the meeting at this point. 
 

2. 23/03586/FUL - The Smallholdings, Claude Avenue, Twerton, Bath 
 

The Planning Case Officer introduced the report which considered an application for 
the change of use of land and the erection of a storage building. 
 
He confirmed the officers’ recommendation that permission be granted subject to the 
conditions set out in the report. 
 
The following public representation was received: 
1. John Branston, local resident, objecting to the application. 
2. Morgan Jones, agent, supporting the application. 
 
Cllr Jess David was in attendance as adjacent ward member and read a statement 
as summarised below: 
1. The site sat along the boundary of the Southdown and Moorlands wards. 
2. There was a history of ad hoc and unauthorised uses of the site including 

changes to the mud track which ran alongside Sandpits Park and the installation 
of a metal gate which resulted in an increase of vehicles using the track to 
access the site.   

3. She was not objecting to the use of the site but had concerns around the 
vehicular access and the safety of the children using the park. 

4. She requested an additional condition to ensure that the eastern access was not 
used and welcomed the plans for landscaping to create a natural barrier. 

Cllr Dine Romero was in attendance as a ward member and read a statement as 
summarised below: 

1. She was concerned about the impact on children’s safety as the lane was used 
for children to get to the local primary school. 

2. There had been an increase in drivers using the track to access units and she 
wanted a restriction on vehicles using the lane to avoid times when children were 
going to and from school. 

3. The ground at the site was compacted and she was concerned about the impact 
on the waterway in Sandpits Park. 

4. She would like to see a condition restricting noise levels. 
5. She asked if the applicant could make a contribution to the school and church 

towards the upkeep of the lane. 
 
In response to Members’ questions, it was confirmed: 
1. It was not possible to ask the applicants to make a contribution to the church and 

school for the upkeep of the lane. 

Page 17



 

 
6 

 

2. It would not be reasonable to add a condition to restrict hours of vehicles 
accessing the site as other businesses on the site did not have this restriction 
and it could not be added retrospectively.  There was an extant planning 
permission for a larger building on the site with no restrictions to hours of 
operation. 

3. There was a condition for a landscaping scheme to prevent access from the 
eastern side, but it would also be possible to include an additional condition to 
block this access and remove the gate. 

4. The ownership of the track was unknown.  It was beyond the remit of the 
Planning Committee to instruct the Council to take ownership of the track in order 
to secure improvements. 

5. There was no highway objection to the application as there was no material 
change from the existing use. 

6. Vehicles associated with the proposed development would be low trucks used to 
transport scaffolding rather than heavy goods vehicles. 

7. The predicted noise levels had been established by an acoustic report submitted 
with the application and considered by the Environmental Protection Team.   

8. The site was classified as sui generis, and any other uses would require planning 
permission. 
 

Cllr Crossley opened the debate as a ward member.  He stated that there was a 
need for industrial land in the centre of Bath and the site had been used as an 
employment site for a long period of time but noted that there were mixed views from 
local residents about the use of the site.  He expressed disappointment that it wasn’t 
possible to secure improvements to the track as part of the planning permission.   
 
Cllr Halsall suggested that the Committee consider delegating authority to officers to 
permit the application subject to an additional condition to secure the closure of the 
eastern access. 
 
Cllr Simon acknowledged that the biodiversity net gain would result in a soft 
landscaping blockage of the eastern access to the site, but he would support an 
additional condition to secure the permanent closure of the access.   
 
Cllr Warren moved that officers be delegated to permit the application subject to an 
additional condition to ensure that the existing eastern access was permanently 
closed.  The was seconded by Cllr Halsall. 
 
On voting for the motion, it was CARRIED (9 in favour and 1 against). 
 
RESOLVED that officers be delegated to permit the application subject to the 
conditions set out in the report and an additional condition to ensure the eastern 
access to the site was permanently blocked. 

  
  
54   NEW PLANNING APPEALS LODGED, DECISIONS RECEIVED AND DATES OF 

FORTHCOMING HEARINGS/INQUIRIES 
  
 The Committee considered the appeals report. 

 
RESOLVED that the report be noted. 

Page 18



 

 
7 

 

 
 

The meeting ended at 12.13 pm  
 

Chair  
 

Date Confirmed and Signed  
 

Prepared by Democratic Services 
 

Page 19



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 20



Bath & North East Somerset Council 

MEETING: Planning Committee   

AGENDA 
ITEM 
NUMBER 

MEETING 
DATE: 

22nd October 2025 

RESPONSIBLE 
OFFICER: 

Louise Morris - Head of Planning & Building Control  

TITLE: APPLICATIONS FOR PLANNING PERMISSION  

WARDS: ALL 

BACKGROUND PAPERS:  

AN OPEN PUBLIC ITEM 

 
BACKGROUND PAPERS 

List of background papers relating to this report of the Head of Planning about applications/proposals for Planning Permission etc.  The 
papers are available for inspection online at http://planning.bathnes.gov.uk/PublicAccess/. 

[1] Application forms, letters or other consultation documents, certificates, notices, correspondence and all drawings submitted by 
and/or on behalf of applicants, Government Departments, agencies or Bath and North East Somerset Council in connection 
with each application/proposal referred to in this Report. 

[2] Department work sheets relating to each application/proposal as above. 

[3] Responses on the application/proposals as above and any subsequent relevant correspondence from: 

(i) Sections and officers of the Council, including: 

Building Control 
Environmental Services 
Transport Development 
Planning Policy, Environment and Projects, Urban Design (Sustainability) 
 

(ii) The Environment Agency 
(iii) Wessex Water 
(iv) Bristol Water 
(v) Health and Safety Executive 
(vi) British Gas 
(vii) Historic Buildings and Monuments Commission for England (English Heritage) 
(viii) The Garden History Society 
(ix) Royal Fine Arts Commission 
(x) Department of Environment, Food and Rural Affairs 
(xi) Nature Conservancy Council 
(xii) Natural England 
(xiii) National and local amenity societies 
(xiv) Other interested organisations 
(xv) Neighbours, residents and other interested persons 
(xvi) Any other document or correspondence specifically identified with an application/proposal 
 

[4] The relevant provisions of Acts of Parliament, Statutory Instruments or Government Circulars, or documents produced by the 
Council or another statutory body such as the Bath and North East Somerset Local Plan (including waste and minerals policies) 
adopted October 2007  

The following notes are for information only:- 

[1] “Background Papers” are defined in the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985 do not include those disclosing 
“Exempt” or “Confidential Information” within the meaning of that Act.  There may be, therefore, other papers relevant to an 
application which will be relied on in preparing the report to the Committee or a related report, but which legally are not required 
to be open to public inspection. 

 

Page 21

Agenda Item 7

http://planning.bathnes.gov.uk/PublicAccess/


[2] The papers identified or referred to in this List of Background Papers will only include letters, plans and other documents 
relating to applications/proposals referred to in the report if they have been relied on to a material extent in producing the 
report. 

[3] Although not necessary for meeting the requirements of the above Act, other letters and documents of the above kinds 
received after the preparation of this report and reported to and taken into account by the Committee will also be available for 
inspection. 

[4] Copies of documents/plans etc. can be supplied for a reasonable fee if the copyright on the particular item is not thereby 
infringed or if the copyright is owned by Bath and North East Somerset Council or any other local authority. 

 

INDEX 

 
 

ITEM 
NO. 

APPLICATION NO. 
& TARGET DATE: 

APPLICANTS NAME/SITE ADDRESS 
and PROPOSAL 

WARD: OFFICER: REC: 
 

 
 

01 22/03025/FUL 
24 October 2025 

Ms Wendy Zakiewicz 
Site Of Former Folly Inn Brewery And 
Pleasure Ground, Lane Hampton Row 
To Grosvenor Bridge, Bathwick, Bath, 
Bath And North East Somerset 
Erection of a car free self-build 
(affordable) dwelling. 

Bathwick Christine 
Moorfield 

REFUSE 

 
02 25/02732/FUL 

4 September 2025 
Mr Simon Rayner 
Windyridge , High Street, Wellow, Bath, 
Bath And North East Somerset 
Erection of 3 bed dwelling on land to the 
front of Windyridge, associated 
landscape works, and modification to 
existing drive entrance. 

Bathavon 
South 

Danielle 
Milsom 

REFUSE 

 
03 25/02605/VAR 

24 October 2025 
Aequus Developments 
Great Barn Court Block Two, Dane's 
Lane, Keynsham, Bath And North East 
Somerset,  
Variation of conditions 4 (Archaeology 
Post Excavation and Publication), 10 
(Construction Management Plan), 17 
(Landscape) and 18 (Plans List) of 
application 24/04399/VAR (Variation of 
conditions 5 (Investigation and Risk 
Assessment), 8 (Materials - Submission 
of Schedule and Samples), 13 
(Biodiversity Gain and Habitat 
Management Plans), 17 (Fire 
Hydrants), 19 (Landscape) and 20 
(Plans List) of application 
23/04190/REG03 (Erection of 10 No. 
affordable apartments (Class C3) and 
associated access, drainage and 
landscaping works)). 

Keynsham 
North 

Christopher 
Masters 

PERMIT 

 
04 25/02948/FUL 

24 October 2025 
Mr Mark Carter 
Tregonhawke , Packhorse Lane, South 
Stoke, Bath, Bath And North East 
Somerset 
Widen existing balcony 

Bathavon 
South 

Christopher 
Masters 

PERMIT 

 

Page 22



05 25/01551/FUL 
23 June 2025 

Mrs May Lan Ho 
54 Uplands Road, Saltford, Bath And 
North East Somerset, BS31 3HN,  
Erection of fence and shed 
(Retrospective) 

Saltford Pippa Brown PERMIT 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 23



REPORT OF THE HEAD OF PLANNING ON APPLICATIONS FOR DEVELOPMENT 

 

Item No:   01 

Application No: 22/03025/FUL 

Site Location: Site Of Former Folly Inn Brewery And Pleasure Ground Lane 
Hampton Row To Grosvenor Bridge Bathwick Bath Bath And North East Somerset 

 

 

Ward: Bathwick  Parish: N/A  LB Grade: N/A 

Ward Members: Councillor Manda Rigby Councillor Toby Simon  

Application Type: Full Application 

Proposal: Erection of a car free self-build (affordable) dwelling. 

Constraints: Article 4 Bath Demolition Wall, Article 4 Reg 7: Estate Agent, Article 4 
HMO, Colerne Airfield Buffer, Agric Land Class 3b,4,5, Policy B4 
WHS - Indicative Extent, Policy B4 WHS - Boundary, British 
Waterways Major and EIA, British Waterways Minor and 
Householders, Conservation Area, Contaminated Land, Policy CP8 
Green Belt, Policy CP9 Affordable Housing, Flood Zone 2, Policy 
LCR5 Safeguarded existg sport & R, LLFA - Flood Risk Management, 
MOD Safeguarded Areas, Policy NE1 Green Infrastructure Network, 
Policy NE2A Landscapes and the green set, Policy NE3 SNCI, 
Railway, River Avon and Kennet & Avon Canal, SSSI - Impact Risk 
Zones,  

Applicant:  Ms Wendy Zakiewicz 

Page 24



Expiry Date:  24th October 2025 

Case Officer: Christine Moorfield 

To view the case click on the link here. 

 
REPORT 
This application is for the erection of a detached dwelling. As initially described in the 
submitted application the proposal was for the 'erection of a car-free, off-grid, self-build 
dwelling for local boater family.' 
 
Elements of this description were considered misleading so in agreement with the 
applicant the description has been changed to : 
 
'The erection of a car free self-build (affordable) dwelling'. 
 
Historic map data shows a building on the site on the 1742 City of Bath map; the buildings 
are annotated as 'The Folly' on the 1840s Tithe Map of Bath and North East Somerset; 
and they are annotated as 'Cremorne Gardens', 'PH' (Public House) and 'Malthouse' on 
the 1844-1888 OS 25" 1st Edition; the 1879 -1888 Town Plan; the 1894-1903 OS 25" 2nd 
Edition OS Plan; and the 1921 -1943 OS 25" revised edition. However, the 1947-1965 OS 
National Grid map notes these buildings as 'Ruin' and 'Ruins'. 
 
The Green Belt and World Heritage Site Boundaries run along the eastern edge of the site 
so that the site lies just outside the Green Belt but lies within the Bath World Heritage site, 
the Bath Conservation Area and the locally designated landscape setting of the settlement 
of Bath. The site also forms part of the 'Fields by the Canal and Railway (Hampton Row)' 
Site of Nature Conservation Interest. 
 
The Site is bounded to the north, east and south by Public Rights Of Way (PROW 
BC65/3, BA1/1 and BCTOW/04 respectively). 
 
This application was requested to go to committee by Cllr  Yukteshwar Kumar when the 
application was first submitted.  
 
The call in is supported by Cllr Simon. 
 
The Committee Chair, Cllr Ball commented that he appreciated the detailed effort put in, 
especially considering the complexities and issues surrounding this site. He agreed this 
should go to committee. 
 
The Vice Chair Cllr Crosseley agreed that this application should be presented to the 
committee. 
 
 
HISTORY 
 
DC - 18/00666/TCA - NOOBJ - 21 March 2018 - T1.Horse Chestnut-Crown Reduce the 
pollard leaving around 4-5m on due to being old. T2.Hazel Group-Coppice. 
DC - 20/00451/TCA - NOOBJ - 17 March 2020 - 2no Hazel (T1 and T2) - Coppice the 
main trunk to approx. 3ft from ground. 

Page 25

http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/webforms/planning/details.html?refval=22/03025/FUL#details_Section


DC - 21/01002/TCA - NOOBJ - 1 April 2021 - (T1) ash - fell. (T2) ash - reduce by up to 3m 
and remove dead limb. 
DC - 21/02560/TCA - NOOBJ - 2 July 2021 - 2 x Ash ( Ash Dieback )- fell. 
DC - 21/03882/TCA - NOOBJ - 14 September 2021 - T1, Goat Willow - Remove. T2, Ash - 
Remove. 
 
SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS/REPRESENTATIONS 
13 letters of objection, one comment and 76 letters of support have been received: 
 
Objections raised: 
Erode and harm the rural character of the area. 
Harm caused to AONB 
Design is inappropriate 
The building is too large and will be overly visible  
Over development of the site 
The development will harm trees and wildlife including bats on the site 
Light pollution and noise on this rural site 
Loss of trees and wildlife 
The old inn is a historic ruin from the war and should be protected 
The access is poor 
The development will harm the historic character of the area. 
 
The Widcombe Association have objected 
The proposal sets a dangerous precedent 
The proposed house is incongruous  
The development is contrary to Development Plan Policies NE1, NE2a, NE5, B4 and HE1. 
 
Comment 
The proposal will impact on the interests of the River Trust. 
Mooring rights will be required for deliveries from the canal. 
 
Support reasons 
Improvements to landscape, ecology and biodiversity. 
Low impact. 
Provides BNG 
Using renewable energy sources. 
Sustainable development should be encouraged, building materials hempcrete and lime 
used. 
Development should be more prominent. 
Responding to climate emergency. 
Ongoing land and woodland management, the site has been cleared and maintained by 
owners. 
Community benefit 
Promoting sustainable transport. 
Non-car development. 
Affordable house for local low-income family. 
Local connection- school and work. 
Complies with BANES policies particularly those in respect of sustainable development 
reaching net zero targets. 
Well-designed building. 

Page 26



The development will contribute to making a safer environment for walkers cyclists etc 
The proposal retains the ruins on the site. 
Allows a family who are part of and contribute to the community to stay in the area. 
 
CANAL AND RIVER TRUST 
The main issue relevant to the Trust as statutory consultee on this application is the 
structural integrity of the Kennet Avon Canal embankment. 
Based on the information available our substantive response is to advise that suitably 
worded conditions are necessary. 
In response to initial concerns the applicant provided a slope stability assessment. 
 
Structural stability 
The application site forms part of the Kennet Avon Canal Principal embankment which 
slopes down from the canal. The embankment has a high consequence of failure rating, 
not least because of the impact of any potential slippage on the railway line below, as well 
as possible impact on the canal and towpath above. The proposed house is located some 
5m below the level of the canal. The proposed works could destabilise the slope and 
potentially cause slippage. 
 
A slope stability assessment has now been submitted and discussed with the applicant's 
geotechnical engineer who provided various clarifications. The slope stability assessment 
does not appear to have been any updated to reflect those additional discussions, 
however the conclusions of the report were sound in recommending the house be built on 
piled foundations. The proposed works construction works should be discussed further 
with the Canal & River Trust through our Third-Party Works process. 
 
It is requested that, due to the importance of ongoing discussion and monitoring to protect 
the Kennet Avon canal and its users, an informative is placed on any positive planning 
decision to bring this to the attention of the applicant. 
 
Construction Management Plan 
The Construction Management Plan as originally submitted will now need to be updated 
so that it adequately reflects the recommendations of the slope stability report and 
drainage proposals and will need to outline sufficiently how the works will be carried out. 
This is required as a pre-commencement condition. 
 
Both the CMP and drainage details are required as pre-commencement conditions to 
ensure that the slope stability is protected throughout all elements of the construction 
phase. 
 
Drainage 
The Trust is concerned that the geology of the site may not make it suitable for a 
soakaway. The counterfort drainage is agreed in principle as proper drainage will increase 
slope stability, but we require further detail to be provided and agreed in writing. It is noted 
that the applicant has suggested that drainage details are required by way of a suitably 
worded condition, and this is acceptable to the Trust. 
 
Other / landowner Matters 
The applicant states the intention to access the site during the course of building works by 
using the towpath and bringing material to site by canal. The use of the towpath (which is 

Page 27



also a public footpath and Sustrans Route) and canal will have implications for the safety 
of other users, and this will require ongoing consideration and agreement from the Trust 
through our Third-Party Works process. 
 
Whilst the Canal River Trust are generally supportive of the use of the canal to bring 
materials to the site the safety implications for boaters, and for towpath users at loading 
and unloading points need to be considered and works may only be permitted at certain 
times of the year. If the development is considered by the Council and/or Highways 
Authority to be reliant on use of the towpath and/or canal for the delivery of materials 
because of a perceived lack of road access, the council should consider if the loading and 
unloading areas need to be included in the red line of the application boundary. 
The application masterplan shows a set of existing steps to the site from the canal, 
crossing land owned by the Canal River Trust and this land is included within the redline 
site boundary. Any permanent new or altered access route will require. agreement from 
the Canal River Trust. Any temporary access and use of Trust land during the construction 
phase should be agreed through the Third-party Works process. 
 
A Pre-commencement condition in respect of the need for a Construction Management 
Plan, risk assessment, drainage and vibration management will be necessary. An 
informative advising the applicant to comply with the Trusts Code of Practice is needed. 
 
 
ARCHAEOLOGY 
Although the HER records that there were 19th century buildings on this site they were 
destroyed by a WWII bomb and although remnants such as cellars etc may still survive, 
these would represent archaeology of very low significance. 
Therefore, it is unlikely that it will impact on significant archaeological remains and so we 
have no objections to the proposal. 
 
PROW 
The PROW Team has no objection to the proposal. If planning consent is granted, the 
PROW Team considers conditions in respect of the following, necessary: 
 
1. Figure 3 of the Construction Management Plan (dated 27th July 2022) shows the "moor 
and deliver" concept of loading a barge with construction materials at Watership Farm and 
then unloading at a mooring near the Folly Bridge. The materials will be carried across the 
towpath (BCTOW/4) to the construction site. The PROW Team has concerns about 
materials being carried across the towpath. No materials must be stacked on the towpath 
and users of the towpath must get priority over the passage of construction materials. 
2. Beckford Road and Watership Farm have been identified as drop-off points for 
deliveries which will then be brought to site via e-cargo bikes. Again, cyclists must give 
way to pedestrians. 
3. The landowner is responsible for cutting back any vegetation which overhangs from the 
property onto the adjoining public footpaths. 
4. At Point 3.12.1 of the Planning Design and Access Statement, it states that "Roof water 
will be collected and utilised for irrigation of the garden areas with excess taken to a 
soakaway." In the past, surface water has run off the site and onto public footpath BA1/1, 
causing problems. The soakaway must be robust enough and sited in a suitable place to 
prevent this occurring in the future 
 

Page 28



CONTAMINATION 
The application has included the following report:  
Phase I Environmental Assessment Site of the Old Folly Inn, Bath. 13th May 2020. 
Joanna McKay BSc MIEMA  
 
The Phase 1 Environmental Assessment has made the following conclusions and 
recommendations:  
"….Although the potential risks to future residential site users and the environment from 
contamination is considered low, a potential for localised contamination to be buried in 
rubble within the footprint of the former buildings (e.g. ashy made ground or asbestos 
containing materials) cannot be ruled out. The future residential property is intended to be 
constructed in the south-east of the site (i.e. outside of the footprint of the former 
buildings); however, in the event future excavations of the former buildings is required, the 
use of appropriate risk assessment and working procedures (where necessary) will 
mitigate risks to workers.  
 
Fragments of asbestos cement (if encountered) should be segregated and appropriately 
stored prior to disposal to a suitably licensed facility.  
Should unexpected contamination be encountered during future excavations (e.g. 
significant quantities of suspected asbestos containing materials, unusual discoloration, 
staining or odours) the work should cease, and the Local Authority Contaminated Land 
Department consulted to determine the most appropriate course of action."  
 
Taking account of the findings and recommendations of the environmental assessment 
report and the small-scale nature of the development (i.e. 1 No. residential dwelling), a 
condition in respect of the following is necessary: Reporting of Unexpected Contamination  
 
 
DRAINAGE AND FLOODING 
No objection. Proposal will have minimal impact on drainage and flood risk.  
 
BATH PRESERVATION TRUST 
The proposed site of works is a parcel of woodland situated between the Kennet and Avon 
Canal to the south and the GWR line to the north. The site is located within the boundaries 
of the Bath conservation area and World Heritage Site. It is excluded from the Bath & 
Bristol Green Belt, the boundary of which runs along the eastern edge of the site.  
 
It is further designated as a Site of Nature Conservation Interest (SNCI) and part of the 
Ecological Network. In wider landscape views, particularly from areas such as Little 
Solsbury Hill, the site forms part of the dense tree belt that follows the line of the railway 
and up towards Bathampton Down, contributing to the perceived transition between the 
City edge and open countryside.  
 
From the 19th century, the site was occupied by the Folly Inn. The site is indicated to have 
been occupied by a public house and a malthouse by at least the late 19th century. In 
1861, the setting of the public house was opened as the Cremorne Pleasure Gardens; 
whilst it is suggested that these fell out of use in the 1880s, the site remains labelled as 
'Cremorne Gardens' up until the 1921-1945 OS. The buildings were subsequently 
destroyed as a result of Blitz bombing, but as indicated in this application the ruined 
remains of a series of buildings still survive along the eastern boundary of the site. These 

Page 29



retain some attributed historic and evidential significance as a remainder of the original, 
historic use of this area as well as evidence of industry alongside the canal.  
 
BPT is supports the proposals for the development of an innovative low carbon dwelling 
within Bath. In light of the Climate Emergency and the goal of carbon neutrality across the 
district by 2030, we welcome opportunities for the implementation and demonstration of 
different sustainable building materials and technologies within Bath. We consider that this 
development could constitute an exemplary case study for models of increasingly energy 
efficient development and living.  
 
BPT would be very interested in working with the applicant to assess the energy benefits 
and performance of the development, and to create a 'best practice' case study of 
sustainable new build within the district.  
 
We are further supportive of the associated ecological benefits claimed by the scheme in 
the ongoing management and enhancement of this woodland parcel. The integration of 
planting and habitat creation, and the resulting biodiversity gain as set out in the ecology 
report, as part of the wider scheme (if correctly assessed) is felt to appropriately offset 
potential ecological and aesthetic concerns with development on this particular site.  
 
There is evidence that the land has historically been developed and in use as part of the 
Folly Inn and malthouse from the 19th century up until the 1940s. Whilst this use would 
now be considered "redundant", we conclude that this site would fulfil the designation of 
previously developed land.  
 
As part of the submitted LVIA, the site clearly forms part of Bath's wooded landscape 
setting and is visible from key viewpoints over and through the City. However, part of its 
landscape value is derived from its part within a tree belt with a relatively dense and 
enclosed canopy. The provided Landscape Planting Plan indicates that the extent of 
boundary tree/shrub planting would be sustained as part of the development, 
consequently sustaining the site's contribution to the distinctive appearance and character 
of its landscape setting. The proposed dwelling would be recessively set down into the 
steep south-north slope down from the canal footpath towards the river, allowing it to more 
effectively blend in with surrounding tree cover. We therefore conclude that development 
would have a very limited impact on landscape views and the setting of the World 
Heritage Site, although we take the opportunity at this stage to emphasise the importance 
of integrating the long-term management of the woodland with the occupation and future 
residence of the proposed dwelling to ensure the continued mitigation of harm to 
landscape views.  
 
We consider that in this instance; the potential less than substantial harm of development 
is outweighed by the cumulative weight of the identified public benefits as follows:  
 
Ongoing maintenance and restoration work to the land to reverse harmful measures such 
as fly-tipping.  
Heritage gains through the clearance of, and repairs to, the surviving ruins of the original 
Folly Inn and malthouse (there could also be further opportunities to showcase and/or 
interpret the historic interest of the site as experienced from the surrounding public 
footpaths).  

Page 30



Ecological gains through the ongoing management and enhancement of the site, including 
compensatory tree planting and provision of wildlife habitat.  
Construction of an off-grid, low-carbon home with an innovative approach to low embodied 
carbon, which would contribute towards B&NES Council's net-zero objectives.  
The opportunity to showcase an exceptional example of sustainable architecture in Bath 
that could inform future approaches to new builds elsewhere in and around the city.  
 
We maintain that the cumulative weight of public benefit would therefore outweigh the less 
than substantial harm to the character and setting of the Bath conservation area and 
special qualities of the World Heritage Site. We recognise that this form of development 
may not be suited to other sensitive areas within Bath's landscape setting, particularly 
where these form part of the Green Belt and Cotswolds AONB. Consideration as to 
whether development is appropriate therefore remains to be determined on a case-by-
case basis, informed by an assessment of the special characteristics of a site and the 
planning balance of harm against evidenced public benefit.  
 
We strongly recommend that should planning permission be granted, an accompanying 
condition is attached to remove permitted development rights for the addition of any 
extensions or outbuildings, as well as any outdoor lighting. This would therefore allow for 
any future development on the site to be appropriately managed via the planning process. 
 
NATIONAL HIGHWAYS 
National Highways Planning Response- no objection. 
 
HIGHWAYS 
The highway authority made initial comments on 9th September 2022, and a query 
relating to the proposed construction access strategy was raised. The applicant has now 
provided further details which clarify the location of the intended loading area at Watership 
Farm. 
 
As noted in the earlier response, the operation of the A36 trunk road is the responsibility of 
National Highways and if the scheme had a direct impact on this route, there may be a 
requirement to consult that highway authority. The Watership Farm site access is direct 
onto the A36 trunk road, and therefore it would be for National Highways to comment on 
this matter.  
 
Given that all other matters were considered within the earlier highway consultation 
response, the highway authority now raises no objection to the planning application, 
although the applicant should be made aware of the advisory below.  
 
Residents' Parking Permits 
The applicant shall note that future residents will not be entitled to residents' parking 
permits in accordance with Single Executive Member Decision E2911, dated 14th 
November 2016. This is due to the number of existing permits exceeding the supply of 
parking spaces within the Controlled Parking Zone. This, however, is considered to be at 
the developer's risk given the sustainable location of this development proposal. 
 
TREES 
In summary the Tree Officer has stated that the existing trees forming woodland on site 
are of wildlife, landscape and amenity value and considered of sufficient value to support 

Page 31



the making of Bath and North East Somerset Council (Site of Former Folly Inn Brewery 
and Pleasure Ground, Bathwick, Bath No. 328) Tree Preservation Order 2022. 
 
It is not considered that the proposed development could be achieved without having a 
significant adverse impact on existing trees which contribute towards continuous canopy 
cover within the site and provide links to green infrastructure beyond the site. 
 
The proposal must be considered in terms of the lifetime of the development and not the 
occupancy time of the applicant. 
 
There is reasonable risk of unacceptable harm to trees forming the woodland which has 
wildlife, landscape and amenity value therefore the proposal is not policy compliant. 
 
ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION 
Comments in respect of the submitted noise and vibration assessment, dated June 2020. 
The assessment has appropriately considered the impacts of noise and vibration on the 
proposed development and concludes that any relevant mitigation will be achieved 
through standard construction and as such further formal controls in this respect are 
unnecessary. Therefore, no objection to the application is raised.  
 
LANDSCAPE 
A further revised LVIA has been received, Rev D dated September 2023.  
The dates of photographs under summer and winter conditions have now been clarified.  
The angle of view of several of the photographs is inappropriate. In a number of instances, 
the camera has been angled obliquely rather than directly towards the proposed 
development where the change in view would be greatest. It is useful for context 
photographs to be provided in addition to assessment photographs but in this instance the 
distinction between the two appears to have been blurred.  
 
The LVIA does not assess the effect of the proposals on landscape-related policy so, for 
example, the effect on the integrity and value of the strategic green corridor identified in 
Policy NE1 is not assessed, and the effects on Policies NE2, D2 and NE2A are not 
directly assessed.  
 
The Councils Landscape advisor does not disagree with the LVIA conclusions that there 
would be negligible effect on the wider landscape context and on long distance views but 
is of the view that the LVIA underestimates the adverse landscape and visual effects on 
the site and the local landscape context. 
 
CONSERVATION 
The proposal is for the erection of a dwelling on a parcel of land which was previously 
used as a Pub and Pleasure Gardens. The site is in the Conservation Area of Bath and 
both World Heritage Sites. To the south of the site is the Kennet and Avon Canal. The site 
is a former Pleasure Garden, and this is noted as such in the HER. For the most recent 
WHS inscription, the development of the surrounding areas for cultural facilities and 
leisure pursuits is a key component of the designation. The former pleasure gardens 
would be an example of this use.  
 
The main considerations relate to the impact of development upon the designated and 
undesignated heritage assets listed above.  

Page 32



 
There is little remaining of the Pleasure Gardens, and it is noted that part of the 
application relates to how the development would preserve and enhance the remains. It is 
not clear from the application how these improvements would be secured. The 
development would not represent enabling development. There are no proposed 
agreements which would secure works to preserve or enhance remains and as such, in 
the absence of this I can place little weight on this benefit.  
 
It is also not clear from the proposal why a new dwelling is required in order to protect the 
remaining assets. The applicants have taken steps to protect the remains; however, if the 
site was left undeveloped as a residential use, this would not prevent the ongoing 
protection of any remains. The NPPF is clear that the deteriorated state of the heritage 
asset should not be taken into account in a decision.  
 
The supporting statement provided by AC Archaeology refers to the level of harm being 
outweighed by public benefits.  
 
The NPPF is also very clear that 'Any harm to, or loss of, the significance of a designated 
heritage asset (from its alteration or destruction, or from development within its setting), 
should require clear and convincing justification irrelevant of the level of harm proposed.  
 
In terms of harm to the designated heritage assets (WHS and CA) one of the key 
concerns is the design and scale of the development and the impact of this isolated 
development on the character of the area. Whilst there are remnants of structures on the 
site, it is not considered that this is, in itself, a justification for the separate residential 
development now proposed.  
 
There are concerns with the design of the dwelling and how it relates to the character of 
the designated areas.  
 
It is noted that the revised LVIA has been assessed by the Landscape Officer who has 
concluded that the development would represent harm to the landscape setting of Bath. 
This green setting is a key aspect of both designations and the development in the setting 
is managed to avoid harm.  
 
The construction of dwelling of this design has little relationship with its former use of a 
pleasure garden and rather than preserve this use would change the primary use to 
residential. There would be no public access to the remains. The associated domestic 
paraphernalia which cannot be controlled through planning conditions would change the 
character of the site.  
 
The works are considered to cause less than substantial harm to both designations and 
therefore the proposal cannot be supported. This harm can be weighed against public 
benefits rather than personal benefits; however, it is not considered that public benefits 
have been demonstrated within the application.  
 
There is a duty under Section 72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation 
Areas) Act 1990 to pay special attention to the preservation or enhancement of the 
character of the surrounding conservation area. The works for a new dwelling fail to 

Page 33



preserve or enhancement the conservation area and therefore the proposals are not 
supported. 
 
ECOLOGY  
 
There is an ecological objection in principle due to the scheme giving rise to unavoidable 
and permanent harm to and loss of habitat from within the SNCI and to a Habitat of 
Principle Importance, contrary to Policy NE3 and NPPF.  
 
There is also an ecological objection in place due to concerns about the ability of the 
scheme to be fit for purpose for residential use in this woodland and canal-side location, 
whilst avoiding habitat loss and harm to ecology, and retaining and maintaining in 
perpetuity, the required conditions of darkness as detailed in the Habitats Regulations 
Assessment.  
 
This would need to be demonstrated to be achievable and sufficiently secured (and 
enforceable) in perpetuity, to meet the requirements of the Habitats Regulations.  
 
Policy NE3 remains applicable due to the SNCI status of the proposed development site 
and the and habitats present within the site, which is woodland and a Habitat of Principle 
Importance as defined by the NERC Act.  
 
The agent state that the scheme will result in the site "being enhanced" (ecologically), in 
line with the proposed mitigation as the BNG calculations show (despite BNG not being a 
requirement of self-build). The Burton Reid report submitted is referenced by the agent, as 
summarising the mechanisms for delivering mitigation. However, this part of the ecological 
report only commits to production of a Landscape and Ecological Management Plan 
(LEMP) - it does not provide details demonstrating that the proposed ecological 
improvements to the woodland habitat would be achievable and deliverable and that these 
would be sufficient to compensate for the impacts that will be unavoidable.  
 
The "Additional Ecology Information" document (Burton Reid, May 2023) includes the 
following statements: It is proposed that the woodland habitat will be excluded from the 
new dwelling curtilage and protected and managed sensitively as a nature conservation 
area" "The woodland and Folly Inn area will be protected and enhanced under a nature 
conservation management plan as part of the provision of a wider Landscape and Ecology 
Management Plan secured by planning condition/obligation." and "The Defra metric has 
been re-calculated using Defra Metric 4.0 returning an uplift from 20% to 22% Biodiversity 
Net Gain based on the proposed avoidance, mitigation, compensation and enhancement 
measures described." 
  
However, the submitted documents relating to Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG) (BNG Metric; 
BNG assessment contained within the Ecological report) and plans of existing and 
proposed habitats, do not demonstrate either that the scheme can avoid a net loss of 
biodiversity, or deliver a net gain.  
The proposed habitat plan and metric / calculation for proposed habitats has not been 
accepted. The proposed habitats (on which the submitted BNG calculation currently relies) 
remain unacceptable for a number of reasons: - If the delivery of 10% net gain for 
biodiversity, and use of the BNG metric, is not a requirement in this case (i.e. if the 
scheme is exempt due to it qualifying as a self-build scheme)the use of the BNG metric 

Page 34



provides a useful tool via an accepted methodology, to demonstrate the potential ability of 
the scheme to avoid net loss of BNG and deliver net gain for biodiversity, and the potential 
ability of the scheme to comply with Policy NE3 - and in this case the use of the BNG 
metric is being relied upon to try to do so.  
It is therefore important that the BNG assessment and BNG metric are completed 
correctly - to provide confidence in a scheme's ability to achieve net gain for biodiversity 
the BNG metric and assessment must be carried out in accordance with the national 
guidance and standards. The submitted BNG calculation (calculated "net gain") and 
proposed habitats are however not in accordance with the guidance:  
 
- The proposed habitats within the residential curtilage cannot be accepted. All proposed 
habitats within the residential curtilage (red line boundary for this scheme) can only be 
proposed as "vegetated garden".  
 
- This is a requirement of the BNG calculation, due to the need to ensure habitats and 
their retention and long-term maintenance can be secured for a minimum 30 year period 
and that this is not possible for land within the residential curtilage of a private dwelling. 
This would have a substantial effect on the calculation and has not yet been correctly 
factored in. 
 
- There is no evidence to demonstrate the conditions for proposed habitats in the land 
beyond the red line boundary (within the blue line boundary) are realistic and achievable. 
A high level of confidence is necessary in the ability of the scheme to deliver the proposed 
habitats and their condition targets (moving from "moderate" to "good" for woodland 
habitat, and from "poor" to "good" for the pond) and this would need to be evidenced. A 
high degree of caution is required when considering ambitious proposed targets for habitat 
conditions in the absence of evidence of how they can be achieved. National BNG 
guidance states that limiting factors should also be factored into an assessment of target 
habitat condition including "habitat size and fragmentation, environmental limits to 
condition and distinctiveness, and any future use of the area which may degrade habitat 
type and condition" and highlights that high distinctiveness habitats (which applies to the 
woodland habitat at the site) can have very specific environmental requirements, which 
also need to be carefully considered. With regard to the proposed pond target condition 
moving from "poor" to "good" this proposed target appears unachievable and cannot be 
accepted without this being fully evidenced as a realistic and achievable target.  
 
PREVIOUS ECOLOGY COMMENTS MADE REGARDING THE SNCI that are still 
relevant. 
The redline boundary of the scheme has been reduced, and fencing this area from the 
rest of the site is supported. However, two concerns remain; the redline still falls within the 
SNCI and supports native broadleaved woodland and scrub habitats. Therefore, the 
scheme will still result in harm to the SNCI, contrary to Policy NE3. An in principle 
ecological objection remains on these grounds.  
 
As previously stated, NE3 allows a derogation 'where material considerations are 
sufficient to outweigh the local biological, geological /geomorphological and 
community/amenity value of the site'. The importance of the development and its need for 
that location will need to be considered in any decision made and must be sufficient to 
override the value of the habitat. The woodland is likely to be of disproportionate 
importance due to its association with other biodiversity features including the Kennet and 

Page 35



Avon Canal SNCI and urban edge location. The site also forms part of an ecological 
network of importance for green infrastructure and biodiversity, as protected under Local 
Plan polices NE5, CP6 and CP7.  
 
The second concern, as also raised by the Arboricultural Officer, is in relation to 
intensification of use of the site. This is unlikely to be removed entirely by hazel boundary 
fencing as indicated by the proposed additional planting and lack of tree cover and 
grassland within woodland areas shown on the Landscape Planting Plan. There is a 
significant amount of ash on site, which may require removal on health and safety grounds 
in any areas where there is regular human access. Access and safety concerns would be 
significantly increased by development within the site. Therefore, despite the commitment 
to an ecologically sensitive LEMP and adapted planting proposals (including species now 
more suitable to the locality), long-term harm to the woodland SNCI appears likely as a 
result of the proposals. The wildflower grassland in vicinity to the dwelling remains very 
unlikely to be managed with high wildlife value if also used for amenity. A detailed 
Management Plan and/or evidence of how habitats will be protected and futureproofed 
against any changes in ownership has not been provided.  
 
As stated above in respect of Biodiversity Net Gain it is unclear how the habitat 
enhancements to surrounding woodland and pond will be delivered. Condition sheets and 
an indicative habitat restoration/management schedule for created habitats are requested 
to demonstrate that enhancement to good condition habitats is achievable within a 30-
year period.  
 
Concerns are raised that domestic use of the site will result in additional tree felling, 
habitat clearance and more intensive management and contrived/artificial planting to 
benefit residents rather than biodiversity. Felling of ash against Forestry Commission 
guidance is an example of this as expressed by the Tree Officer. Although some felling 
close to the boundaries may be essential for safety of adjacent footpath users, many of 
the ash trees would not require felling for safety reasons unless the site is used for 
domestic purposes.  
 
Although the aims of the project are supported, the reality of residents on site either now 
or at any point in the future is unlikely to be conducive to providing undisturbed semi-
natural habitats for wildlife. For example, use by domestic pets (particularly dogs) may 
deter use by otter.  
 
Establishment of a native woodland ground flora mix of additional benefit to wildlife will 
depend on management. It is stated in several places that management will  benefit 
biodiversity, but no detailed management proposals are provided.  
 
PREVIOUS COMMENTS FOLLOWING THE SUBMISSION OF FURTHER 
INFORMATION 
Further to ecology comments dated 6th Sept 2023, issues have been addressed as 
follows:  
 
Biodiversity Net Gain assessment  
- The baseline assessment and plan of baseline habitats is accepted.  

Page 36



- Proposed habitats are not yet accepted but final details for off-site habitat provision 
(including, if necessary, purchase of biodiversity units) can if necessary be secured by 
condition.  
- Revisions to proposed habitats onsite or adjacent to the site would still be required, for 
example,  
- all land within the residential curtilage (which is assumed to be the same as the red line 
boundary) can only be proposed as "vegetated garden" within the metric (even if it is to be 
retained as woodland habitat in practice and that were secured via condition). The metric 
would need to be corrected to account for that.  
- Final details of off-site habitat provision at the site (i.e. outside the red line boundary but 
within the blue line boundary) would also require a S106 agreement and if this were to be 
used, further revisions to enable agreement to details of what can realistically be delivered 
at (adjacent to) the site would be required prior to a consent.  
 
Lighting -an updated lighting report was submitted "Lighting Impact Assessment" (The 
Lighting Bee, March 2023).  
The report demonstrates that the lighting design for the proposed residence is capable of 
avoiding ecologically harmful light spill levels and includes details of design and mitigation 
measures required to achieve this. Measures include omission of all external lighting; use 
of recessed light fittings only within the building; and low-transmissivity glazing (at 40% 
transmissivity). With all measures applied, light spill levels onto surrounding woodland and 
the adjacent canal are predicted at below 0.5 lux. The report is accepted.  
 
A shadow Habitats Regulations Assessment has been submitted, and Natural England 
have been consulted, and confirmed their agreement with the conclusions of the Habitats 
Regulations Assessment providing that "all mitigation measures are appropriately secured 
in any planning permission given"  
This raises the question of how realistic and achievable this would be. In light of this 
requirement, the Council's Ecologist has advised that in the event of a recommended or 
potential approval of the scheme, the scheme should not (and cannot lawfully) be 
approved and the shadow HRA formally adopted by the decision-maker, until it can be 
demonstrated with confidence that "all mitigation measures are appropriate secured" (as 
stated in the comments from NE). The Habitats Regulations Assessment should therefore 
be extended to include assessment also of the means of securing the necessary 
measures, and ability for all the necessary mitigation measures to be delivered and 
retained in perpetuity within the scheme. This would in effect require an extension to the 
HRA which must then also be favourably concluded in consultation with Natural England, 
prior to any consent being issued.  
 
In carrying out this further assessment, consideration will be required to the nature of the 
site, which is wooded and immediately adjacent to the canal which is an unfenced water 
body at this point; and that the required ecological mitigation measures include 
maintaining dark conditions at the site, and the absence of external lighting to achieve 
this. Living conditions within the house with low transmissivity glazing also require 
consideration.  
 
The scheme presents conflicts between what might be considered reasonable and 
necessary to achieve minimum standards of living, site use, safety and safe access to and 
around the site for a site of this nature with a residential use, and for a residential dwelling 
of this nature and scale, alongside the ecological requirements and proposed mitigation 

Page 37



measures as set out in the HRA and ecological and lighting reports. Details of how these 
conflicts would be resolved have not yet been provided and would need to be 
demonstrated to inform the HRA, along with full details and wordings of proposed 
mechanisms (such as conditions, legal agreement, covenant) for securing and enforcing 
adherence to all measures, in perpetuity. Note: It is understood that covenants cannot be 
relied upon as their enforcement is the responsibility of the developer and the LPA cannot 
enforce them.  
 
Permanent resolution of these conflicts may not be possible, and using a precautionary 
approach, this should be assumed to be the case unless it can be evidenced to the 
contrary - sufficiently to stand up to scrutiny and further consultation with NE (for the 
HRA). Therefore, even with use of conditions, legal agreements and covenants, it is not 
currently clear that the planning process is capable of securing all the necessary 
measures at the level required and in such a way to provide full confidence that they can 
realistically all be delivered, remain in place, and remain enforceable in perpetuity. The 
scheme should not be considered for consent until this issue has been resolved to the 
satisfaction also of NE.  
 
 
 
POLICIES/LEGISLATION 
The Core Strategy for Bath and North East Somerset was formally adopted by the Council 
on 10th July 2014. The Core Strategy now forms part of the statutory Development Plan 
and will be given full weight in the determination of planning applications. The 
Development Plan for Bath and North East Somerset comprises: 
- Bath & North East Somerset Core Strategy (July 2014) 
- Bath & North East Somerset Placemaking Plan (July 2017) 
- West of England Joint Waste Core Strategy (2011) 
- Bath & North East Somerset saved Local Plan policies (2007) not replaced by the Core 
Strategy or the Placemaking Plan 
- Made Neighbourhood Plans 
 
CORE STRATEGY 
The Core Strategy for Bath and North East Somerset was formally adopted by the Council 
on 10th July 2014. The following policies of the Core Strategy are relevant to the 
determination of this application: 
 
DW1: District-wide Spatial Strategy 
CP2: Sustainable Construction 
CP6: Environmental Quality 
CP10: Housing Mix 
SD1: Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development 
 
PLACEMAKING PLAN 
The Placemaking Plan for Bath and North East Somerset was formally adopted by the 
Council on 13th July 2017. The following policies of the Placemaking Plan are relevant to 
the determination of this application: 
 
D1: General Urban Design Principles 
D2: Local Character and Distinctiveness 

Page 38



D3: Urban Fabric 
D4: Streets and Spaces 
D.6: Amenity 
D7: Infill and Backland Development 
HE1: Historic Environment 
SU1: Sustainable Drainage 
SCR5: Water Efficiency 
 
LOCAL PLAN PARTIAL UPDATE: 
 
The Local Plan Partial Update for Bath and North East Somerset Council was adopted on 
19th January 2023. The Local Plan Partial Update has introduced a number of new 
policies and updated some of the policies contained with the Core Strategy and 
Placemaking Plan. The following policies of the Local Plan Partial Update are relevant to 
this proposal:  
 
D5: Building Design 
ST2A: Active Travel Routes 
ST7: Transport requirements for managing development 
NE5: Ecological networks 
NE6: Trees and woodlands 
 
NATIONAL POLICY: 
 
The updated National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) was published in December 
2024 and is a material consideration. Due consideration has been given to the provisions 
of the National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG). 
 
CONSERVATION AREAS:  
 
There is a duty placed on the Council under Section 72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings 
and Conservation Areas) Act to pay special attention to the preservation or enhancement 
of the character of the surrounding Conservation Area. 
 
LOW CARBON AND SUSTAINABLE CREDENTIALS 
 
The policies contained within the development plan are aimed at ensuring development is 
sustainable and that the impacts on climate change are minimised and, where necessary, 
mitigated. A number of policies specifically relate to measures aimed at minimising carbon 
emissions and impacts on climate change. The application has been assessed against the 
policies as identified and these have been fully taken into account in the recommendation 
made. 
 
OFFICER ASSESSMENT 
Principle of the development 
 
As submitted the description was considered misleading. Following discussions between 
the agent and the Case Officer, an amended description has been agreed: 
 
'Erection of a car free self-build (affordable) dwelling.' 

Page 39



 
The applicants wanted the term 'car free' included as due to the restricted access to the 
site a car cannot be accommodated on the site. However, it would not be reasonable and 
or enforceable to restrict any future occupier of the dwelling owning a car and 
consequently parking it elsewhere in the locality. 
 
The applicants have confirmed that this proposal will be a self build development. The 
impact that this has on BNG provision is addressed in the Ecology section below.  
 
The applicants wished for the term 'affordable' to be included within the description. It is 
not proposed that this property would be controlled and or managed by a recognised 
housing provider in perpetuity. Therefore, this proposal is considered on the basis of it 
being a detached house which should the applicants wish to move on would/could be sold 
at market value. 
 
Paragraph 11 of the NPPF sets out that plans and decision should apply a presumption in 
favour of sustainable development. Subparagraph d) sets out that, where policies which 
are most important for determining the application are out-of-date, which includes policies 
involving the provision of housing where an LPA cannot demonstrate a 5-year housing 
land supply, permission should be granted unless i) the application of policies in the 
Framework that protect areas or assets of particular importance (listed in footnote 7) 
provides a strong reason for refusing the development proposed or ii) the adverse impacts 
of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits. 
 
The proposal will provide some benefits through the provision of additional housing in a 
sustainable location where the LPA can only demonstrate 2.5 years of housing land 
supply, as well as some modest economic benefits during the construction phase. 
 
However, the application is found to conflict with numerous development policies as 
outlined in this report and these adverse impacts are found to significantly and 
demonstrably outweigh the benefits of the proposal and therefore, whilst having 
consideration of paragraph 11(d)ii) of the NPPF it is recommended that planning 
permission should not be granted. It is also considered that policies in the NPPF provide 
strong reasons for refusal in relation to habitats sites and designated heritage assets 
contrary to paragraph 11d)i) 
 
The site is within a very sensitive area. The application site is within the Bath Urban Area, 
Conservation Area, World Heritage Site and a Site of Nature Conservation Interest. 
Although the provision of residential is acceptable in principle within the urban extent of 
Bath, the site is an area of woodland adjacent to the canal and whilst there are some ruins 
on the site the land is predominantly undeveloped. Due to its location, development on 
this site is heavily constrained and development plan policies in respect of the 
Conservation Area, World Heritage Site and the impact of development on the SNCIs are 
pertinent and in respect of the SNCI would normally result in an objection in principle, as 
development would not be considered to be in accordance with the NPPF and Bath and 
North East Somerset Placemaking Plan Policies.  
 
 
 
 

Page 40



Character and Appearance 
 
As stated, it is evident that there were buildings on this site from historic maps. However, 
the 1947-1965 OS National Grid map notes these buildings as 'Ruin' and 'Ruins'. The 
remains of buildings as existing on the site now are clearly ruins of historic buildings which 
retain some attributed historic and evidential significance as a remainder of the original, 
historic use of this area as well as evidence of industry alongside the canal.  
 
The Green Belt and World Heritage Site Boundaries run along the eastern edge of the site 
so that the site lies just outside the Green Belt but lies within the Bath World Heritage site, 
the Bath Conservation Area, and the locally designated landscape setting of the 
settlement of Bath. The site also forms part of the 'Fields by the Canal and Railway 
(Hampton Row)' Site of Nature Conservation Interest. 
 
The Site is bounded to the north, east and south by Public Rights of Way (PROW BC65/3, 
BA1/1 and BCTOW/04 respectively). 
The site at present is overgrown with mature vegetation and contributes to the green 
setting which is the character of the land adjacent to the north side of the canal.  Adjacent 
to the eastern boundary of the site there is a footpath which goes under the railway lime 
across the river and eventually accesses Grovenor Bridge to the North. The site slopes 
down from the canal to the north. 
 
The detached dwelling is located adjacent to the southern boundary near to the canal. It 
has a footprint of 97 sq. m, the main part of the house being 11m x 7.5m. The property is 
substantial and has 4 bedrooms a bathroom, lounge diner/kitchen, a snug, pantry and 
boot room. 
 
Due to the topography, half the footprint is cut into the site whilst the other half projects out 
over the site. Given that the rear of the property will be above ground level a 2m deep 
veranda (13m long) wraps around the northern side of the building and has steps leading 
down to the garden level. 
 
The roof of the property is split into two elements both with different pitches. The roof form 
running parallel to the canal has a steep pitch and as it faces south is shown to be 
covered with solar panels.  The property is set into the site by 2.5m and the ridgeline will 
sit 5m above the level of the footpath. From the northern side the highest ridge line will be 
8m above the ground level of the garden. 
 
The DAS states that the design of the property has been inspired by Walter Segal urban 
fringe homes on difficult sites and designed to reduce the weight of construction elements 
to enable construction by hand and with limited mechanisation and disruption to the site or 
the amenity of other local residents in the surrounding streets. The property has been 
designed as a self-build to meet the needs of the applicant's family. The dwelling has been 
located in the southeastern corner of the site to minimise disturbance to the trees and 
wilder areas and to make use of the ruins of the former brewery as a garden area.  
 
It has two sheds for storing tools and bikes within it and the family will tend areas of the 
site as a garden. The two-story new building will be rendered with off-white lime plaster 
with natural wood timber framed double glazed windows and doors. Walls to the pantry 
will be Bath stone to facilitate cooling. The roof will be natural slate with solar Photo 

Page 41



Voltaic panels to the south facing pitch. The north and south facing roof pitches will be 
separated by a row of clerestory windows to maximise natural light to the upper story. A 
veranda facing north out over the garden and woodland areas will have an area of roof 
held on a timber frame. Balustrading to the veranda will be timber.  
 
The house is designed to maximise daylight in this sheltered and enclosed site. The 
provision of the large veranda will facilitate the applicants indoor/outdoor lifestyle 
connecting them with the 'wild garden' below.  
 
It is noted that the scheme has been designed to be as sustainable as possible. However, 
whilst the principle of residential development in this location within the built-up extent of 
Bath may be acceptable, other development plan policies must be considered. The site is 
very green with mature vegetation as is the green corridor of land on the north side of the 
canal running from The George at Bathampton to the footbridge providing access to 
Hampton Row which is the eastern edge of Bath City.   The built environment within the 
Grovenor Bridge Road area to the north is mixed in character but this area is at a 
significant distance from the site, being across the river Avon and Bathampton meadows. 
Development to the south (Holburne Park) is at a higher level and reflects the ashlar 
terraces as seen on the slopes around Bath. There is no development in proximity of this 
site to which this development would or could specifically relate. The specifics of the 
location of this proposed dwelling are that it is a highly visible site adjacent to the canal 
and one which forms part of the established green corridor adjacent to the canal. The 
proposed dwelling would be a highly visually, dominant feature within the mature green 
swath of land to the north of the canal. Whilst some of the dwelling is cut into the slope a 
significant element of the dwelling will be visible from the canal. The mass, scale and size 
of the building is significant, and the double roof elements and use of lime render will 
result in the building being highly visible and a dominant feature within this otherwise 
verdant area.  
 
In this respect the proposal by reason of its design, siting, scale, massing, layout and 
materials is not considered acceptable as it does not contribute and respond to the 
immediate local context and/or maintain the character and appearance of the surrounding 
area. For this reason, the proposal is not considered to accord with policy CP6 of the Core 
Strategy, policies D1, D2, D3, and D4 of the Placemaking Plan, policy D5 of the Local 
Plan Partial Update and part 12 of the NPPF. 
 
Impact on Conservation Area and World Heritage Site 
 
The site is in the Conservation Area of Bath and World Heritage Site (WHS). The site is a 
former Pleasure Garden, and this is noted as such in the HER. For the most recent WHS 
inscription, the development of the surrounding areas for cultural facilities and leisure 
pursuits is a key component of the designation. The former pleasure gardens would be an 
example of this use.  
 
The main considerations relate to the impact of the development upon the designated and 
undesignated heritage assets listed above.  
 
There is little remaining of the Pleasure Gardens, and it is noted that part of the 
application relates to how the development would preserve and enhance the remains. 
Whilst it is stated that the Pleasure Gardens will be maintained and kept free from fly 

Page 42



tipping by the occupiers it is not clear from the application how these improvements would 
be secured. The development proposed i.e. a detached house would not represent 
enabling development. There are no proposed agreements which would secure works to 
preserve or enhance the remains and as such, in the absence of this, little weight can be 
attributed to this stated benefit.  
 
It is also not clear from the proposal why a new dwelling is required in order to protect the 
remaining assets. The applicants have taken steps to protect the remains; however, if the 
site was left undeveloped as a residential use, this would not prevent the ongoing 
protection of any remains. The NPPF is clear that the deteriorated state of the heritage 
asset should not be taken into account in making such a decision.  
 
The supporting statement provided by AC Archaeology refers to the level of harm being 
outweighed by public benefits.  
 
The NPPF is also very clear that 'Any harm to, or loss of, the significance of a designated 
heritage asset (from its alteration or destruction, or from development within its setting), 
should require clear and convincing justification irrelevant of the level of harm proposed.  
In terms of harm to the designated heritage assets (WHS and CA) one of the key 
concerns is the design and scale of the development and the impact of this isolated 
development on the character of the area. Whilst there are remnants of structures on the 
site, it is not considered that this is, in itself, a justification for the separate residential 
development now proposed.  
 
There are concerns with the design of the dwelling and how it relates to the character of 
the designated areas.  
It is noted that the revised LVIA has been assessed by the Landscape Officer who has 
concluded that the development would represent harm to the landscape setting of Bath. 
This green setting is a key aspect of both designations and the development in the setting 
is managed to avoid harm.  
It is also noted that comments have been received supporting the proposed ongoing 
maintenance, restoration and repair work to the land and ruins to reverse harmful 
measures such as fly-tipping.  However, the construction of a dwelling of this design has 
little relationship with its former use of a pleasure garden and rather than preserve this use 
would change the primary use to residential. There would be no public access to the 
remains. The associated domestic paraphernalia which cannot be controlled through 
planning conditions would change the character of the site.  
 
The works are considered to cause less than substantial harm to both designations and 
therefore the proposal cannot be supported. This harm can be weighed against public 
benefits rather than personal benefits; however, it is not considered that public benefits 
have been demonstrated within the application.  
 
There is a duty under Section 72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation 
Areas) Act 1990 to pay special attention to the preservation or enhancement of the 
character of the surrounding conservation area. 
 
In this case by virtue of the design, scale, massing, position, and the external materials of 
the proposed development it is considered that the development would not preserve the 
character and appearance of this part of the Conservation Area and its setting. The 

Page 43



proposal does not accord with policy CP6 of the Core Strategy, policy HE1 of the 
Placemaking Plan and part 16 of the NPPF. 
 
The proposed development is within the Bath World Heritage Site; therefore, 
consideration must be given to the effect the proposal might have on the outstanding 
universal value of the World Heritage Site. In this instance, due to the size and location, of 
the proposed development and the resulting loss and interruption of the green it is 
considered that it will result in harm to the outstanding universal value of the World 
Heritage Site. The proposal does not accord with policy B4 of the Core Strategy, policy 
HE1 of the Placemaking Plan, and part 16 of the NPPF. 
 
It should be noted that application number 16/02246/FUL which was for the erection of a 
single dwelling adjacent to the canal, was refused, for the reason it would cause harm to 
the Conservation Area, World Heritage Site and nearby listed buildings/structures. The 
subsequent appeal was dismissed.  
 
There are recognisable similarities between this proposal and the proposal in 2016. The 
appeal site and this site are both located within the Conservation Area and World Heritage 
Site. In his decision statement the inspector identified the main issue to be whether the 
development would preserve or enhance the character or appearance of the Bath 
Conservation Area and the effect the proposal would have on numerous structures of 
special architectural and historic interest. This is a material consideration in respect of this 
application. 
 
The appeal site and the site the subject of this report are similar in that both are sited 
adjacent to the canal. Due to the similarity of the sites in terms of location and appearance 
the Inspectors views are seen to be relevant to the proposal now being considered. Both 
sites previously had buildings on them the appeal site had historically had cottages on it 
whilst this application site has some ruins still on the site. 
 
The appeal site was a vegetated area of scrub and trees, the site the subject of this 
application is a well vegetated site with numerous trees, both sites therefore, being 
undeveloped and vegetated. The appeal site was located relatively close to the canal, 
lock, bridge and residential properties and was in closer proximity to buildings and 
structures than this site. The site the subject of this application is located within the 
strategic green corridor identified in Policy NE1 which runs along the northern side of the 
canal and is seen to impact on the integrity and value of this area. This green setting is a 
key aspect of both the Conservation Area and World Heritage Site. In his decision 
statement the Inspector specifically identified that the appeal site formed part of a swathe 
of green land running north alongside the Canal, and this swathe of land was seen to 
contribute to the character and appearance of this part of the Conservation Area, the 
green area providing visual relief from the built form. The Inspector considered the 
proposed dwelling would damage the sense of openness that the site contributed to. The 
proposed dwelling was seen to be sited in a relatively isolation location. The 
considerations in respect of the site the subject of this report are in this respect the same 
as those considered by the Inspector in relation to the 2016 appeal.  
 
Of note is the Inspectors comment that 'conditions could not effectively limit the build-up of 
domestic paraphernalia around it and, as a consequence, further detract from the 
important contribution the green space makes to the Conservation Area'. The contribution 

Page 44



that the green space makes to the Conservation Area is equally relevant to this application 
and the concerns raised by the Inspector in relation to the fact that conditions would be 
ineffective to prevent the future erosion of the space by the introduction of 'domestic 
paraphernalia' is also relevant to this application. 
 
National Landscapes 
 
The LVIA does not assess the effect of the proposals on landscape-related policy so, the 
effect on the integrity and value of the strategic green corridor identified in Policy NE1 is 
not assessed, and the effects on Policies NE2, D2 and NE2A are not directly assessed.  
 
Whilst it is agreed that proposal would have a negligible effect on the wider landscape 
context and on long distance views as concluded in the submitted LVIA it is considered 
the proposed development would have a significant adverse impact on the appearance of 
the site and the local landscape context, which as described above is quite specific in this 
location given the green corridor which runs parallel to the canal for a significant length. 
 
The proposed development by virtue of its design, scale, massing, position, and use of 
external materials would adversely affect the natural beauty of the immediate landscape 
and would not therefore, be in accordance with policy NE2 of the Local Plan Partial 
Update and part 15 of the NPPF. 
 
Residential Amenity 
 
During the construction period there would be likely to be some inconvenience to tow path 
users as the canal is proposed to be used for the delivery of materials etc. Such matters 
could be the subject of conditions and are under the control of the Canal and Rivers Trust. 
 
Concerns have been raised in respect of the impact that a dwelling in this location is likely 
to have on light pollution of this otherwise dark corridor. In particular light pollution is 
addressed in the Ecology section below as this is a material consideration.  
 
There are no residential properties adjacent to the site. However, there will be a continual 
stream of narrow boats/barges etc moored adjacent to the site but given the design, scale, 
massing and siting of the proposed development the proposal would not be considered to 
cause significant harm to the amenities of any occupiers or adjacent occupiers through 
loss of light, overshadowing, overbearing impact, loss of privacy, noise, smell, traffic or 
other disturbance. The proposal accords with policy D6 of the Placemaking Plan and part 
12 of the NPPF. 
 
Canal and River Trust 
 
The main issue relevant to the Trust as statutory consultee on this application is the 
structural integrity of the Kennet and Avon Canal embankment. 
The trust have advised that based on the information available suitably worded conditions 
are necessary. 
 
Structural stability 
The embankment has a high consequence of failure rating, not least because of the 
impact of any potential slippage on the railway line below, as well as possible impact on 

Page 45



the canal and towpath above. The proposed house is located below the level of the canal 
and the works could destabilise the slope and potentially cause slippage. 
 
The slope stability assessment submitted is considered to be sound in its conclusions in 
recommending the house be built on piled foundations. The proposed works construction 
works would need to be discussed further with the Canal and River Trust through their 
Third-Party Works process. This would need to be the subject of an informative should 
permission be granted. 
 
A pre commencement condition would be necessary requiring a Construction 
Management Plan to be agreed which outlines sufficiently the details of how the works will 
be carried out to protect the stability of the slope throughout the development phase. 
 
The Trust is concerned that the geology of the site may not make it suitable for a 
soakaway. The counterfort drainage is agreed in principle as proper drainage will increase 
slope stability, but further detail will need to be provided and agreed in writing and this can 
be the subject of a condition. 
The applicant states the intention to access the site during the course of building works by 
using the towpath and bringing material to site by canal. The use of the towpath (which is 
also a public footpath and Sustrans Route) and canal will have implications for the safety 
of other users, and this will require ongoing consideration and agreement from the Trust 
again through their Third-Party Works process. 
 
Whilst the Canal and River Trust are generally supportive of the use of the canal to bring 
materials to the site the safety implications for boaters, and for towpath users at loading 
and unloading points need to be considered and works may only be permitted at certain 
times of the year. If the development is considered by the Council and/or Highways 
Authority to be reliant on use of the towpath and/or canal for the delivery of materials 
because of a perceived lack of road access, the council should consider if the loading and 
unloading areas need to be included in the red line of the application boundary. 
The application masterplan shows a set of existing steps to the site from the canal, 
crossing land owned by the Canal and River Trust and this land is included within the 
redline site boundary. Any permanent new or altered access route will require. agreement 
from the Canal and River Trust. Any temporary access and use of Trust land during the 
construction phase should be agreed through the Third-party Works process. 
A Pre-commencement condition in respect of vibration management will also be 
necessary.  
 
In response to the concerns of the Canal and River Trust the applicant's state that there is 
no intention to store materials on the tow path, although the materials will be moved 
across the tow path to be stored within the site area. Access for materials from the canal 
and towpath has been agreed in principle, with full confirmation only available when 
specific dates can be supplied if the planning application is approved. The applicant is 
aware that any temporary access and use of the CRT land during the construction phase 
needs to be agreed with the CRT through their Third-party Works process and permitted 
times/dates for use of the tow path will also be agreed with the CRT.  
 
 
 
 

Page 46



Archaeology 
 
As it is unlikely that the proposal will impact on significant archaeological remains no 
objections in relation to archaeology are raised to the proposal. 
 
Public Rights of Way 
 
The PROW Team has raised no objection to the proposal. However, if planning consent is 
granted, the PROW Team considers conditions in respect of the following to be 
necessary: 
 
-a Construction Management Plan is necessary which must address the issue of materials 
being carried across the towpath (BCTOW/4) to the construction site. No materials must 
be stacked on the towpath and users of the towpath must get priority over the passage of 
construction materials. E-cargo bikes delivering goods to site must give way to 
pedestrians. 
-The landowner must be responsible for cutting back any vegetation which overhangs 
from the property onto the adjoining public footpaths. 
-As surface water has run off the site and onto public footpath BA1/1, causing problems 
the soakaway system must be robust enough and sited in a suitable place to prevent this 
occurring in the future. 
 
Contamination 
 
The application has included the following report on potential contamination (Phase I 
Environmental Assessment Site of the Old Folly Inn, Bath. 13th May 2020. Joanna McKay 
BSc MIEMA). In the light of the conclusions and recommendations reached, the 
Contaminated Land Officer has no objections subject to a condition requiring the reporting 
of unexpected Contamination  
 
Drainage and Flooding 
 
The proposal will have minimal impact on drainage and flood risk and therefore no 
objection has been raised.  
 
Highways 
 
Following an initial concern raised by the Highway Engineer relating to the proposed 
construction access strategy the applicant confirmed the location of the intended loading 
area at Watership Farm. 
 
The Watership Farm site access is direct onto the A36 trunk road, and therefore it is for 
the National Highways to comment on this matter. It should be noted the National 
Highways in their Planning Response raised no objection to the proposals. 
 
It is considered necessary for the applicant to be advised that future residents will not be 
entitled to residents' parking permits due to the number of existing permits exceeding the 
supply of parking spaces within the Controlled Parking Zone should permission be 
granted. As this development is a car free development this is unlikely to cause an issue.  
 

Page 47



The means of access and parking arrangements are acceptable and maintain highway 
safety standards. The proposal accords with policy ST7 of the Local Plan Partial Update, 
the Transport and Development Supplementary Planning Document (2023), and part 9 of 
the NPPF. 
 
 
Trees 
 
The proposal is objected to by the Council's Tree Officer. The development can not be 
achieved without having a significant adverse impact on existing trees which contribute 
towards continuous canopy cover within the site and provide links to green infrastructure 
beyond the site. 
 
The proposal must be considered in terms of the lifetime of the development and not the 
occupancy time of the applicant. 
 
The applicant refers to previous comments being based on speculation however, the issue 
of future occupant perceptions to trees following developments is sufficiently significant 
because of post occupancy enquiries and complaints received by the local authority.  
 
Having regard to paragraph 090 of Planning Practice Guidance for Tree Preservation 
Orders (TPO) and trees in conservation areas, an application to prune or remove a 
protected tree which is stated to be causing an adverse impact on the living conditions 
and use of gardens; causing apprehension, inconvenience and nuisance may be hard to 
resist in the future.  
 
The woodland which has developed in the site contributes towards the visual amenity of 
the area and green infrastructure and ecological network beside the Kennet and Avon 
Canal. The woodland is within the Fields by the Canal and Railway (Hampton Row) Site of 
Nature Conservation Interest (SNCI). An aerial view indicates continuous canopy cover 
which extends beyond the boundaries and which forms part of the woodland strategic 
network identified by the West of England Nature Partnership. It is considered likely that 
further tree removals are likely such 3 - 9 and 42 - 50 shown on the survey plan due to 
their locations within the ruins where gardens are proposed and proximity to the proposed 
dwelling. The aspirations of the current owners to live 'low impact, environmentally 
considerate lives' is applauded, and it is noted that the intention is to erect fencing to 
assist in securing the woodland. However, this may not be the same for future occupants 
of the site who may wish to have more land available to them and space uninfluenced by 
tree canopy spread, shading and root growth. The retention of the fencing is unlikely to be 
enforceable beyond the finite period of the landscaping compliance conditions. The 
gradual and incremental erosion in canopy cover to accommodate other activities 
including the usual garden paraphernalia such as clothes lines, play equipment and 
potentially sheds/summer houses/ offices, which appear to have become more prevalent, 
is seen as a real threat to this site. Future development proposals may be harder to resist 
in future and incrementally result in less open space and compromised canopy cover in 
the area. The Tree Officer remains concerned that the proposed new planting would not 
be possible without pre-emptive felling of the ash. A comparison between the coverage on 
the tree constraints plan and the landscape planting plan appears to highlight more tree 
losses.  
 

Page 48



There is reasonable risk of unacceptable harm to trees forming the woodland which has 
wildlife, landscape and amenity value therefore the proposal is not policy compliant. Policy 
NE1 of the Placemaking Plan: Development and Green Infrastructure states:  
1 Within the context of Policy CP7 development will be permitted provided:  
a. it can be demonstrated that opportunities have been maximised to design Green 
Infrastructure (GI) into the proposed development;  
b. it does not adversely affect the integrity and value of strategic GI corridors;  
c. the scheme makes a positive contribution to the GI network through the creation, 
enhancement and management of new, and existing GI assets; and  
2 Proposals for major developments should also be accompanied by:  
a. a plan of the existing green infrastructure assets within and around the development 
site; and  
b. a GI "proposal" demonstrating how GI has been incorporated into the scheme in order 
to increase function and improve connectivity of GI assets including links to existing the 
local and strategic networks.  
 
Policy NE6 of the Placemaking Plan: Trees And Woodland Conservation states: 1 
Development will only be permitted where: 
a. it seeks to avoid any adverse impact on trees and woodlands of wildlife, landscape, 
historic, amenity, productive or cultural value; and  
b. it includes the appropriate retention and new planting of trees and woodlands; and  
2 If it is demonstrated that an adverse impact on trees is unavoidable to allow for 
appropriate development, compensatory provision will be made in accordance with 
guidance in the Planning Obligations SPD (or successor publication) on replacement tree 
planting.  
3 Development proposals directly or indirectly affecting ancient woodland or ancient trees 
will not be permitted.  
 
The proposal fails to comply with Policies NE1 b and NE6 a. 
 
 
Ecology 
 
In summary there is an in-principle objection to the proposal due to the unavoidable 
permanent loss of habitat and ecological value from within a designated SNCI, contrary to 
Policy NE3 and the NPPF. 
 
There is also an ecological objection in place due to concerns about the ability of the 
scheme to be fit for purpose for residential use in this woodland and canal-side location, 
whilst avoiding habitat loss and harm to ecology, and retaining and maintaining in 
perpetuity, the required conditions of darkness as detailed in the Habitats Regulations 
Assessment. This would need to be demonstrated to be achievable and sufficiently 
secured (and enforceable) in perpetuity, to meet the requirements of the Habitats 
Regulations which it is not considered can be done. 
 
Policy NE3 remains applicable due to the SNCI status of the proposed development site 
and the and habitats present within the site, which is woodland and a Habitat of Principle 
Importance as defined by the NERC Act.  
 

Page 49



The agent state that the scheme will result in the site "being enhanced" (ecologically), in 
line with the proposed mitigation as the BNG calculations show (despite BNG not being a 
requirement of self-build). The Burton Reid report submitted is referenced by the agent, as 
summarising the mechanisms for delivering mitigation. However this part of the ecological 
report only commits to production of a Landscape and Ecological Management Plan 
(LEMP) - it does not provide details demonstrating that the proposed ecological 
improvements to the woodland habitat would be achievable and deliverable and that these 
would be sufficient to compensate for the impacts that will be unavoidable.  
 
The "Additional Ecology Information" document (Burton Reid, May 2023) includes the 
following statements:  
''It is proposed that the woodland habitat will be excluded from the new dwelling curtilage 
and protected and managed sensitively as a nature conservation area"  
"The woodland and Folly Inn area will be protected and enhanced under a nature 
conservation management plan as part of the provision of a wider Landscape and Ecology 
Management Plan secured by planning condition/obligation." and  
"The Defra metric has been re-calculated using Defra Metric 4.0 returning an uplift from 
20% to 22% Biodiversity Net Gain based on the proposed avoidance, mitigation, 
compensation and enhancement measures described."  
 
However, the submitted documents relating to Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG) (BNG Metric; 
BNG assessment contained within the Ecological report) and plans of existing and 
proposed habitats, do not demonstrate either that the scheme can avoid a net loss of 
biodiversity, or deliver a net gain.  
 
The proposed habitat plan and metric / calculation for proposed habitats has not been 
accepted. The proposed habitats (on which the submitted BNG calculation currently relies) 
remain unacceptable for a number of reasons. If the delivery of 10% net gain for 
biodiversity, and use of the BNG metric, is not a requirement in this case (i.e. if the 
scheme is exempt due to it qualifying as a self-build scheme) the use of the BNG metric 
provides a useful tool via an accepted methodology, to demonstrate the potential ability of 
the scheme to avoid net loss of BNG and deliver net gain for biodiversity, and the potential 
ability of the scheme to comply with Policy NE3 - and in this case the use of the BNG 
metric is being relied upon to try to do so.  
 
It is therefore important that the BNG assessment and BNG metric are completed 
correctly to provide confidence in a scheme's ability to avoid net loss and to achieve net 
gain for biodiversity the BNG metric and assessment must be carried out in accordance 
with the national guidance and standards. The submitted BNG calculation (calculated "net 
gain") and proposed habitats are, however, not in accordance with the guidance. 
 
Firstly, the proposed habitats within the residential curtilage cannot be accepted. All 
proposed habitats within the residential curtilage (red line boundary for this scheme) can 
only be proposed as "vegetated garden". This is a requirement of the BNG calculation, 
due to the need to ensure habitats and their retention and long term maintenance can be 
secured for a minimum 30 year period and that this is not possible for land within the 
residential curtilage of a private dwelling. This would have a substantial effect on the 
calculation and has not yet been correctly factored in. 
 

Page 50



Secondly, there is no evidence to demonstrate the conditions for proposed habitats in the 
land beyond the red line boundary (within the blue line boundary) are realistic and 
achievable. A high level of confidence is necessary in the ability of the scheme to deliver 
the proposed habitats and their condition targets (moving from "moderate" to "good" for 
woodland habitat, and from "poor" to "good" for the pond) and this would need to be 
evidenced. A high degree of caution is required when considering ambitious proposed 
targets for habitat conditions in the absence of evidence of how they can be achieved. 
National BNG guidance states that limiting factors should also be factored into an 
assessment of target habitat condition including "habitat size and fragmentation, 
environmental limits to condition and distinctiveness, and any future use of the area which 
may degrade habitat type and condition" and highlights that high distinctiveness habitats 
(which applies to the woodland habitat at the site) can have very specific environmental 
requirements, which also need to be carefully considered. With regard to the proposed 
pond target condition moving from "poor" to "good" this proposed target appears 
unachievable and cannot be accepted without this being fully evidenced as a realistic and 
achievable target. 
 
The submitted BNG calculation is not accurate nor does it meet the national guidance and 
standards. While the scheme may be exempt from BNG requirements, it must be noted 
that the the applicant is using the BNG documents as a way of trying to demonstrate 
ecological benefits of the scheme. This is misleading and no weight should be given to the 
BNG being proposed / claimed as a benefit of the scheme. If this scheme required BNG to 
be delivered on-site habitats, the number of units claimed to be delivered by the scheme 
would not be possible for the LPA to accept. 
 
Site of Nature Conservation Interest  
 
The site is within the Fields by the Canal and Railway (Hampton Row) Site of Nature 
Conservation Interest (SNCI). The SNCI is designated for a variety of habitats including 
broadleaved woodland. Notable plant species have been recorded. The woodland survey 
was completed in July 2020. The site clearly meets the criteria under which the SNCI is 
designated and as a Habitat of Principal Importance under the NERC Act 2006. As such, 
an ecological objection in principle is raised.  
 
The redline boundary of the scheme has been reduced, and fencing this area from the 
rest of the site is supported. However, two concerns remain; the redline still falls within the 
SNCI which supports native broadleaved woodland and scrub habitats. Therefore, the 
scheme will still result in harm to the SNCI, contrary to Policy NE3. An in principle 
ecological objection remains on these grounds.  
 
As previously stated, NE3 allows a derogation 'where material considerations are 
sufficient to outweigh the local biological, geological /geomorphological and 
community/amenity value of the site'. The importance of the development and its need for 
that particular location will need to be considered in any decision made and must be 
sufficient to override the value of the habitat. The woodland is likely to be of 
disproportionate importance due to its association with other biodiversity features 
including the Kennet and Avon Canal SNCI and urban edge location. The site also forms 
part of an ecological network of importance for green infrastructure and biodiversity, as 
protected under Local Plan polices NE5, CP6 and CP7. 
  

Page 51



The second concern, as also raised by the Arboricultural Officer, is in relation to 
intensification of use of the site. This is unlikely to be removed entirely by hazel boundary 
fencing as indicated by the proposed additional planting and lack of tree cover and 
grassland within woodland areas shown on the Landscape Planting Plan. There is a 
significant amount of ash on site, which may require removal on health and safety grounds 
in any areas where there is regular human access. Access and safety concerns would be 
significantly increased by development within the site. Therefore, despite the commitment 
to an ecologically-sensitive LEMP and adapted planting proposals (including species now 
more suitable to the locality), long-term harm to the woodland SNCI appears likely as a 
result of the proposals. The wildflower grassland in vicinity to the dwelling still remains 
very unlikely to be managed with high wildlife value if also used for amenity. A detailed 
Management Plan and/or evidence of how habitats will be protected and futureproofed 
against any changes in ownership has not been provided.  
 
As stated above in respect of Biodiversity Net Gain, it is unclear how the habitat 
enhancements to surrounding woodland and pond will be delivered. Condition sheets and 
an indicative habitat restoration/management schedule for created habitats were 
requested to demonstrate that enhancement to good condition habitats is achievable 
within a 30 year period.  
 
Habitat Regulations Assessment 
 
A shadow Habitats Regulations Assessment has been submitted and Natural England 
have been consulted, and confirmed their agreement with the conclusions of the Habitats 
Regulations Assessment providing that "all mitigation measures are appropriately secured 
in any planning permission given"  
 
This raises the question of how realistic and achievable this would be. In light of this 
requirement, the Council's Ecologist has advised that in the event of a recommended or 
potential approval of the scheme, the scheme should not (and cannot lawfully) be 
approved and the shadow HRA formally adopted by the decision-maker, until it can be 
demonstrated with confidence that "all mitigation measures are appropriate secured" (as 
stated in the comments from NE). The Habitats Regulations Assessment should therefore 
be extended to include assessment also of the means of securing the necessary 
measures, and ability for all the necessary mitigation measures to be delivered and 
retained in perpetuity within the scheme. This would in effect require an extension to the 
HRA which must then also be favourably concluded in consultation with Natural England, 
prior to any consent being issued.  
 
In carrying out this further assessment, consideration would be required to the nature of 
the site, which is wooded and immediately adjacent to the canal which is an unfenced 
water body at this point; and that the required ecological mitigation measures include 
maintaining dark conditions at the site, and the absence of external lighting to achieve 
this. Living conditions within the house with low transmissivity glazing also require 
consideration.  
 
The scheme presents conflicts between what might be considered reasonable and 
necessary to achieve minimum standards of living, site use, safety and safe access to and 
around the site for a site of this nature with a residential use, and for a residential dwelling 
of this nature and scale, alongside the ecological requirements and proposed mitigation 

Page 52



measures as set out in the HRA and ecological and lighting reports. Details of how these 
conflicts would be resolved have not yet been provided and would need to be 
demonstrated to inform the HRA, along with full details and wordings of proposed 
mechanisms (such as conditions, legal agreement, covenant) for securing and enforcing 
adherence to all measures, in perpetuity. Note: Covenants cannot be relied upon as their 
enforcement is the responsibility of the developer and the LPA cannot enforce them.  
 
Permanent resolution of these conflicts may not be possible, and using a precautionary 
approach, this should be assumed to be the case unless it can be evidenced to the 
contrary - sufficiently to stand up to scrutiny and further consultation with NE (for the 
HRA). Therefore, even with use of conditions, legal agreements and covenants, it is not 
currently clear that the planning process is capable of securing all the necessary 
measures at the level required and in such a way to provide full confidence that they can 
realistically all be delivered, remain in place, and remain enforceable in perpetuity. The 
scheme should not be considered for consent until this issue has been resolved to the 
satisfaction also of NE.  
 
 
Low Carbon and Sustainable Credentials: 
 
The application is accompanied by the sustainable construction checklist which 
demonstrates that it will achieve an emissions reduction of at least 21.84%. It should be 
noted that given the off-grid nature of the development all energy use will be 100% 
renewable. 
 
The policies contained within the development plan are aimed at ensuring development is 
sustainable and that the impacts on climate change are minimised and, where necessary, 
mitigated. A number of policies specifically relate to measures aimed at minimising carbon 
emissions and impacts on climate change. The application has been assessed against 
these policies and these have been fully taken into account in the recommendation made. 
 
Policy SCR5 of the Placemaking Plan requires that all dwellings meet the national optional 
Building Regulations requirement for water efficiency of 110 litres per person per day. This 
can be secured by condition. 
 
Policy SCR5 also requires all residential development to include a scheme for rainwater 
harvesting or other method of capturing rainwater for use by residents (e.g., water butts). 
These matters can be secured by a relevant planning condition.  
 
Policy LCR9 states that all residential development will be expected to incorporate 
opportunities for local food growing (e.g., border planting, window boxes, vertical planting, 
raised beds etc.). In this instance the presence of numerous trees immediately adjacent to 
the building may make local food growing difficult. However, the proposal includes a 
veranda and as such this would be able to provide the opportunity for compliance with 
policy LCR9. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 53



Housing Balance 
 
The Council cannot currently demonstrate a 5 year housing land supply. Therefore, the 
most important policies for determining this application are considered out of date. As 
such para 11(d) of the NPPF is applicable which sets out: 
 
d) where there is no relevant development plan policies, or policies which are most 
important in determining the application are out of date, granting permission unless: 
 
i) The application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of particular 
importance provides a strong reason for refusing the development proposed or 
 
ii) any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the 
benefits, when assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as a whole, having 
particular regard to key policies for directing development to sustainable locations, making 
effective use of land, securing well designed places and providing affordable homes, 
individually or in combination.  
 
The benefits of the application include the creation of one new dwellings which would 
make a very modest contribution towards the Council's housing supply. The off-grid and 
sustainable energy elements of the scheme are also considered to matters which attract 
weight in favour of the application. However, it is considered that the adverse impacts of 
the scheme as identified would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits of 
permitting the scheme and as such, the application is recommended for refusal. It is also 
considered that policies in the NPPF provide strong reasons for refusal in relation to 
habitats sites and designated heritage assets contrary to paragraph 11d)i). 
 
 
Public Sector Equality Duty  
 
In reaching its decision on a planning application the Council is required to have regard to 
the duties contained in section 149 of the Equality Act 2010, known collectively as the 
public sector equality duty. Section 149 provides that the Council must have due regard to 
the need to—  
 
(a) eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation  
(b) advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it; and  
(c) foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic 
and persons who do not share it.  
 
Officers have had due regard to these matters when assessing this application and have 
concluded that neither the granting nor the refusal of this application would be likely to 
have an impact on protected groups and, therefore, that these considerations would not 
weigh in favour of or against this application.  
 
Conclusion 
 
"Section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act (1990) makes clear that a Local 
Planning Authority must have regard to "the provisions of the development plan, so far as 

Page 54



material to the application" and "ant other material considerations". Further, Section 38(6) 
of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that "where in making any 
determination under the planning Acts, regard is to be had to the development plan, the 
determination shall be made in accordance with the plan unless material consideration 
indicates otherwise"." 
 
In this case, it is considered that the proposals conflict with a significant number of policies 
and are contrary to the development plan as a whole. Material considerations do not 
indicate that permission should be granted. It is therefore recommended that planning 
permission is refused. 
 
 
 

RECOMMENDATION 

REFUSE 
 
REASON(S) FOR REFUSAL 
 
 1 Ecology 
The scheme will result in unavoidable and permanent changes to the nature of the site 
and its habitats and ecology, including net loss of woodland habitat (A Habitat of Principle 
Importance) from the site, net loss of habitat area from the Fields by the Canal and 
Railway (Hampton Row) Site of Nature Conservation Interest (SNCI), and reduced habitat 
connectivity. The scheme is therefore contrary to development plan, in particular Policy 
NE3, and the National Planning Policy Framework.  
 
 2 Habitat Regulations Assessment 
The proposal is not demonstrated to be fit for purpose for residential use in this woodland 
and canal-side location, whilst avoiding habitat loss and harm to ecology, and retaining 
and maintaining in perpetuity, the required conditions of darkness as detailed in the 
Habitats Regulations Assessment. This would need to be demonstrated to be achievable 
and sufficiently secured (and enforceable) in perpetuity, to meet the requirements of the 
Habitats Regulations. In the absense of this information, the proposal is contrary to the 
development plan, in particular policy CP6 of the Core Strategy and NE5, NE3 and D8 of 
the Local Plan Partial Update, and is contrary to the The Conservation of Habitats and 
Species Regulations 2017. 
 
 3 Character and appearance 
By virtue of its form, scale, mass, siting and design, the proposed two storey, detached 
house would appear as a dominant and incongruous built form within the locality, thereby 
having a detrimental effect upon the character and appearance of the canal side and 
wider area. The proposed development is therefore contrary to the development plan, in 
particular policy CP6 of the adopted Core Strategy (2014) and policies HE1, D1, D2, D4 
and D5 of the Placemaking Plan and Local Plan Partial Update, and part 12 the National 
Planning Policy Framework. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 55



 4 Heritage impact 
By virtue of its form, scale, mass, siting materials and design, the proposed two storey, 
detached house would appear as a dominant and incongruous built form within the 
locality, thereby having a detrimental effect upon the character and appearance of the 
Conservation Area and World Heritage Site. The proposal would cause less than 
substantial harm to designated and undesignated heritage assets that would not be 
outweighed by the public benefits of the scheme. The proposal is therefore contrary to the 
development plan, in particular policy B4 and CP6 of the adopted Core Strategy and 
policy HE1 of the Placemaking Plan, and part 16 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 
 
 5 Trees and woodland 
There is risk of unacceptable harm to trees forming the woodland which has significant 
wildlife, landscape and amenity value. The proposal adversely affects the integrity and 
value of strategic Green Infrastructure corridors and will adversely impact on trees and 
woodlands of wildlife, landscape, historic, amenity, productive or cultural value. Therefore 
the proposal is therefore contrary to the development plan, in particular policy NE1 and 
policy NE6 of the Placemaking Plan. 
 
PLANS LIST: 
 
 1 ASP-1657-1 
BR0671-200C, 201 D, 600 A and 601 o 
TPG-59-E 550 A, P 301A, P 450 A, P300 and X 602 B 
 
 2 In determining this application the Local Planning Authority considers it has complied 
with the aims of paragraph 39 of the National Planning Policy Framework. Notwithstanding 
informal advice offered by the Local Planning Authority the submitted application was 
unacceptable for the stated reasons and the applicant was advised that the application 
was to be recommended for refusal. Despite this the applicant chose not to withdraw the 
application and having regard to the need to avoid unnecessary delay the Local Planning 
Authority moved forward and issued its decision. In considering whether to prepare a 
further application the applicant's attention is drawn to the original discussion/negotiation. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 56



Item No:   02 

Application No: 25/02732/FUL 

Site Location: Windyridge  High Street Wellow Bath Bath And North East Somerset 

 

 

Ward: Bathavon South  Parish: Wellow  LB Grade: N/A 

Ward Members: Councillor Matt McCabe Councillor Fiona Gourley  

Application Type: Full Application 

Proposal: Erection of 3 bed dwelling on land to the front of Windyridge, 
associated landscape works, and modification to existing drive 
entrance. 

Constraints: White Ox Mead Air Strip 3km buffer, Agricultural Land Classification, 
Conservation Area, Policy CP3 Solar and Wind Landscape Pote, 
Policy CP8 Green Belt, Policy CP9 Affordable Housing, Policy GB2 
Infill Boundary, Policy NE2 AONB, Ecological Networks Policy NE5, 
SSSI - Impact Risk Zones,  

Applicant:  Mr Simon Rayner 

Expiry Date:  4th September 2025 

Case Officer: Danielle Milsom 

To view the case click on the link here. 

 
 
 

Page 57

http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/webforms/planning/details.html?refval=25/02732/FUL#details_Section


REPORT 
Following the support received from Wellow Parish Council which is contrary to officer 
recommendation to refuse, in addition to the call to committee request received by Cllr 
Matt McCabe, the application was referred to the Chair and Vice-Chair of Planning 
committee. The decision was made for the application to be heard by planning committee. 
Comments are as follows: 
 
Cllr Tim Ball (Chair): 
After reviewing the details, I believe it is appropriate for this application to come to 
committee. The committee has the capacity to reach a different conclusion from the 
officer's recommendation, and it is worth noting that the application has the support of 
both local members. Furthermore, it appears to be largely compliant with policy. 
 
This application relates to the area to the front of Windyridge, located on Wellow High 
Street. The site is set within the Green Belt, Conservation Area and National Landscape 
(formerly AONB).  
 
Planning permission is sought for the erection of 3 bed dwelling on land to the front of 
Windyridge, associated landscape works, and modification to existing drive entrance. 
 
Relevant Planning History: 
 
22/00864/FUL - Permit - Proposed erection of a three-bedroom detached dwelling 
following the demolition of garage in the grounds of Windyridge.  Widening and 
modification of drive entrance. 
 
25/00308/FUL - Permit - Erection of three bedroom dwelling on land to the front of 
Windyridge, associated landscape works, and modification to existing drive entrance. 
 
SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS/REPRESENTATIONS 
Consultation Responses :  
 
Wellow Parish Council: Support 
Wellow Parish Council held an extraordinary meeting on 23 July at which it was decided to 
SUPPORT this planning application subject to the following caveat: The applicant is 
requested to review the choice of materials, especially the extensive use of 'orange 
brickwork' and to select materials which are more in keeping with neighbouring properties 
in the Conservation Area" 
"In addition to Wellow Parish Council's support of this application please could I ask that if 
you are minded to refuse the application it should be referred to the Planning Committee 
for their consideration 
 
Two support comments received. A summary is as follows: 
o Whilst the design may appear contemporary it does incorporate elements of other 
houses in Wellow and I feel we should allow differences and personalisation rather than 
conforming to a norm. The alternative is identikit houses that all new estates seem to be. 
My own house did not conform to a perceived standard for Wellow, and that was in 1947, 
but now has become part of the overall look of Wellow. 

Page 58



o I agree with the Wellow Parish Council on consultation on the bricks / colour but 
that can be resolved post planning approval. I feel this should be approved in the current 
submitted design. 
o Design responds well to the context providing 21st century transition  
o Building carefully sited to be lower than both terraces 
o Front gable creates interest  
o Suitable for modern family living  
o Design allows for future occupation for disabled or elderly  
o Low energy use using high quality materials  
o Reduced carbon footprint  
o Extant permission is in a forced arrangement and does not allow for future 
occupation by residents of reduced mobility  
o Material issues to be resolved  
o Several new houses in Wellow which this house will contribute to 
 
1 objection comment received: 
o Contradiction with Local Plan on Character and distinctiveness 
o Located within a Conservation Area where design is required to preserve and 
enhance  
o Inconsistency with predominant local materials 
o Lack of contextual fit with nearby building materials  
o Failure to preserve of enhance conservation area by introduction of materials 
 
Representations Received :  
 
Cllr Matt McCabe:  
Given the support of the Parish Council, and the aesthetic nature of the officer's concerns, 
could this please be considered at Committee 
 
 
POLICIES/LEGISLATION 
The Development Plan for Bath and North East Somerset comprises: 
 
o Bath & North East Somerset Core Strategy (July 2014) 
o Bath & North East Somerset Placemaking Plan (July 2017) 
o Bath & North East Somerset Local Plan Partial Update (2023) 
o West of England Joint Waste Core Strategy (2011)  
o Made Neighbourhood Plans  
 
CORE STRATEGY: 
 
The Core Strategy for Bath and North East Somerset was formally adopted by the Council 
on 10th July 2014. The following policies of the Core Strategy are relevant to the 
determination of this application:  
 
CP6: Environmental Quality 
CP8: Green Belt  
SD1: Presumption in favour of sustainable development  
 
 

Page 59



PLACEMAKING PLAN: 
 
The Placemaking Plan for Bath and North East Somerset was formally adopted by the 
Council on 13th July 2017. The following policies of the Placemaking Plan are relevant to 
the determination of this application:  
 
SV1: Somer Valley Spatial Strategy  
D1: General urban design principles 
D2: Local character and distinctiveness 
D3: Urban fabric 
D4: Streets and spaces  
D6: Amenity 
D7: Infill and backland development  
GB1: Visual amenities of the Green Belt 
HE1: Historic environment  
SU1: Sustainable drainage policy 
 
LOCAL PLAN PARTIAL UPDATE: 
 
The Local Plan Partial Update for Bath and North East Somerset Council was adopted on 
19th January 2023. The Local Plan Partial Update has introduced a number of new 
policies and updated some of the policies contained with the Core Strategy and 
Placemaking Plan. The following policies of the Local Plan Partial Update are relevant to 
this proposal:  
 
DW1: District Wide Spatial Strategy  
D5: Building design  
D8: Lighting  
GB2: Development in Green Belt villages  
NE3: Sites, species, and habitats 
NE3a: Biodiversity Net Gain 
NE5: Ecological networks 
RE1: Employment uses in the countryside 
SCR6: Sustainable Construction Policy for New Build Residential Development 
ST7: Transport requirements for managing development  
 
SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING DOCUMENTS:  
 
The following Supplementary Planning Documents (SPDs) are relevant to the 
determination of this application: 
 
Sustainable Construction Checklist Supplementary Planning Document (January 2023)  
 
Transport and Development Supplementary Planning Document (January 2023)  
 
The Existing Dwellings in the Green Belt Supplementary Planning Document (October 
2008)  
 
 
 

Page 60



NATIONAL POLICY: 
 
The updated National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) was published in December 
2024 and is a material consideration. Due consideration has been given to the provisions 
of the National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG). 
 
CONSERVATION AREAS:  
 
There is a duty placed on the Council under Section 72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings 
and Conservation Areas) Act to pay special attention to the preservation or enhancement 
of the character of the surrounding Conservation Area. 
 
NATIONAL LANDSCAPE: 
 
There is a duty placed on the Council under Section 85 of the Countryside and Rights of 
Way (CRoW) Act 2000 to seek to further the purpose of conserving and enhancing the 
natural beauty of the National Landscape. 
 
LOW CARBON AND SUSTAINABLE CREDENTIALS 
 
The policies contained within the development plan are aimed at ensuring development is 
sustainable and that the impacts on climate change are minimised and, where necessary, 
mitigated. A number of policies specifically relate to measures aimed at minimising carbon 
emissions and impacts on climate change. The application has been assessed against the 
policies as identified and these have been fully taken into account in the recommendation 
made. 
 
OFFICER ASSESSMENT 
PRINCIPLE OF DEVELOPMENT IN THE GREEN BELT: 
 
The primary issue to consider is whether the proposal represents inappropriate 
development in the Green Belt.  
 
Paragraph 154 of the NPPF states that inappropriate development is by definition harmful 
to the Green Belt and should not be approved except in very special circumstances. The 
construction of new buildings should be regarded as inappropriate, however paragraph 
159 outlines exceptions to this where buildings may not be inappropriate providing that is 
preservers openness and does not conflict with the purposes of including land within it. 
One of the exceptions is limited infilling in villages. 
 
To determine whether the proposed dwelling would constitute limited infilling an 
assessment is required in relation to local plan policy GB2. GB2 states that development 
will not be permitted unless it is limited to infilling and in the case of residential 
development the proposals is within the defined Housing Development Boundary. The 
preamble of GB2 describes infilling as consisting of the filling of small gaps within existing 
housing development, including the building of one or two houses on a small vacant plot in 
an otherwise build up frontages, generally surrounded on at least three sides by 
developed sites or roads. 
 

Page 61



The proposed development site is located within the housing development boundary. The 
proposed dwelling is also considered to consist of infilling given that it occupies a small 
plot and is surrounded on three sides by other dwellings, including Windyridge to the 
north, 4 West End Cottages to the east and 1 Hungerford Terrace to the west and 
therefore meets with the definition of infilling. Due to the siting of the proposed dwelling 
amongst the built environment, it is considered that the openness of the Green Belt will 
not be harmed. 
 
The proposal accords with policy CP8 of the adopted Core Strategy and policy GB2 of the 
Placemaking Plan for Bath and North East Somerset (2017) and part 13 of the NPPF. 
 
DESIGN, CHARACTER AND APPEARANCE: 
 
Policies D1, D2 and D3 of the Placemaking Plan and Policy D5 of the Local Plan Partial 
Update have regard to the character and appearance of a development and its impact on 
the character and appearance of the host building and wider area. Development proposals 
will be supported, if amongst other things they contribute positively to and do not harm 
local character and distinctiveness. Development will only be supported where, amongst 
other things, it responds to the local context in terms of appearance, materials, siting, 
spacing and layout and the appearance of extensions respect and complement their host 
building.  
 
Policy HE1 requires development that has an impact upon a heritage asset, whether 
designated or non-designated, will be expected to enhance or better reveal its significance 
and setting. 
 
The proposed dwelling is to be sited on a raised area of land, between two terraces. The 
character of Wellow High Street is quite distinct, with terraced dwellings lining the northern 
strip with Hungerford Terrace. The terraced dwellings to the east of the site have dual 
pitched roofs with side facing gables. The properties are traditional in their form, with 
natural stone and sash windows. The terrace is considered to be a positive part of the 
High Street and Conservation Area, reflecting typical terraced form and natural materials 
such as local limestone. Dwellings opposite the site also make a strong and positive 
contribution to the sites setting, with use of natural materials and gable ends. A front 
facing gable exists to a single storey ancillary looking part of the dwelling, which lines the 
street. Generally, the northern side of the High Street is set back from the road edge, with 
the southern side being more closely related to the road.   
 
The Wellow Conservation Area appraisal sets out of the significance of the Conservation 
Area. It acknowledges that unlisted buildings are of merit in their form of humble cottages 
and terraces, whilst there are examples of less successful modern developments, such as 
to the west of the site, over all the hierarchy of structures contributes to the exceptional 
value of the village.  
 
The site lends itself to the construction of a single dwellings, as determined by previous 
consents for its construction. Given that the site is in isolation to its neighbouring terraces, 
any dwelling sited here would be viewed on its own and separate to the existing built form. 
Also given its elevation from the road, the siting of a dwelling would visually be prominent 
within the street scene and against neighbouring's dwellings.  
 

Page 62



The proposed dwelling is two storey and is arranged with a front facing gable. To the west 
lies a two-storey flat roof section. The length of the dwelling runs from south to north. With 
regards to the form and shape of the dwelling, there is little reference to existing 
architectural patterns. The pattern of roofing is not followed through the creation of a front 
facing gable. The gable end elevates the appearance of the dwelling amongst the existing 
roof scape of the side facing gable of West End Cottages, and the hip of Hungerford 
Terrace. The proposed dwelling would therefore sit proud in the middle of terraces which 
creates an unusually prominent feature. The flat roof proposed is contrived in its form in 
relation to the rest of the dwelling and surrounding area where this is not a common 
feature. Proposed windows are large and are at odds with the traditional character. This is 
further emphasised by the stone features which protrude. 
 
As stated within the Conservation Area appraisal, there is a pleasing variation in the 
hierarchy of building types. Proposed development should seek to enhance or preserve 
the characteristics of the Conservation Area. In this instance, given the design of the 
dwelling and it conflict with existing building patterns and styles, it is considered that it fails 
to retain the hierarchy of development and instead would make the site stand out through 
its inconsistent form. The use of natural materials welcomed, however it is unsuccessful at 
disguising the incongruous form and shape of the building. It is therefore considered that 
the proposed dwelling is of an unacceptable design and does not suit the location or 
compliment the existing character and appearance of the street scene.  
 
The proposal by reason of its design, siting, scale, massing and layout is unacceptable 
and does not contribute or respond to the local context and does not maintain the 
character and appearance of the surrounding area. The proposal fails to accord with 
policy CP6 of the Core Strategy (2014), policies D2 and D3 of the Placemaking Plan 
(2017), Policy D5 of the Local Plan Partial Update (2023) and part 12 of the NPPF. 
 
There is a duty placed on the Council under Section 72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings 
and Conservation Areas) Act to pay special attention to the preservation or enhancement 
of the character of the surrounding conservation area. As discussed above, the 
development does not preserve or enhance the special interests of the Conservation Area 
as set out with the Conservation Area character Appraisal. The development is as such 
considered to result in less than substantial harm to the Conservation Area. Where a 
development proposal will lead to less than substantial harm to the significance of a 
designated heritage asset, this harm should be weighed against the public benefits of the 
proposal including, where appropriate, securing its optimum viable use. Public benefits of 
the proposal are considered within the planning balance section of this report.  
 
LANDSCAPE: 
 
Local Plan Partial Update policy NE2 has regard to conserving and enhancing the 
landscape and landscape character. The policy notes a number of criteria which should be 
met in order for the development to be considered acceptable in landscape, including 
conserving the local landscape character and conserving. The policy also states that 
development should seek to avoid or should adequately mitigate any adverse impacts on 
the landscape. Proposals with the potential to impact on the landscape/townscape 
character of an area or on views should be accompanied by a Landscape and Visual 
Impact Assessment undertaken by a qualified practitioner to inform the design and 
location of any new development. 

Page 63



 
The site is located within the National Landscape (formerly known as Area of Outstanding 
Natural Beauty or AONB). There is a duty under Section 85 of the Countryside and Rights 
of Way (CRoW) Act 2000 which states that, "Any relevant authority exercising or 
performing any functions in relation to, or so as to affect, land in an area of outstanding 
natural beauty in England must seek to further the purpose of conserving and enhancing 
the natural beauty of the area of outstanding natural beauty. 
 
The dwelling is to be retained within the site and within the built extent of Wellow village. 
In comparison to the previous permission, the proposed does not protrude further into the 
roofscape. The proposed dwelling would not effect the wider landscape which 
encompasses Wellow.  
 
RESIDENTIAL AMENITY: 
 
Policy D6 sets out to ensure developments provide an appropriate level of amenity space 
for new and future occupiers, relative to their use and avoiding harm to private amenity in 
terms of privacy, light and outlook/overlooking.  
 
The proposed dwelling sits between existing dwellings. Front and rear elevation windows 
are unlikely to result in overlooking due to distance. Side elevations windows to the east 
are large, however they are directed towards a blank elevation of the neighbouring 
property. The perception of overlooking may increase however this is unlikely to be 
significant enough to warrant refusal in this regard. The design of the property largely 
reduces privacy impacts through window placements and elevational changes.  
 
The distances between the neighbouring dwellings and the siting within the plot and its 
staggered approach is unlikely to result in significant additional shading to habitable 
spaces of neighbouring occupiers.  
 
Given the design, scale, massing and siting of the proposed development the proposal 
would not cause significant harm to the amenities of any occupiers or adjacent occupiers 
through loss of light, overshadowing, overbearing impact, loss of privacy, noise, smell, 
traffic or other disturbance. The proposal accords with policy D6 of the Placemaking Plan 
and part 12 of the NPPF. 
 
HIGHWAYS SAFETY AND PARKING: 
 
Policy ST7 of the Local Plan Partial Update has regard to transport requirements for 
managing development. It sets out the policy framework for considering the requirements 
and the implications of development for the highway, transport systems and their users. 
The Transport and Development Supplementary Planning Document expands upon policy 
ST7 and includes the parking standards for development.  
 
Access 
Pedestrian and vehicular access to the site will be via the existing driveway within the 
curtilage of Windyridge. It is noted that the land title grants the site owners the right to use 
this driveway. The proposal includes modifications to widen the existing access, which will 
improve visibility  when exiting the site. 
 

Page 64



Parking 
The proposal includes provision for two off-street parking spaces, which complies with the 
standards set out in the Transport and Development SPD. Access to the parking area will 
be via the shared driveway with Windyridge. The layout allows vehicles to enter and exit 
the site in a forward gear. 
 
Cycle and Waste Storage 
Secure storage for three bicycles will be provided. The proposal also includes an 
outbuilding with space for recycling boxes and a 140-litre wheelie bin. 
 
The means of access and parking arrangements are acceptable and maintain highway 
safety standards. The proposal accords with policy ST7 of the Local Plan Partial Update, 
the Transport and Development Supplementary Planning Document (2023), and part 9 of 
the NPPF.  
 
DRAINAGE AND FLOODING: 
 
Policy CP5 of the Core Strategy has regard to Flood Risk Management. It states that all 
development will be expected to incorporate sustainable drainage systems to reduce 
surface water run-off and minimise its contribution to flood risks elsewhere. All 
development should be informed by the information and recommendations of the B&NES 
Strategic Flood Risk Assessments and Flood Risk Management Strategy. 
 
The proposed development is considered to comply with policy CP5 of the Core strategy 
in regard to flooding and drainage matters, as well as part 14 of the NPPF.   
 
ECOLOGY: 
 
Policy NE3 of the Local Plan Partial Update has regard to Sites, Species and Habitats and 
states that development which results in significant harm to biodiversity will not be 
permitted. For all developments, any harm to the nature conservation value of the site 
should be avoided where possible before mitigation and/or compensation is considered.  
 
In addition, Policy NE3a of the Local Plan Partial Update relates to Biodiversity Net Gain 
(BNG).  
 
In the case of minor developments, development will only be permitted where no net loss 
and an appropriate net gain of biodiversity is secured using the latest DEFRA Small Sites 
Metric or agreed equivalent.  
 
The application is for a self-build dwelling. The development is as such exempt from the 
BNG mandatory and local requirements. 
 
SUSTAINABLE CONSTRUCTION AND RENEWABLE ENERGY: 
 
Policy SCR6 of the Local Plan Partial Update has regard to Sustainable Construction for 
New Build Residential Development. The policy requires new residential development to 
achieve zero operational emissions by reducing heat and power demand, then supplying 
all energy demand through on-site renewables. A sustainable construction checklist (SCC) 
is submitted with an application, evidencing that the prescribed standards have been met.  

Page 65



 
In this case the submitted SCC shows that the prescribed standards have been met with 
regards to space heating, total energy use and on site renewable energy and this is 
achieved through passive design and renewable and low carbon features.  
 
Therefore, the proposed development is compliant with Local Plan Partial Update policy 
SCR6 in this instance.   
 
Policy SCR5 of the Placemaking Plan requires that all dwellings meet the national optional 
Building Regulations requirement for water efficiency of 110 litres per person per day. This 
can be secured by condition. 
 
Policy SCR5 also requires all residential development to include a scheme for rainwater 
harvesting or other method of capturing rainwater for use by residents (e.g., water butts). 
These matters can be secured by a relevant planning condition.  
 
PLANNING BALANCE: 
 
Assessment of public benefits 
 
The proposed development is considered to result in less than substantial harm to the 
character and appearance of the Conservation Area. Development, including any 
proposed demolition, within or affecting the setting of a conservation area will only be 
permitted where it will preserve or enhance those elements which contribute to the special 
character or appearance of the conservation area. 
 
Where a development proposal will lead to less than substantial harm to the significance 
of a designated heritage asset, this harm should be weighed against the public benefits of 
the proposal including, where appropriate, securing its optimum viable use. 
 
When considering the impact of a proposed development on the significance of a 
designated heritage asset, great weight should be given to the asset's conservation (and 
the more important the asset, the greater the weight should be). The proposal would result 
in the provision of one dwelling. As will be discussed below, the Council are unable to 
demonstrate a 5 year housing land supply. The dwelling would contribute to the demand 
for housing within the district. In this instance, an extant permission remains on site for the 
erection of a single dwelling. This application, if granted, would not provide a net increase 
of dwellings permitted on site. There addition of one dwelling, whilst considered to be a 
public benefit, when viewed in the context of extant approvals, and the level of contribution 
made by a single dwelling, is considered to not be significant enough to outweigh the 
harm caused. Public benefits of the provision of a single dwelling is considered in this 
instance to not outweigh the less than substantial harm caused to the Conservation Area 
and is as such contrary to policy HE1 of the Placemaking plan and part 16 of the NPPF.  
 
Presumption in favour of sustainable development: 
 
Section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act (1990) makes clear that a Local 
Planning Authority must have regard to "the provisions of the development plan, so far as 
material to the application" and "any other material considerations". Furthermore, Section 
38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that "where in making 

Page 66



any determination under the planning Acts, regard is to be had to the development plan, 
the determination shall be made in accordance with the plan unless material consideration 
indicates otherwise. 
 
The proposal has been found to conflict with the provisions of the development plan, in 
particular policies D2, D3, D5 and HE1 of the Placemaking Plan.  
 
The Council cannot currently demonstrate a 5-year housing land supply. Therefore, the 
most important policies for determining this application are to be considered out-of-date. 
As such, paragraph 11(d) of the NPPF is applicable which sets out:  
 
"d) where there are no relevant development plan policies, or the policies which are most 
important in determining the application are out-of-date, granting permission unless:  
i) The application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of particular 
importance (7) provides a strong reason for refusing the development proposed; or  
ii) any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the 
benefits, when assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as a whole, having 
particular regard to key policies for directing development to sustainable locations, making 
effective use of land, securing well-designed places and providing affordable homes, 
individually or in combination."   
 
As set out in this report, there is a strong reason for refusing the development proposed 
due to its impact upon the Conservation Area, of which is an asset which the Framework 
seeks to protect as identified in footnote 7 as a heritage asset.  
 
The benefits of the scheme include the contribution to the housing supply within the 
district, however, this benefit is considered in the context of an extant permission 
remaining on site for the provision of a single dwelling. It is considered that the adverse 
impacts of the scheme would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits of 
permitting the scheme and as such, the application is recommended for refusal. 
 
CONCLUSION:  
 
The proposal by reason of its design, siting, scale, massing and layout is unacceptable 
and does not contribute or respond to the local context and does not maintain the 
character and appearance of the surrounding area. The proposal fails to accord with 
policy CP6 of the Core Strategy (2014), policies D2 and D3 of the Placemaking Plan 
(2017), Policy D5 of the Local Plan Partial Update (2023) and part 12 of the NPPF. 
 
The proposal by reason of its design, siting, scale, massing and layout fails to preserve or 
enhance the Conservation Area, resulting in less than substantial harm. The harm 
identified is considered not to be outweighed by public benefits. The proposal is as such 
contrary to policy HE1 of the Placemaking Plan (2017) and part 16 of the NPPF.  
 

RECOMMENDATION 

REFUSE 
 
REASON(S) FOR REFUSAL 
 
 1 Character and appearance 

Page 67



The proposal by reason of its design, siting, scale, massing and layout is unacceptable 
and does not contribute or respond to the local context and does not maintain the 
character and appearance of the surrounding area. The proposal fails to accord with 
policy CP6 of the Core Strategy (2014), policies D2 and D3 of the Placemaking Plan 
(2017), Policy D5 of the Local Plan Partial Update (2023) and part 12 of the NPPF. 
 
 2 Harm to Conservation Area 
The proposal by reason of its design, siting, scale, massing and layout fails to preserve or 
enhance the Conservation Area, resulting in less than substantial harm. The harm 
identified is considered not to be outweighed by public benefits. The proposal is as such 
contrary to policy HE1 of the Placemaking Plan (2017) and part 16 of the NPPF.  
 
 
PLANS LIST: 
 
 1 This decision relates to the following plans:  
 
Revised Drawing   30 Sep 2025   1250C   PROPOSED ELEVATIONS - 
NORTH AND SOUTH     
Revised Drawing   30 Sep 2025   1251B   PROPOSED ELEVATIONS 
PROPOSED ELEVATIONS 
Drawing   10 Jul 2025       PROPOSED ELEVATIONS - OUTBUILDINGS      
Drawing   10 Jul 2025       PROPOSED FIRST FLOOR AND ROOF PLANS    
Drawing 10 Jul 2025       PROPOSED GROUND FLOOR PLAN   
Drawing   10 Jul 2025       PROPOSED SECTION A-A     
Drawing   10 Jul 2025       PROPOSED SECTIONS Z-Z AND Y-Y 
OS Extract   10 Jul 2025       SITE LOCATION PLAN   
 
 2 In determining this application the Local Planning Authority considers it has complied 
with the aims of paragraph 39 of the National Planning Policy Framework. Notwithstanding 
informal advice offered by the Local Planning Authority the submitted application was 
unacceptable for the stated reasons and the applicant was advised that the application 
was to be recommended for refusal. Despite this the applicant chose not to withdraw the 
application and having regard to the need to avoid unnecessary delay the Local Planning 
Authority moved forward and issued its decision. In considering whether to prepare a 
further application the applicant's attention is drawn to the original discussion/negotiation. 
 
 3 Community Infrastructure Levy 
 
You are advised that as of 6 April 2015, the Bath & North East Somerset Community 
Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Charging Schedule came into effect. Whilst the above application 
has been refused by the Local Planning Authority please note that CIL applies to all 
relevant planning permissions granted on or after this date. Thus any successful appeal 
against this decision may become subject to CIL. Full details are available on the 
Council's website www.bathnes.gov.uk/cil 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 68



Item No:   03 

Application No: 25/02605/VAR 

Site Location: Great Barn Court Block Two Dane's Lane Keynsham Bath And North 
East Somerset  

 

 

Ward: Keynsham North  Parish: Keynsham Town Council  LB Grade: N/A 

Ward Members: Councillor Alex Beaumont Councillor George Leach  

Application Type: Application for Variation of Condition 

Proposal: Variation of conditions 4 (Archaeology Post Excavation and 
Publication), 10 (Construction Management Plan), 17 (Landscape) 
and 18 (Plans List) of application 24/04399/VAR (Variation of 
conditions 5 (Investigation and Risk Assessment), 8 (Materials - 
Submission of Schedule and Samples), 13 (Biodiversity Gain and 
Habitat Management Plans), 17 (Fire Hydrants), 19 (Landscape) and 
20 (Plans List) of application 23/04190/REG03 (Erection of 10 No. 
affordable apartments (Class C3) and associated access, drainage 
and landscaping works)). 

Constraints: Agric Land Class 3b,4,5, Conservation Area, Policy CP12 Bath City 
Centre, Policy CP9 Affordable Housing, Policy CR3 Primary Shopping 
Areas, Housing Development Boundary, LLFA - Flood Risk 
Management, Policy NE1 Green Infrastructure Network, Ecological 
Networks Policy NE5, Neighbourhood Plan, Public Right of Way, 
SSSI - Impact Risk Zones, Policy ST8 Safeguarded Airport & 
Aerodro,  

Page 69



Applicant:  Aequus Developments 

Expiry Date:  24th October 2025 

Case Officer: Christopher Masters 

To view the case click on the link here. 

 
REPORT 
Details of location and proposal and Relevant History 
 
The site is an irregular shape site partially fronting onto Danes Lane, a private road 
serving Tesco car park and partially a back land site behind the properties fronting 
Keynsham High Street. The site is bounded to the south by a public right of way 
connecting through to the High Street from Danes Lane. 
 
Permission has previously recently been granted for the erection of 10 No. affordable 
apartments (Class C3) and associated access, drainage and landscaping works. 
 
Planning permission is sought for the variation of conditions 4 (Archaeology Post 
Excavation and Publication), 10 (Construction Management Plan), 17 (Landscape) and 18 
(Plans List) of application 24/04399/VAR (Variation of conditions 5 (Investigation and Risk 
Assessment), 8 (Materials - Submission of Schedule and Samples), 13 (Biodiversity Gain 
and Habitat Management Plans), 17 (Fire Hydrants), 19 (Landscape) and 20 (Plans List) 
of application 23/04190/REG03 (Erection of 10 No. affordable apartments (Class C3) and 
associated access, drainage and landscaping works)). 
 
The proposed changes can be summarised as: 
 
o Construction management plan updated to show site huts and other elements 
moved due to constraints of the construction. 
o Updated Block two plot position and Finished Floor Levels  
o Updated boundary wall design 
o Updated surface finish to car park 
o Discharge of condition 4 (Archaeology Post Excavation and Publication) 
 
Reasons for Reporting to Committee 
 
The application has been reported to Committee as the application is submitted on behalf 
of Aequus Developments Limited. The Council's Scheme of Delegation sets out that "any 
applications for which the Council or ADL (Aequus Developments Limited) is the applicant, 
involving more than two properties, will be reported to the Planning Committee unless the 
Chair and Vice-Chair of the Planning Committee deem them not to raise any significant 
planning concerns, in which case they will be dealt with under officer delegation." 
 
The application has been referred to the Chair and Vice Chair of the Planning Committee 
who have confirmed the application shall be determined by Planning Committee.  
  
Relevant Planning History 
 
23/04190/REG03 - PERMIT - 9 May 2024 - Erection of 10 No. affordable apartments 
(Class C3) and associated access, drainage and landscaping works 

Page 70

http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/webforms/planning/details.html?refval=25/02605/VAR#details_Section


 
24/04189/COND - DISCHARGED - 13 February 2025 - Discharge of conditions 2 
(Affordable Housing Scheme), 3 (Archaeology Controlled Excavation), 10 (Construction 
Management Plan) and 18 (Site Specific Targeted Recruitment and Training) of 
application 23/04190/REG03 (Erection of 10 No. affordable apartments (Class C3) and 
associated access, drainage and landscaping works) 
 
24/04399/VAR - PERMIT - 19 February 2025 - Variation of conditions 5 (Investigation and 
Risk Assessment), 8 (Materials - Submission of Schedule and Samples), 13 (Biodiversity 
Gain and Habitat Management Plans), 17 (Fire Hydrants), 19 (Landscape) and 20 (Plans 
List) of application 23/04190/REG03 (Erection of 10 No. affordable apartments (Class C3) 
and associated access, drainage and landscaping works) 
 
25/01578/NMA - APPROVE - 24 April 2025 - Non Material Amendment to application 
24/04399/VAR (Variation of conditions 5 (Investigation and Risk Assessment), 8 
(Materials - Submission of Schedule and Samples), 13 (Biodiversity Gain and Habitat 
Management Plans), 17 (Fire Hydrants), 19 (Landscape) and 20 (Plans List) of application 
23/04190/REG03 (Erection of 10 No. affordable apartments (Class C3) and associated 
access, drainage and landscaping works)). 
 
SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS/REPRESENTATIONS 
Consultation Responses :  
 
ARCHAEOLOGY: 
16th July 2025: No objection.   
 
HIGHWAYS: 
14th July 2025: No objection.   
 
KEYNSHAM TOWN COUNCIL:  
 
5th August 2025: To SUPPORT the variations with a comment - There are no planning 
reasons to object to this application: - Keynsham Town Council consider that the proposal 
variations are in accordance with Bath and North East Somerset Council Policies D1 - D6 
of Bath and North East Somerset adopted Placemaking Plan 2017 and Local Plan (Core 
Strategy) Partial Update Jan 2023. Comment - Keynsham Town Council request a 
condition in respect of the variation 10 (Construction Management Plan) that the bus stop 
be re-instated or an alternative stop within the site of the Tesco Car Park be put in place 
as soon as possible on completion of the construction of the development. Prior to the 
construction phase an alternative bus stop, close to Tesco Store, be agreed with the bus 
operator and Local Authority. 
 
Representations Received :  
 
None received  
 
POLICIES/LEGISLATION 
The Development Plan for Bath and North East Somerset comprises: 
 
o Bath & North East Somerset Core Strategy (July 2014) 

Page 71



o Bath & North East Somerset Placemaking Plan (July 2017) 
o Bath & North East Somerset Local Plan Partial Update (2023) 
o West of England Joint Waste Core Strategy (2011)  
o Made Neighbourhood Plans  
 
CORE STRATEGY: 
 
The Core Strategy for Bath and North East Somerset was formally adopted by the Council 
on 10th July 2014. The following policies of the Core Strategy are relevant to the 
determination of this application:  
 
CP6: Environmental quality 
CP9: Affordable housing 
CP10: Housing mix 
SD1: Presumption in favour of sustainable development 
 
PLACEMAKING PLAN: 
 
The Placemaking Plan for Bath and North East Somerset was formally adopted by the 
Council on 13th July 2017. The following policies of the Placemaking Plan are relevant to 
the determination of this application:  
 
D1: General urban design principles 
D2: Local character and distinctiveness 
D3: Urban fabric 
D4: Streets and spaces 
D5: Building design 
D6: Amenity 
D7: Infill and backland development 
HE1: Historic environment 
LCR9: Increasing the provision of local food growing 
NE2A: Landscape setting of settlements 
PCS1: Pollution and nuisance 
PCS2: Noise and vibration 
SCR2: Roof-mounted/ building integrated scale solar PV 
SCR5: Water efficiency 
SU1: Sustainable drainage policy 
 
LOCAL PLAN PARTIAL UPDATE: 
 
The Local Plan Partial Update for Bath and North East Somerset Council was adopted on 
19th January 2023. The Local Plan Partial Update has introduced several new policies 
and updated some of the policies contained with the Core Strategy and Placemaking Plan. 
The following policies of the Local Plan Partial Update are relevant to this proposal:  
 
DW1: District wide spatial strategy 
KE1: Keynsham spatial strategy 
D8: Lighting 
H7: Housing accessibility 
NE2: Conserving and enhancing the landscape and landscape character 

Page 72



NE3: Sites, species, and habitats 
NE3a: Biodiversity net gain 
NE5: Ecological networks 
NE6: Trees and woodland conservation 
PC55: Contamination 
SCR6: Sustainable construction policy for new build residential development 
SCR9: Electric vehicles charging infrastructure 
ST7: Transport requirements for managing development 
 
SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING DOCUMENTS:  
 
The following Supplementary Planning Documents (SPDs) are relevant in the 
determination of this application: 
 
The following Supplementary Planning Documents (SPDs) are relevant in the 
determination of this application: 
 
Sustainable Construction Checklist Supplementary Planning Document (January 2023)  
 
Transport and Development Supplementary Planning Document (January 2023)  
 
Planning Obligations Supplementary Planning Document (January 2023)  
 
NATIONAL POLICY: 
 
The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) is a material consideration. Due 
consideration has been given to the provisions of the National Planning Practice Guidance 
(NPPG). 
 
CONSERVATION AREAS:  
 
In addition, there is a duty placed on the Council under Section 72 of the Planning (Listed 
Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act to pay special attention to the preservation or 
enhancement of the character of the surrounding Conservation Area. 
 
LISTED BUILDINGS: 
 
In addition, there is a duty placed on the Council under Section 66 of the Planning (Listed 
Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 'In considering whether to grant planning 
permission for development which affects a listed building or its setting' to 'have special 
regard to the desirability of preserving the building or its setting or any features of special 
architectural or historic interest which it possesses.'   
 
LOW CARBON AND SUSTAINABLE CREDENTIALS 
 
The policies contained within the development plan are aimed at ensuring development is 
sustainable and that the impacts on climate change are minimised and, where necessary, 
mitigated. A number of policies specifically relate to measures aimed at minimising carbon 
emissions and impacts on climate change. The application has been assessed against the 

Page 73



policies as identified and these have been fully taken into account in the recommendation 
made. 
 
OFFICER ASSESSMENT 
Officer Assessment: 
 
The application seeks to amend conditions 4 (Archaeology Post Excavation and 
Publication), 10 (Construction Management Plan), 17 (Landscape) and 18 (Plans List) of 
application 24/04399/VAR (Variation of conditions 5 (Investigation and Risk Assessment), 
8 (Materials - Submission of Schedule and Samples), 13 (Biodiversity Gain and Habitat 
Management Plans), 17 (Fire Hydrants), 19 (Landscape) and 20 (Plans List) of application 
23/04190/REG03 (Erection of 10 No. affordable apartments (Class C3) and associated 
access, drainage and landscaping works)). 
 
The proposed changes can be summarised as: 
 
o Construction management plan updated to show site huts and other elements 
moved due to constraints of the construction. 
o Updated Block two plot position and Finished Floor Levels  
o Updated boundary wall design 
o Updated surface finish to car park 
o Discharge of condition 4 (Archaeology Post Excavation and Publication) 
 
Section 73 of the Town & Country Planning Act (1990) states that: 'on such an application 
the local planning authority shall consider only the question of the conditions subject to 
which planning permission should be granted'. 
 
Therefore, a re-assessment of the scheme, as a whole, is unnecessary and beyond the 
scope of this application. The only matters that may be considered in respect of the 
current application are therefore those planning issues raised by the amendments.  
 
HERITAGE, DESIGN, CHARACTER AND APPEARANCE: 
 
Policy HE1 requires development that has an impact upon a heritage asset, whether 
designated or non-designated, will be expected to enhance or better reveal its significance 
and setting. 
 
The site lies partially within the Keynsham Conservation Area and within close proximity to 
a number of listed buildings. Most notably these include the Conservative Club and The 
Old Bank both adjoining the site and Grade II Listed and the Grade II* Listed St John The 
Baptist Church which has a clear visual connection with Danes Lane and the PROW 
passing the site. 
 
Policy D1, D2, D3 and D5 of the Placemaking Plan have regard to the character and 
appearance of a development and its impact on the character and appearance of the host 
building and wider area. Development proposals will be supported, if amongst other things 
they contribute positively to and do not harm local character and distinctiveness.  
 
The proposed amendments include relocating Block 2 500mm further west and 200mm to 
the south of the previously approved position, increasing the finished floor level of Block 2 

Page 74



by 350mm, altering the surfacing material from permeable brick to permeable paving and 
altering the proposed boundary treatments.  
 
The proposed amendments by reason of their design, siting, scale, massing, layout and 
materials are acceptable and do not alter the conclusions previously reached. The 
proposal accords with policy CP6 of the adopted Core Strategy (2014) and policies D1, 
D2, D3, D4 and HE1 of the Placemaking Plan for Bath and North East Somerset (2017), 
Policy D5 of the Local Plan Partial Update (2023) and Parts 12 and 16 of the NPPF. 
 
RESIDENTIAL AMENITY: 
 
Policy D6 sets out to ensure developments provide an appropriate level of amenity space 
for new and future occupiers, relative to their use and avoiding harm to private amenity in 
terms of privacy, light and outlook/overlooking.  
 
Given the nature and scale of the amendments the proposed changes would not cause 
significant harm to the amenities of any occupiers or adjacent occupiers through loss of 
light, overshadowing, overbearing impact, loss of privacy, noise, smell, traffic or other 
disturbance. The proposal accords with policy D6 of the Placemaking Plan for Bath and 
North East Somerset (2017) and part 12 of the NPPF. 
 
ARCHAEOLOGY: 
 
Policy HE1 seeks, within the scope of Core Strategy policies B4 and CP6, to enhance and 
better reveal the significance and setting of heritage assets, including archaeological 
assets. 
 
The applicant has submitted evidence that the post-excavation analysis and publication of 
results of the archaeological excavation has been commissioned. South West Heritage 
Trust have been consulted on the application and advise there is no objection to this 
application as both conditions relating to archaeology on permission 23/04190/REG03 
have now been fulfilled. 
 
The development therefore accords with policy HE1 of the Placemaking Plan and Part 16 
of the NPPF.  
 
HIGHWAYS: 
 
Policy ST7 of the Local Plan Partial Update has regard to transport requirements for 
managing development. It sets out the policy framework for considering the requirements 
and the implications of development for the highway, transport systems and their users. 
The Transport and Development Supplementary Planning Document expands upon policy 
ST7 and includes the parking standards for development.  
 
The submission includes an updated Construction Management Plan. Having reviewed 
the Plan, the Highway Team raise no significant concerns relating to the approach given it 
follows the principles established by earlier work.  
 
The Highway Team notes that the footway along the site frontage would need to be 
temporarily closed to facilitate the works. As it is not adopted highway the footway closure 

Page 75



and diversion will need to be agreed by the applicant with the relevant landowner. The 
applicant shall also need to review the bus services that could be affected by the 
proposed temporary bus stop closure (it appears that the stop is used by the WESTlink 
service), and this would need to be agreed direct with the bus operator and the public 
transport authority. The submitted construction management plan notes that the bus stop 
and footway shall be reinstated on completion of works.  
 
The means of access and parking arrangements are acceptable and maintain highway 
safety standards. The proposal accords with policy ST7 of the Local Plan Partial Update, 
the Transport and Development Supplementary Planning Document, and part 9 of the 
NPPF.  
 
PUBLIC SECTOR EQUALITY DUTY 
 
In reaching its decision on a planning application the Council is required to have regard to 
the duties contained in section 149 of the Equality Act 2010, known collectively as the 
public sector equality duty. 
  
Section 149 provides that the Council must have due regard to the need to- 
 
(a) eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation 
(b) advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it; and 
(c) foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic 
and persons who do not share it. 
  
Officers have had due regard to these matters when assessing this application and have 
concluded that neither the granting nor the refusal of this application would be likely to 
have an impact on protected groups and, therefore, that these considerations would not 
weigh in favour of or against this application. 
 
CONCLUSION:  
 
Section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act (1990) makes clear that a Local 
Planning Authority must have regard to "the provisions of the development plan, so far as 
material to the application" and "any other material considerations". Furthermore, Section 
38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that "where in making 
any determination under the planning Acts, regard is to be had to the development plan, 
the determination shall be made in accordance with the plan unless material consideration 
indicates otherwise". 
 
In this instance the submitted details are acceptable and the proposed changes are not 
considered to impact upon the conclusions previously reached.  It is therefore 
recommended that permission be granted.  
 
The original conditions will be removed, repeated or amended where necessary. 
 

RECOMMENDATION 

PERMIT 
 

Page 76



CONDITIONS 
 
 1 Standard Time Limit (Compliance) 
The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years 
from the date of permission of 23/04190/REG03. 
 
Reason: As required by Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as 
amended) and to avoid the accumulation of unimplemented planning permission 
 
 2 Affordable Housing Scheme (Compliance) 
An Affordable Housing Scheme to secure 100% affordable housing has been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority via application 24/04189/COND.  
 
Unless purchased under Right to Buy or other legislative scheme that compels the sale of 
residential units to a person for uses other than affordable housing, each of the affordable 
housing units on the site shall be permanently retained as affordable housing in 
accordance with the approved Affordable Housing Scheme and shall not be occupied 
otherwise than in accordance with that scheme. 
 
Reason: To ensure that the affordable housing is retained on site in perpetuity in 
accordance with Policy CP9. 
 
 3 Archaeology Controlled Excavation (Compliance)  
The works shall take place in accordance with the archaeological Written Scheme of 
Investigation (Project Design) for archaeological excavation approved via application 
24/04189/COND.  
 
Reason: The site is within an area of major archaeological interest and the Council will 
wish to examine and record items of interest discovered in accordance with Policy HE1 of 
the Bath & North East Somerset Placemaking Plan. This is a condition precedent because 
archaeological remains and features may be damaged by the initial development works. 
 
 
 4 Archaeology Post Excavation and Publication (Compliance) 
The programme of post-excavation analysis shall be carried out by a competent person(s) 
and completed in accordance with the approved publication plan (Post Excavation Works 
letter and Project Design for an Archaeological Excavation both received 3rd July 2025) or 
as otherwise agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: The site may produce significant archaeological findings and the Council will wish 
to publish or otherwise disseminate the results in accordance with Policy HE1 of the Bath 
& North East Somerset Placemaking Plan. 
 
 5 Remediation Scheme and Further Monitoring (Compliance) 
The remediation works shall take place in accordance with the following reports, unless 
otherwise agreed in writing: 
 
o Letter Report dated 20th January 2025. Re: Danes Lane, Keynsham - Landfill gas 
assessment. Forge Environmental Management Ltd.  
 

Page 77



o Proposed Remedial Strategy. Dane's Lane, Keynsham, BS31 2FL. Forge 
Environmental Management Ltd.  DAN495.D/RS/001. Revision :1. October 2024 
(Previously submitted with earlier application) 
 
o Geo-Environmental Site Investigation Report. Danes Lane Keynsham BS31 2FL. 
By Earth Environmental & Geotechnical (Southern) Ltd Report Ref: B2902/23. May 2023 
 
Reason: In order to ensure that the land is suitable for the intended uses and to ensure 
that the development can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, 
neighbours and other offsite receptors and in accordance with section 15 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework. This is a condition precedent because the works comprising 
the development have the potential to uncover harmful contamination. Therefore these 
details need to be agreed before work commences. 
 
 6 Verification Report (pre-occupation) 
No occupation shall commence until a verification report (that demonstrates the 
effectiveness of the remediation carried out) has been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority, unless the findings of the approved investigation 
and risk assessment has confirmed that a remediation scheme is not required. 
 
Reason: In order to ensure that the land is suitable for the intended uses and to ensure 
that the development can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, 
neighbours and other offsite receptors and in accordance with section 15 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework. 
 
 7 Unexpected Contamination (Compliance) 
In the event that contamination which was not previously identified is found at any time 
when carrying out the approved development, it must be reported in writing immediately to 
the Local Planning Authority. Thereafter an investigation and risk assessment shall be 
undertaken, and where remediation is necessary, a remediation scheme shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Following 
completion of measures identified in the approved remediation scheme, a verification 
report (that demonstrates the effectiveness of the remediation carried out) must be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to occupation of 
the development. 
 
Reason: In order to ensure that the land is suitable for the intended uses and to ensure 
that the development can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, 
neighbours and other offsite receptors and in accordance with section 15 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework. 
 
 8 Materials - Submission of Schedule and Samples (Compliance) 
The development shall be carried out in complete accordance with the submitted Materials 
Schedule (Mitchell Eley Gould, 26th Nov 2024).  
 
Reason: In the interests of the appearance of the development and the surrounding area 
in accordance with policy CP6 of the Bath and North East Somerset Core Strategy, 
policies D1, D2 and D3 of the Bath and North East Somerset Placemaking Plan and 
Policy D5 of the Bath and North Somerset Local Plan Partial Update. 
 

Page 78



 9 Noise (Pre-Occupation) 
On completion of the works but prior to any occupation of the approved development, the 
applicant shall submit to and have approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, an 
assessment from a competent person to demonstrate that the development has been 
constructed to provide sound attenuation against external noise in accordance with 
BS8233:2014. The following levels shall be achieved: Maximum internal noise levels of 
35dBLAeq,16hr and 30dBLAeq,8hr for living rooms and bedrooms during the daytime and 
night time respectively. For bedrooms at night individual noise events (measured with F 
time-weighting) shall not (normally) exceed 45dBLAmax. 
 
Reason: To protect future occupants from exposure to environmental noise. 
 
10 Construction Management Plan (Compliance) 
The development shall take place in complete accordance with the Construction 
Management Plan details submitted and approved via application 24/04189/COND as 
amended by the Proposed Construction Management Plan (AL(0)70 REV D, 2nd October 
2025) submitted with this application.  
 
Reason: To ensure the safe operation of the highway and in the interests of protecting 
residential amenity in accordance with Policy D6 of the Bath and North East Somerset 
Placemaking Plan and ST7 of the Bath and North East Somerset Local Plan Partial 
Update. This is a pre-commencement condition because any initial construction or 
demolition works could have a detrimental impact upon highways safety and/or residential 
amenity. 
 
11 Dwelling Access (Compliance) 
Each dwelling shall not be occupied until it is served by a properly bound and compacted 
footway and carriageway to at least base course level between the dwelling and the 
existing adopted highway.  
 
Reason: To ensure that the development is served by a safe and suitable access in 
accordance with Policy ST7 of the Bath and North East Somerset Local Plan Partial 
Update. 
 
12 Nesting Bird Protection (Bespoke Trigger) 
No removal of trees hedges or shrubs shall take place between 1st March and 31st 
August unless a Survey to assess the nesting bird activity on the site during this period 
and a Scheme to protect the nesting birds has been submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority. No tree hedge or shrub shall be removed between 1st 
March and 31st August other than in accordance with the approved bird nesting protection 
scheme. 
 
Reason: To protect nesting birds and prevent ecological harm in accordance with policy 
CP6 of the Bath and North East Somerset Core Strategy and policy NE3 of the Bath and 
North East Somerset Local Plan Partial Update. 
 
13 Biodiversity Gain and Habitat Management Plans (Compliance) 
The development shall take place in accordance with the Habitat Management and 
Monitoring Plan (Ethos, Nov 2024) and Biodiversity Net Gain details, and all habitats and 

Page 79



measures shall be retained and maintained thereafter in accordance with the approved 
details. 
 
Reason: To protect and enhance ecological interests in accordance with policy D5e of the 
Bath and North East Somerset Placemaking Plan and policies NE3, NE3a and NE5 of the 
Bath and North East Somerset Local Plan Partial Update. 
 
14 Sustainable Construction Residential properties (pre-occupation) 
Prior to occupation of the development hereby approved the following tables (as set out in 
the Council's Sustainable Construction Checklist Supplementary Planning Document) 
shall be completed in respect of the completed development and submitted for approval to 
the local planning authority together with the further documentation listed below. 
The development must comply with the requirements of SCR6. 
o PHPP/SAP calculations are to be updated with as-built performance values. 
o The following are to be completed using the updated as-built values for energy 
performance. 
Major (or larger) Residential Development: 
o Energy Summary Tool 2 
o Table 2.1 or 2.2 (if proposal has more than one dwelling type) 
All Residential Development: 
o Table 5 (updated) 
o Building Regulations Part L post-completion documents for renewables; 
o Building Regulations Part L post-completion documents for energy efficiency; 
o Final as-built full data report from Passive House Planning Package or SAP 
o Microgeneration Certification Scheme (MCS) Certificate/s 
 
Reason: To ensure that the approved development complies with Policy SCR6 of the 
Local Plan Partial Update. 
 
15 Water (Compliance) 
The dwellings hereby approved shall be constructed to meet the national optional Building 
Regulations requirement for water efficiency of 110 litres per person per day. 
 
Reason: In the interests of water efficiency in accordance with Policy SCR5 of the 
Placemaking Plan. 
 
16 Site Specific Targeted Recruitment and Training (Compliance) 
The development shall take place in accordance with the site specific Targeted 
Recruitment and Training Statement submitted and approved via application 
24/04189/COND. 
 
Reason: In the interests of promoting and delivering employment, training and 
regeneration opportunities that can contribute to a reduction in the health and social 
inequalities across the District, in accordance with policy SD1 of the Bath and North East 
Somerset Core Strategy and NPPF. 
 
17 Landscape (Compliance) 
The proposed landscaping works shall take place in accordance with the Proposed 
Landscape Plan (AP(0)50_Rev M, received 3rd October 2025) submitted with this 
application.  

Page 80



 
Any trees or plants indicated on the approved soft landscaping scheme which, within a 
period of ten years from the date of the development being completed, die, are removed 
or become seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced during the next planting 
season with other trees or plants of a species and size to be first submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: To ensure that the landscape works are implemented and maintained to ensure 
the continued provision of amenity and environmental quality and to ensure appropriate 
biodiversity net gain is secured in accordance with Policies D1 and D2 of the Bath and 
North East Somerset Placemaking Plan and NE2, NE3, and NE3a of the Bath and North 
East Somerset Local Plan Partial Update. 
 
18 Plans List (Compliance) 
The development/works hereby permitted shall only be implemented in accordance with 
the plans as set out in the plans list. 
 
Reason: To define the terms and extent of the permission. 
 
PLANS LIST: 
 
 1 This decision relates to the following plans:  
 
25/02605/VAR 
 
Received 3rd October 2025    
 
AP(0)50 REV M  PROPOSED LANDSCAPE PLAN   
 
Received 2nd October 2025    
 
AL(0)70 REV D  PROPOSED CONSTRUCTION MANAGEMENT PLAN   
 
Received 3rd July 2025    
 
AP(0)10 REV F  PROPOSED SITE PLAN 
AP(1)10 REV C  PROPOSED BLOCK ONE GROUND FLOOR PLAN 
AP(1)11 REV C  PROPOSED BLOCK ONE FIRST FLOOR PLAN 
AP(1)12 REV C  PROPOSED BLOCK ONE SECOND FLOOR PLAN  
AP(1)13 REV C  PROPOSED BLOCK ONE ROOF FLOOR PLAN  
AP(2)10 REV F  PROPOSED BLOCK TWO GROUND FLOOR PLAN  
AP(2)11 REV F  PROPOSED BLOCK TWO FIRST FLOOR PLAN 
AP(2)12 REV E  PROPOSED BLOCK TWO ROOF PLAN 
AP(2)20 REV E  PROPOSED BLOCK TWO NORTH SOUTH ELEVATIONS  
AP(2)21 REV E  PROPOSED BLOCK TWO EAST WEST ELEVATIONS  
AP(2)30 REV D  PROPOSED BLOCK TWO SECTIONS     
 
24/04399/VAR 
 
Received 28th November 2024    

Page 81



 
AP(1)20 _REV B  PROPOSED BLOCK ONE NORTH SOUTH ELEVATIONS 
AP(1)21_REV B  PROPOSED BLOCK ONE EAST WEST ELEVATIONS   
AP(1)30 _REV B  PROPOSED BLOCK ONE SECTIONS 
 
Received 26th November 2024    
 
1363 SK007  VEHICLE TRACKING OPTIONS 
 
23/04190/REG03 
 
Received 20th March 2024   
 
22043_Np_Xx_Xx_Dr_A_1005_P2  Temporary Hoarding Plan   
 
Received 30th January 2024    
 
22043_Np_Xx_00_Dr_A_1001_P4  Site Location Plan   
 
Received 7th November  2023        
 
Tree Constraints Plan  
A_1002_P3   Existing Site Plan 
D-0005   Existing Impermeable Area Plan 
D-0010   Existing Flood Exceedance Plan   
D-0015   Existing Drainage Plan   
D-0017   Enlarged Existing Drainage Plan - Sheet 2 
D-0016         Enlarged Existing Drainage Plan - Sheet 1 
 
 2 Condition Categories 
The heading of each condition gives an indication of the type of condition and what is 
required by it. There are 4 broad categories: 
 
Compliance - The condition specifies matters to which you must comply. These conditions 
do not require the submission of additional details and do not need to be discharged. 
 
Pre-commencement - The condition requires the submission and approval of further 
information, drawings or details before any work begins on the approved development. 
The condition will list any specific works which are exempted from this restriction, e.g. 
ground investigations, remediation works, etc. 
 
Pre-occupation - The condition requires the submission and approval of further 
information, drawings or details before occupation of all or part of the approved 
development.  
 
Bespoke Trigger - The condition contains a bespoke trigger which requires the submission 
and approval of further information, drawings or details before a specific action occurs.  
 
Please note all conditions should be read fully as these headings are intended as a guide 
only. 

Page 82



 
Where approval of further information is required you will need to submit an application to 
Discharge Conditions and pay the relevant fee via the Planning Portal at 
www.planningportal.co.uk or post to Planning Services, Lewis House, Manvers Street, 
Bath, BA1 1JG. 
 
 3 Community Infrastructure Levy - General Note for all Development 
 
You are advised that as of 6 April 2015, the Bath & North East Somerset Community 
Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Charging Schedule came into effect. CIL may apply to new 
developments granted by way of planning permission as well as by general consent 
(permitted development) and may apply to change of use permissions and certain 
extensions. Before commencing any development on site you should ensure you are 
familiar with the CIL process. If the development approved by this permission is CIL liable 
there are requirements to assume liability and notify the Council before any development 
commences.  
 
Do not commence development until you been notified in writing by the Council that you 
have complied with CIL; failure to comply with the regulations can result in surcharges, 
interest and additional payments being added and will result in the forfeiture of any 
instalment payment periods and other reliefs which may have been granted.  
 
Community Infrastructure Levy - Exemptions and Reliefs Claims 
 
The CIL regulations are non-discretionary in respect of exemption claims. If you are 
intending to claim a relief or exemption from CIL (such as a "self-build relief") it is 
important that you understand and follow the correct procedure before commencing any 
development on site. You must apply for any relief and have it approved in writing by the 
Council then notify the Council of the intended start date before you start work on site. 
Once development has commenced you will be unable to claim any reliefs retrospectively 
and CIL will become payable in full along with any surcharges and mandatory interest 
charges. If you commence development after making an exemption or relief claim but 
before the claim is approved, the claim will be forfeited and cannot be reinstated. 
 
Full details about the CIL Charge including, amount and process for payment will be sent 
out in a CIL Liability Notice which you will receive shortly. Further details are available 
here: www.bathnes.gov.uk/cil. If you have any queries about CIL please email 
cil@BATHNES.GOV.UK 
 
 4 Responding to Climate Change (Informative): 
 
The council is committed to responding to climate change. You are advised to consider 
sustainable construction when undertaking the approved development and consider using 
measures aimed at minimising carbon emissions and impacts on climate change. 
 
 5 Biodiversity Net Gain - Exempt/Not required 
 
The effect of paragraph 13 of Schedule 7A to the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 is 
that planning permission granted for development of land in England is deemed to have 

Page 83



been granted subject to the condition (biodiversity gain condition) that development may 
not begin unless: 
 
(a) a Biodiversity Gain Plan has been submitted to the planning authority, and 
(b) the planning authority has approved the plan.  
 
There are statutory exemptions and transitional arrangements which mean that the 
biodiversity gain condition does not always apply. These are set out in the Biodiversity 
Gain Requirements (Exemptions) Regulations 2024 and The Environment Act 2021 
(Commencement No. 8 and Transitional Provisions) Regulations 2024. 
 
Based on the information available this permission is considered to be one which will not 
require the approval of a biodiversity gain plan before development is begun because one 
or more of the statutory exemptions or transitional arrangements is/are considered to 
apply. 
 
 6 Civil or legal consents 
 
This permission does not convey or imply any civil or legal consents required to undertake 
the works. 
 
 7 Permit/Consent Decision Making Statement 
 
In determining this application the Local Planning Authority considers it has complied with 
the aims of paragraph 39 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 84



Item No:   04 

Application No: 25/02948/FUL 

Site Location: Tregonhawke  Packhorse Lane South Stoke Bath Bath And North 
East Somerset 

 

 

Ward: Bathavon South  Parish: South Stoke  LB Grade: N/A 

Ward Members: Councillor Matt McCabe Councillor Fiona Gourley  

Application Type: Full Application 

Proposal: Widen existing balcony 

Constraints: Colerne Airfield Buffer, Agric Land Class 3b,4,5, Policy B4 WHS - 
Indicative Extent, Conservation Area, Policy CP3 Solar and Wind 
Landscape Pote, Policy CP8 Green Belt, Policy CP9 Affordable 
Housing, Policy GB2 Infill Boundary, MOD Safeguarded Areas, Policy 
NE1 Green Infrastructure Network, Policy NE2 AONB, Policy NE2A 
Landscapes and the green set, Policy NE3 SNCI 200m Buffer, 
Ecological Networks Policy NE5, NRN Grassland Strategic Netwo 
Policy NE5, Strategic Nature Areas Policy NE5, NRN Woodland 
Strategic Networ Policy NE5, SSSI - Impact Risk Zones,  

Applicant:  Mr Mark Carter 

Expiry Date:  24th October 2025 

Case Officer: Christopher Masters 

To view the case click on the link here. 

Page 85

http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/webforms/planning/details.html?refval=25/02948/FUL#details_Section


 
REPORT 
The application refers to a detached dwelling known as 'Tregonhawke', which is located 
within the Bristol / Bath Green Belt and South Stoke conservation area. 
 
Planning permission is sought to enlarge the existing balcony at the front of the dwelling.  
 
Reasons for Reporting to Committee 
 
The application has been reported to Committee as the Officer's recommendation is 
contrary to comments provided by South Stoke Parish Council.  In line with the Council's 
Scheme of Delegation the application was referred to the Chair of the Planning 
Committee, who stated: 
 
"Thank you for sending over the Chair Referral Form for application 25/02948/FUL at 
Tregonhawke, Packhorse Lane, South Stoke. I've taken a closer look at the application 
and, although it appears straightforward at first glance, I believe there are some 
underlying objection issues that need further examination. 
 
Given the circumstances, I feel it would be prudent for the committee to review this matter. 
It's important to ensure that all aspects are thoroughly considered and any objections are 
addressed appropriately." 
 
In addition, the Vice Chair commented: 
 
"Having now read all the documentation on this Chair Referral Form for application 
25/02948/FUL at Tregonhawke, Packhorse Lane, South Stoke I consider that there are 
matters raised by the parish that would benefit from open discussion and consideration at 
the planning committee." 
 
Relevant Planning History: 
 
03/00064/FUL - REFUSED - 17 February 2003 - Conversion of loft including flat-roofed 
dormer to rear 
 
03/01092/FUL - PERMIT - 23 June 2003 - Conversion of loft with rear dormer (re-
submission). 
 
21/00762/FUL - PERMIT - 14 April 2021 - External improvements to the fenestration, 
replacement of existing external stair and installation of log burning flue to side elevation. 
 
SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS/REPRESENTATIONS 
Consultation Responses :  
 
South Stoke Parish Council - OBJECT - The proposed balcony is in the very centre of the 
South Stoke Conservation Area and will be highly visible and prominent, (more so than 
the existing balcony, which is primarily the access to the property), because it projects 
much further beyond the host dwelling. There is no discussion of what lighting is 
proposed, and we do not believe that this will be none. The centre of the Village is an 
important Bat Corridor and the issue of lighting must be addressed within the application 

Page 86



in order that appropriate protection is in place for this and other important species. From 
the plans provided it is now clear that there exist lines of sight from the front of the 
proposed balcony to both the immediate neighbouring properties of Upper Cottages and 
Sumus In Summo. Also there will be increased visibility into to the gardens of the opposite 
properties such as the Priory. When this was proposed for Churchview, the third of these 
bungalows, there were fewer privacy issues, and extensive screening has been installed 
for both the privacy of the Residents of Churchview itself, and particularly the adjoining 
property Sumus In Summo. Furthermore, the Undercroft of the Churchview Balcony was 
considered to count as volume increase to the property and duly considered accordingly. 
 
Representations Received :  
 
None received  
 
POLICIES/LEGISLATION 
The Development Plan for Bath and North East Somerset comprises: 
 
o Bath & North East Somerset Core Strategy (July 2014) 
o Bath & North East Somerset Placemaking Plan (July 2017) 
o Bath & North East Somerset Local Plan Partial Update (2023) 
o West of England Joint Waste Core Strategy (2011)  
o Made Neighbourhood Plans  
 
CORE STRATEGY: 
 
The Core Strategy for Bath and North East Somerset was formally adopted by the Council 
on 10th July 2014. The following policies of the Core Strategy are relevant to the 
determination of this application:  
 
CP6: Environmental Quality 
CP8: Green Belt  
SD1: Presumption in favour of sustainable development  
 
PLACEMAKING PLAN: 
 
The Placemaking Plan for Bath and North East Somerset was formally adopted by the 
Council on 13th July 2017. The following policies of the Placemaking Plan are relevant to 
the determination of this application:  
 
D1: General urban design principles 
D2: Local character and distinctiveness 
D3: Urban fabric 
D4: Streets and spaces  
D6: Amenity 
GB1: Visual amenities of the Green Belt 
HE1: Historic environment  
 
 
 
 

Page 87



LOCAL PLAN PARTIAL UPDATE: 
 
The Local Plan Partial Update for Bath and North East Somerset Council was adopted on 
19th January 2023. The Local Plan Partial Update has introduced a number of new 
policies and updated some of the policies contained with the Core Strategy and 
Placemaking Plan. The following policies of the Local Plan Partial Update are relevant to 
this proposal:  
 
DW1: District Wide Spatial Strategy  
D5: Building design  
GB3: Extensions and alterations to buildings in the Green Belt  
NE2: Conserving and Enhancing the Landscape and Landscape Character 
ST7: Transport requirements for managing development  
 
SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING DOCUMENTS:  
 
The following Supplementary Planning Documents (SPDs) are relevant to the 
determination of this application: 
 
The Existing Dwellings in the Green Belt Supplementary Planning Document (October 
2008)  
 
NATIONAL POLICY: 
 
The updated National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) was published in December 
2024 and is a material consideration. Due consideration has been given to the provisions 
of the National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG). 
 
CONSERVATION AREAS:  
 
In addition, there is a duty placed on the Council under Section 72 of the Planning (Listed 
Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act to pay special attention to the preservation or 
enhancement of the character of the surrounding Conservation Area. 
 
LISTED BUILDINGS: 
 
In addition, there is a duty placed on the Council under Section 66 of the Planning (Listed 
Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 'In considering whether to grant planning 
permission for development which affects a listed building or its setting' to 'have special 
regard to the desirability of preserving the building or its setting or any features of special 
architectural or historic interest which it possesses.'   
 
LOW CARBON AND SUSTAINABLE CREDENTIALS 
 
The policies contained within the development plan are aimed at ensuring development is 
sustainable and that the impacts on climate change are minimised and, where necessary, 
mitigated. A number of policies specifically relate to measures aimed at minimising carbon 
emissions and impacts on climate change. The application has been assessed against the 
policies as identified and these have been fully taken into account in the recommendation 
made. 

Page 88



 
OFFICER ASSESSMENT 
The main issues to consider are: 
 
Green Belt 
Character and Appearance 
Residential Amenity 
Heritage Impacts 
 
Green Belt 
 
The dwelling appears to have been previously enlarged by approximately 51.41m3. The 
proposed extension to the balcony represents a further volume increase of 36m3, 
equivalent to a cumulative increase of 30.82% over and above the original building volume 
of 283.58m3. The proposed development does not represent inappropriate development 
in the Green Belt and it would not be harmful to openness or the purposes of including 
land within the green belt. The proposal accords with policy CP8 of the Core Strategy, 
policy GB1 of the Placemaking Plan, policy GB3 of the Local Plan Partial Update and part 
13 of the NPPF. 
 
Character and Appearance 
 
The dwelling is set up and away from the road. The intervening curtilage comprises of 
numerous terraces separated by stone retaining walls. A single storey flat roofed garage 
sits at the front of the plot. The proposed enlargement is of lightweight appearance and 
visually would be read amongst the stone retaining walls of the terraces. The proposal 
shall utilise materials to match the existing balcony. Given its scale, design and positioning 
the proposed addition would not serve to harm the character and appearance of the host 
dwelling or surrounding area.  
 
The proposal by reason of its design, siting, scale, massing, layout and materials is 
acceptable and contributes and responds to the local context and maintains the character 
and appearance of the surrounding area. The proposal accords with policy CP6 of the 
Core Strategy, policies D1, D2, D3, and D4 of the Placemaking Plan, policy D5 of the 
Local Plan Partial Update and part 12 of the NPPF. 
 
Residential Amenity 
 
Regard has been given to the potential for the development to result in a loss of privacy 
for nearby residential occupiers. In this instance the addition is located at the front of the 
dwelling. Any windows it faces would be on the fronts of properties and visible from the 
public realm. Furthermore, given the existing context and degree of separation from other 
dwellings the proposed development is not considered to result in increased overlooking 
or a reduction in privacy for occupiers of dwellings to the south. It is therefore considered 
that the proposal would not cause unacceptable levels of overlooking or result in a 
significant loss of privacy for nearby residential occupiers.  
 
Given the design, scale, massing and siting of the proposed development the proposal 
would not cause significant harm to the amenities of any occupiers or adjacent occupiers 
through loss of light, overshadowing, overbearing impact, loss of privacy, noise, smell, 

Page 89



traffic or other disturbance. The proposal accords with policy D6 of the Placemaking Plan 
and part 12 of the NPPF. 
 
Highways 
 
The means of access and parking arrangements are acceptable and maintain highway 
safety standards. The proposal accords with policy ST7 of the Local Plan Partial Update, 
the Transport and Development Supplementary Planning Document (2023), and part 9 of 
the NPPF.  
 
World Heritage Site Setting 
 
The proposed development is within the Bath World Heritage Site setting; therefore, 
consideration must be given to the effect the proposal might have on the outstanding 
universal value of the World Heritage Site and its setting. In this instance, due to the size, 
location, and appearance of the proposed development it is not considered that it will 
result in harm to the outstanding universal value or the setting of the World Heritage Site. 
The proposal accords with policy B4 of the Core Strategy, policy HE1 of the Placemaking 
Plan, and part 16 of the NPPF. 
 
Conservation Area 
 
As outlined above, the scheme is not found to harm the character or appearance of the 
surrounding area. Accordingly, no harm is identified to the South Stoke Conservation 
Area.  
 
There is a duty placed on the Council under Section 72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings 
and Conservation Areas) Act to pay special attention to the preservation or enhancement 
of the character of the surrounding conservation area. In this case by virtue of the design, 
scale, massing, position, and the external materials of the proposed development it is 
considered that the development would at least preserve the character and appearance of 
this part of the Conservation Area and its setting. The proposal accords with policy CP6 of 
the Core Strategy, policy HE1 of the Placemaking Plan and part 16 of the NPPF. 
 
National Landscapes 
 
The applicant has confirmed that no external lighting is proposed as part of the application 
and no additional lighting is shown on the submitted drawings. Given the absence of 
external lighting as well as the nature and scale of the development, the proposal will not 
harm the intrinsic darkness of the National Landscape.  
 
The proposed development by virtue of its design, scale, massing, position, and use of 
external materials would not adversely affect the natural beauty of the landscape of the 
designated National Landscapes in accordance with policy NE2 of the Local Plan Partial 
Update and part 15 of the NPPF. 
 
Planning Application in Respect of Listed Buildings 
 
There is a duty under Section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation 
Areas) Act 1990, when considering whether to grant planning permission for development 

Page 90



which affects a listed building or its setting, that the local planning authority shall have 
special regard to the desirability of preserving the building or its setting or any features of 
special architectural or historic interest which it possesses. Here it is considered that the 
proposals are consistent with the aims and requirements of the primary legislation and 
planning policy and guidance. The proposals would not have an unacceptable impact on 
the listed building or its setting and would preserve the significance of the designated 
Heritage asset. The proposal accords with policy HE1 of the Placemaking Plan and part 
16 of the NPPF. 
 
Low Carbon and Sustainable Credentials 
 
The policies contained within the development plan are aimed at ensuring development is 
sustainable and that the impacts on climate change are minimised and, where necessary, 
mitigated. A number of policies specifically relate to measures aimed at minimising carbon 
emissions and impacts on climate change. The application has been assessed against the 
policies as identified and these have been fully taken into account in the recommendation 
made. 
 
Public Sector Equality Duty 
 
In reaching its decision on a planning application the Council is required to have regard to 
the duties contained in section 149 of the Equality Act 2010, known collectively as the 
public sector equality duty. 
  
Section 149 provides that the Council must have due regard to the need to- 
 
(a) eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation 
(b) advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it; and 
(c) foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic 
and persons who do not share it. 
  
Officers have had due regard to these matters when assessing this application and have 
concluded that neither the granting nor the refusal of this application would be likely to 
have an impact on protected groups and, therefore, that these considerations would not 
weigh in favour of or against this application. 
 
Other Matters 
 
Concern has been raised that external lighting may affect light sensitive species of bats. 
The applicant has confirmed that no external lighting is proposed as part of this 
application. No additional lighting is shown on the submitted drawings. Given its siting, 
scale and nature the proposed development is not considered reasonably likely to impact 
any protected species. 
 
Conclusion  
 
Section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act (1990) makes clear that a Local 
Planning Authority must have regard to "the provisions of the development plan, so far as 
material to the application" and "any other material considerations". Furthermore, Section 

Page 91



38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that "where in making 
any determination under the planning Acts, regard is to be had to the development plan, 
the determination shall be made in accordance with the plan unless material consideration 
indicates otherwise". 
 
In this instance it is considered that the proposal complies with the relevant planning 
policies as outlined above. As there are no material considerations which indicate an 
alternative conclusion should be reached it is concluded the application is recommended 
for approval. 
 

RECOMMENDATION 

PERMIT 
 
CONDITIONS 
 
 1 Standard Time Limit (Compliance) 
The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years 
from the date of this permission. 
 
Reason: As required by Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as 
amended) and to avoid the accumulation of unimplemented planning permission. 
 
 2 Plans List (Compliance) 
The development/works hereby permitted shall only be implemented in accordance with 
the plans as set out in the plans list. 
 
Reason: To define the terms and extent of the permission. 
 
PLANS LIST: 
 
 1 This decision relates to the following plans: 
 
Received 28th July 2025 
 
AH2025/61 SITE LOCATION PLAN AND PROPOSED ENLARGED BALCONY 
 
 2 Condition Categories 
The heading of each condition gives an indication of the type of condition and what is 
required by it. There are 4 broad categories: 
 
Compliance - The condition specifies matters to which you must comply. These conditions 
do not require the submission of additional details and do not need to be discharged. 
 
Pre-commencement - The condition requires the submission and approval of further 
information, drawings or details before any work begins on the approved development. 
The condition will list any specific works which are exempted from this restriction, e.g. 
ground investigations, remediation works, etc. 
 

Page 92



Pre-occupation - The condition requires the submission and approval of further 
information, drawings or details before occupation of all or part of the approved 
development.  
 
Bespoke Trigger - The condition contains a bespoke trigger which requires the submission 
and approval of further information, drawings or details before a specific action occurs.  
 
Please note all conditions should be read fully as these headings are intended as a guide 
only. 
 
Where approval of further information is required you will need to submit an application to 
Discharge Conditions and pay the relevant fee via the Planning Portal at 
www.planningportal.co.uk or post to Planning Services, Lewis House, Manvers Street, 
Bath, BA1 1JG. 
 
 3 Community Infrastructure Levy - General Note for all Development 
 
You are advised that as of 6 April 2015, the Bath & North East Somerset Community 
Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Charging Schedule came into effect. CIL may apply to new 
developments granted by way of planning permission as well as by general consent 
(permitted development) and may apply to change of use permissions and certain 
extensions. Before commencing any development on site you should ensure you are 
familiar with the CIL process. If the development approved by this permission is CIL liable 
there are requirements to assume liability and notify the Council before any development 
commences.  
 
Do not commence development until you been notified in writing by the Council that you 
have complied with CIL; failure to comply with the regulations can result in surcharges, 
interest and additional payments being added and will result in the forfeiture of any 
instalment payment periods and other reliefs which may have been granted.  
 
Community Infrastructure Levy - Exemptions and Reliefs Claims 
 
The CIL regulations are non-discretionary in respect of exemption claims. If you are 
intending to claim a relief or exemption from CIL (such as a "self-build relief") it is 
important that you understand and follow the correct procedure before commencing any 
development on site. You must apply for any relief and have it approved in writing by the 
Council then notify the Council of the intended start date before you start work on site. 
Once development has commenced you will be unable to claim any reliefs retrospectively 
and CIL will become payable in full along with any surcharges and mandatory interest 
charges. If you commence development after making an exemption or relief claim but 
before the claim is approved, the claim will be forfeited and cannot be reinstated. 
 
Full details about the CIL Charge including, amount and process for payment will be sent 
out in a CIL Liability Notice which you will receive shortly. Further details are available 
here: www.bathnes.gov.uk/cil. If you have any queries about CIL please email 
cil@BATHNES.GOV.UK 
 
 
 

Page 93



 4 Responding to Climate Change (Informative): 
 
The council is committed to responding to climate change. You are advised to consider 
sustainable construction when undertaking the approved development and consider using 
measures aimed at minimising carbon emissions and impacts on climate change. 
 
 5 Biodiversity Net Gain - Exempt/Not required 
 
The effect of paragraph 13 of Schedule 7A to the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 is 
that planning permission granted for development of land in England is deemed to have 
been granted subject to the condition (biodiversity gain condition) that development may 
not begin unless: 
 
(a) a Biodiversity Gain Plan has been submitted to the planning authority, and 
(b) the planning authority has approved the plan.  
 
There are statutory exemptions and transitional arrangements which mean that the 
biodiversity gain condition does not always apply. These are set out in the Biodiversity 
Gain Requirements (Exemptions) Regulations 2024 and The Environment Act 2021 
(Commencement No. 8 and Transitional Provisions) Regulations 2024. 
 
Based on the information available this permission is considered to be one which will not 
require the approval of a biodiversity gain plan before development is begun because one 
or more of the statutory exemptions or transitional arrangements is/are considered to 
apply. 
 
 6 Permit/Consent Decision Making Statement 
 
In determining this application the Local Planning Authority considers it has complied with 
the aims of paragraph 39 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 94



Item No:   05 

Application No: 25/01551/FUL 

Site Location: 54 Uplands Road Saltford Bath And North East Somerset BS31 3HN  

 

 

Ward: Saltford  Parish: Saltford  LB Grade: N/A 

Ward Members: Councillor Duncan Hounsell Councillor Chris Warren  

Application Type: Full Application 

Proposal: Erection of fence and shed (Retrospective) 

Constraints: Colerne Airfield Buffer, Saltford Airfield 3km buffer, Agricultural Land 
Classification, Policy CP3 Solar and Wind Landscape Pote, Policy 
CP9 Affordable Housing, Housing Development Boundary, MOD 
Safeguarded Areas, NRN Woodland Strategic Networ Policy NE5, 
Other Please specify, SSSI - Impact Risk Zones,  

Applicant:  Mrs May Lan Ho 

Expiry Date:  23rd June 2025 

Case Officer: Pippa Brown 

To view the case click on the link here. 

 
REPORT 
The application refers to 54 Uplands Road, a single storey dwelling, in Saltford. The 
property is located on a road with a range of dwelling styles and is not within a 
Conservation Area.  

Page 95

http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/webforms/planning/details.html?refval=25/01551/FUL#details_Section


 
Planning permission is sought for the erection of a boundary fence and outbuilding in the 
front garden of the property. The application is retrospective, however some alterations to 
the fencing have been proposed through this planning application.   
 
Following objection comments from Saltford Parish Council, contrary to the Officer's 
recommendation, the application was referred to the Chair and Vice Chair of the Planning 
Committee, who have decided that the application be taken to the committee for 
consideration. Full comments can be found in the representations section below.  
 
Relevant Planning History: 
 
08/00667/FUL PERMIT - Erection of a front porch.  
 
07/01063/FUL PERMIT - Erection of a single storey side extension and new dormers. 
 
SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS/REPRESENTATIONS 
Consultation Responses :  
 
Saltford Parish Council - OBJECTION: 
Saltford Parish Council does not support planning applications for high front garden walls 
or fences facing the highway or for the addition of garages or other outbuildings in front 
gardens where these are at variance with the pattern of development and/or the character, 
appearance and setting of residential roads in Saltford. 
  
The use of a tall fence, in this case using feather-edge fence boards, looks incongruous 
compared to neighbouring properties and reduces the openness of the street scene at this 
location. The fence's overbearing effect on the street scene might be mitigated if a more 
open, lattice style, fence or iron railings is used as in other parts of Saltford's housing 
area. In this particular case, the high fence also blocks the view for vehicles exiting the 
neighbouring property, No. 52, that have to drive up a steep slope to enter the highway 
where this is also on a bend in the road so that oncoming vehicles will not see No. 52's 
emerging vehicles until the last moment, so this is also an issue of highway and footpath 
safety. 
  
The new shed on this plot, where much of the front garden has been paved as a hard-
standing for vehicles and the rear garden is very compact in size, appears to result in an 
over-development of the site. Front garden sheds or garages do not fit with the street 
scene in this part of Saltford; the Parish Council reminds BaNES Council that in October 
2021 it refused a planning application, 21/04078/FUL, for a front garden garage 
immediately opposite this property at 73 Uplands Road as the development would "fail to 
preserve the character and appearance of the surrounding area, etc.". The applicant's 
appeal to that refusal was dismissed by the Planning Inspectorate as the proposal was 
determined to be "contrary to Policy CP6 of the Bath and North East Somerset Core 
Strategy 2014 and Policies D1, D2, D3 and D5 of the Bath and North East Somerset 
Placemaking Plan 2017, which together seek to ensure that development proposals are 
designed to a high quality that contribute positively to local character and distinctiveness". 
 
Highways: 

Page 96



"The proposal is for a retrospective fence and shed for the existing property. The plans 
show the site is bounded by a fence set inside of a small wall which runs along the 
footway. 
 
The access into the dwelling is wide and does not provide any issues for access and 
egress from the highway. The fence extends to the neighbouring property to which the 
concerns for access visibility derives from.  
 
The geometry of the highway inclines to the east, with the property in question situated on 
the inside of the curve of the road. 
 
The highway includes a pedestrian footway that runs along the front of both properties, 
and site observations indicate that vehicles are frequently parked along the road. 
Considering these factors, along with the low traffic speeds in this 20mph residential area, 
it is considered that adequate emerging visibility can be achieved. 
 
To address potential risks to pedestrian and highway safety and to ensure clear visibility, it 
would be advisable to maintain visibility to the west of the neighbouring property. This 
would involve implementing a 2m x 2m visibility splay and lowering the fence to 0.9 metres 
in height to achieve the visibility required. Given the position of the existing shed, this 
adjustment is unlikely to affect the property's privacy or security."  
 
Further clarification was sought from the Highways Officer whether the imposition of a 
condition requiring a visibility splay, as outlined above, would be essential to maintain 
highway safety and the following comments were received:  
 
"It isn't essential, given the low speeds within the residential area and the footway the note 
and condition were to alleviate any concerns over pedestrian or vehicle visibility from the 
driveway." 
 
 
Representations Received :  
 
The application was publicised through the use of neighbour notification letters for a 
period of 21 days and no letters of representation were received.  
 
Chair referral - Following the objection from the Parish Council, against the Officer's 
recommendation, the application was referred to the Chair and Vice Chair of the Planning 
Committee. The Chair and Vice Chair both reviewed the report and recommended that the 
application be reviewed and determined by the Planning Committee. Their comments are 
below: 
 
o Cllr Tim Ball (Chair) - received 06.10.2025 
"Given that this application appears to be quite controversial within the local 
neighbourhood, I believe it would be best for it to come to the committee for further 
discussion and review." 
 
o Cllr Paul Crossley (Vice Chair) - received 06.10.2025 
 

Page 97



"Having looked at google earth and read the report and the objection this seems to me a 
retrospective application for work that is out of character with its neighbours. 
  
As the Chair has now instituted a site visit for all applications prior to the meeting I feel 
that this application would benefit for being viewed by the committee and a debate at 
committee. 
  
Therefore I consider this should not be delegated but referred to committee." 
 
 
POLICIES/LEGISLATION 
The Development Plan for Bath and North East Somerset comprises: 
 
o Bath & North East Somerset Core Strategy (July 2014) 
o Bath & North East Somerset Placemaking Plan (July 2017) 
o Bath & North East Somerset Local Plan Partial Update (2023) 
o West of England Joint Waste Core Strategy (2011)  
o Made Neighbourhood Plans  
 
CORE STRATEGY: 
 
The Core Strategy for Bath and North East Somerset was formally adopted by the Council 
on 10th July 2014. The following policies of the Core Strategy are relevant to the 
determination of this application:  
 
CP6: Environmental Quality 
SD1: Presumption in favour of sustainable development  
 
PLACEMAKING PLAN: 
 
The Placemaking Plan for Bath and North East Somerset was formally adopted by the 
Council on 13th July 2017. The following policies of the Placemaking Plan are relevant to 
the determination of this application:  
 
D1: General urban design principles 
D2: Local character and distinctiveness 
D3: Urban fabric 
 
LOCAL PLAN PARTIAL UPDATE: 
 
The Local Plan Partial Update for Bath and North East Somerset Council was adopted on 
19th January 2023. The Local Plan Partial Update has introduced a number of new 
policies and updated some of the policies contained with the Core Strategy and 
Placemaking Plan. The following policies of the Local Plan Partial Update are relevant to 
this proposal:  
 
DW1: District Wide Spatial Strategy  
D5: Building design  
ST7: Transport requirements for managing development  
 

Page 98



SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING DOCUMENTS:  
 
The following Supplementary Planning Documents (SPDs) are relevant to the 
determination of this application: 
 
Transport and Development Supplementary Planning Document (January 2023)  
 
 
NATIONAL POLICY: 
 
The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) is a material consideration. Due 
consideration has been given to the provisions of the National Planning Practice Guidance 
(NPPG). 
 
LOW CARBON AND SUSTAINABLE CREDENTIALS:  
The policies contained within the development plan are aimed at ensuring development is 
sustainable and that the impacts on climate change are minimised and, where necessary, 
mitigated. A number of policies specifically relate to measures aimed at minimising carbon 
emissions and impacts on climate change. The application has been assessed against the 
policies as identified and these have been fully taken into account in the recommendation 
made. 
 
LOW CARBON AND SUSTAINABLE CREDENTIALS 
 
The policies contained within the development plan are aimed at ensuring development is 
sustainable and that the impacts on climate change are minimised and, where necessary, 
mitigated. A number of policies specifically relate to measures aimed at minimising carbon 
emissions and impacts on climate change. The application has been assessed against the 
policies as identified and these have been fully taken into account in the recommendation 
made. 
 
OFFICER ASSESSMENT 
The main issues to consider are: 
- The impact on the character and appearance of the area.  
-      Residental amenity 
- Highways impacts.  
-      Ecology 
-      Public Sector Equality Duty 
 
DESIGN, CHARACTER AND APPEARANCE: 
 
Policy D1, D2, D3 and D5 of the Placemaking Plan have regard to the character and 
appearance of a development and its impact on the character and appearance of the host 
building and wider area. Development proposals will be supported, if amongst other things 
they contribute positively to and do not harm local character and distinctiveness. 
Development will only be supported where, amongst other things, it responds to the local 
context in terms of appearance, materials, siting, spacing and layout and the appearance 
of extensions respect and complement their host building.  
 

Page 99



By virtue of its length and height, the proposed fencing is a visually prominent feature in 
this location. However, there are other examples of similar close boarded fencing in the 
locale, such as at 73 and 77 Uplands Road, which are both lawful, through being granted 
planning permission and through the passage of time respectively. In addition, the 
alterations to the scheme which have been proposed show a reduction in height of the 
close boarded section of the fencing and installation of timber trellis on top, similar to that 
which is opposite the fence, on the other side of Uplands Road.  The proposed trellis is 
welcomed as this breaks up the bulk of the fence, softening its appearance.  
 
As such, the fencing does not appear a wholly alien feature in the context and it is 
considered that with the proposed alterations, the fencing will be acceptable. 
 
The outbuilding is located in close proximity to the fencing and is of a considerable scale. 
Whilst it is noted that sheds of this scale are not commonly seen in front gardens in the 
local area and this is something that Saltford Parish Council seek to resist, the shed 
proposed is well screened by the fencing and set down slightly due to the difference in 
land levels on either side of the fencing.  It is therefore not highly visible in the street 
scene. 
 
The fencing provides adequate screening of the shed from views from Uplands Road, 
mitigating the visual impact of the shed on the local area. It is important that the 
development, including the shed and fence is considered as one, and officers intend to 
secure the retention of the fencing in perpetuity via condition, if the application is 
approved.  
 
The comments from Saltford Parish Council in this regard are noted, however given the 
orientation of the plot and the small area of land that lies to the rear of the principal 
elevation of the dwelling, there are limited options in terms of siting a shed to have a 
lesser visual impact and even less areas where a shed could be considered permitted 
development. It is therefore reasonable that a shed would be sited in this location and this 
is not unduly harmful in the context.   
 
The Parish Council have raised concerns that the shed represents overdevelopment of 
the site. Whilst this is noted, the dwelling sits within a spacious plot, which is considered 
sufficient to accommodate the proposed shed, along with the existing garage.   
 
The proposal by reason of its design, siting, scale, massing, layout and materials is 
acceptable and contributes and responds to the local context and maintains the character 
and appearance of the surrounding area. The proposal accords with policy CP6 of the 
Core Strategy, policies D1, D2, D3, D4 and D5 of the Placemaking Plan and part 12 of the 
NPPF. 
 
RESIDENTIAL AMENITY: 
 
Policy D6 sets out to ensure developments provide an appropriate level of amenity space 
for new and future occupiers, relative to their use and avoiding harm to private amenity in 
terms of privacy, light and outlook/overlooking.  
 
Given the design, scale, massing and siting of the proposed development the proposal 
would not cause significant harm to the amenities of any occupiers or adjacent occupiers 

Page 100



through loss of light, overshadowing, overbearing impact, loss of privacy, noise, smell, 
traffic or other disturbance. The proposal accords with policy D6 of the Placemaking Plan 
and part 12 of the NPPF. 
 
HIGHWAYS SAFETY AND PARKING: 
 
Policy ST7 of the Local Plan Partial Update has regard to transport requirements for 
managing development. It sets out the policy framework for considering the requirements 
and the implications of development for the highway, transport systems and their users. 
The Transport and Development Supplementary Planning Document expands upon policy 
ST7 and includes the parking standards for development.  
 
Uplands Road is a 20mph road and therefore, whilst concerns have been raised by the 
Parish Council over the possible highway safety implications of the development, vehicles 
would be entering and exiting the driveway of the property and that of the adjacent 
dwellings at an extremely slow speed, which would mean the likelihood of the fencing 
having an undue impact on the safety of users of the highway would be minimal.  
 
In addition, the driveway of 52 Uplands Road slopes towards the house and away from 
the highway. As such, any vehicles pulling off the driveway and onto Uplands Road would 
need to do so at a slow speed, further minimising the potential impact of the fencing on 
highway safety.  
 
It is noted that the application site lies on a bend in the road and therefore this could have 
implications for visibility, however it would be possible for a substantial hedge or trees to 
be planted within the curtilage of the dwelling, along the same boundary without the need 
for planning permission and vehicles of varying sizes could park within the application site 
or along Uplands Road itself.  These situations would have a similar impact in terms of 
blocking visibility and therefore the installation of the fencing would unlikely have a 
significant adverse impact over and above this.  
 
The entrance to the host dwelling (54 Uplands Road) is over 4m wide, and it is considered 
that the development does not adversely impact visibility for vehicles entering or exiting 
the driveway of the property due to the speed of vehicles on road.  
 
The Council's Highways Team have recommended that the fencing be reduced in height 
to 0.9m in the area closest number 52 Uplands Road, to provide a visibility splay of 2m to 
allow for safe emergence onto the highway. However, it is important to note that a fence 
could be constructed in this location at 1m in height under permitted development. As 
such, clarification was sought from the Highways Team as to whether this alteration to the 
scheme would be essential to make the scheme acceptable and it was concluded that it 
would not be, due to the low speeds that vehicles would be travelling in the residential 
area. As such, no amendments to this effect were sought from the applicants.  
 
The means of access and parking arrangements are acceptable and maintain highway 
safety standards. The proposal accords with policy ST7 of the Local Plan Partial Update, 
the Transport and Development Supplementary Planning Document (2023), and part 9 of 
the NPPF.  
 
 

Page 101



ECOLOGY: 
 
Policy NE3 of the Local Plan Partial Update has regard to Sites, Species and Habitats and 
states that development which results in significant harm to biodiversity will not be 
permitted. For all developments, any harm to the nature conservation value of the site 
should be avoided where possible before mitigation and/or compensation is considered.  
 
In addition, Policy NE3a of the Local Plan Partial Update relates to Biodiversity Net Gain 
(BNG). This application is for a householder development and is also retrospective 
meaning BNG is not required by Policy NE3a. 
 
PUBLIC SECTOR EQUALITY DUTY 
 
In reaching its decision on a planning application the Council is required to have regard to 
the duties contained in section 149 of the Equality Act 2010, known collectively as the 
public sector equality duty. 
  
Section 149 provides that the Council must have due regard to the need to- 
 
(a) eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation 
(b) advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it; and 
(c) foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic 
and persons who do not share it. 
  
Officers have had due regard to these matters when assessing this application and have 
concluded that neither the granting nor the refusal of this application would be likely to 
have an impact on protected groups and, therefore, that these considerations would not 
weigh in favour of or against this application. 
 
CONCLUSION:  
 
"Section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act (1990) makes clear that a Local 
Planning Authority must have regard to "the provisions of the development plan, so far as 
material to the application" and "ant other material considerations". Further, Section 38(6) 
of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that "where in making any 
determination under the planning Acts, regard is to be had to the development plan, the 
determination shall be made in accordance with the plan unless material consideration 
indicates otherwise"." 
 
In this case it is considered that the application complies with the relevant planning 
policies as discussed in the report above is therefore recommended for permission.  
 

RECOMMENDATION 

PERMIT 
 
CONDITIONS 
 
 1 Installation of trelis (Bespoke Trigger) 
 

Page 102



Within 6 months of the date of this decision, the existing fencing shall be amended and the 
fence top trelis installed, in accordance with the approved plans.   
  
Reason: In the interests of the appearance of the development and the surrounding area 
in accordance with policy CP6 of the Bath and North East Somerset Core Strategy, 
policies D1, D2 and D3 of the Bath and North East Somerset Placemaking Plan and 
Policy D5 of the Bath and North Somerset Local Plan Partial Update. 
 
 2 Retention of fencing (Compliance) 
 
The fencing hereby approved, shall be retained whilst the shed hereby approved is in situ. 
In the event that the shed is removed, then the fencing can also be removed.   
 
Reason: In the interests of the appearance of the development and the surrounding area 
in accordance with policy CP6 of the Bath and North East Somerset Core Strategy, 
policies D1, D2 and D3 of the Bath and North East Somerset Placemaking Plan and 
Policy D5 of the Bath and North Somerset Local Plan Partial Update. 
 
PLANS LIST: 
 
 1 This decision relates to the following plans:  
 
- Retrospective fence elevation (PROPOSED) - received 25.06.2025 
- Retrospective site plan - received 28.04.2025 
- Location plan - received 17.04.2025 
- Retrospective shed plan and elevation - received 28.04.2025 
 
 2 Condition Categories 
The heading of each condition gives an indication of the type of condition and what is 
required by it. There are 4 broad categories: 
 
Compliance - The condition specifies matters to which you must comply. These conditions 
do not require the submission of additional details and do not need to be discharged. 
 
Pre-commencement - The condition requires the submission and approval of further 
information, drawings or details before any work begins on the approved development. 
The condition will list any specific works which are exempted from this restriction, e.g. 
ground investigations, remediation works, etc. 
 
Pre-occupation - The condition requires the submission and approval of further 
information, drawings or details before occupation of all or part of the approved 
development.  
 
Bespoke Trigger - The condition contains a bespoke trigger which requires the submission 
and approval of further information, drawings or details before a specific action occurs.  
 
Please note all conditions should be read fully as these headings are intended as a guide 
only. 
 

Page 103



Where approval of further information is required you will need to submit an application to 
Discharge Conditions and pay the relevant fee via the Planning Portal at 
www.planningportal.co.uk or post to Planning Services, Lewis House, Manvers Street, 
Bath, BA1 1JG. 
 
 3 Community Infrastructure Levy - General Note for all Development 
 
You are advised that as of 6 April 2015, the Bath & North East Somerset Community 
Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Charging Schedule came into effect. CIL may apply to new 
developments granted by way of planning permission as well as by general consent 
(permitted development) and may apply to change of use permissions and certain 
extensions. Before commencing any development on site you should ensure you are 
familiar with the CIL process. If the development approved by this permission is CIL liable 
there are requirements to assume liability and notify the Council before any development 
commences.  
 
Do not commence development until you been notified in writing by the Council that you 
have complied with CIL; failure to comply with the regulations can result in surcharges, 
interest and additional payments being added and will result in the forfeiture of any 
instalment payment periods and other reliefs which may have been granted.  
 
Community Infrastructure Levy - Exemptions and Reliefs Claims 
 
The CIL regulations are non-discretionary in respect of exemption claims. If you are 
intending to claim a relief or exemption from CIL (such as a "self-build relief") it is 
important that you understand and follow the correct procedure before commencing any 
development on site. You must apply for any relief and have it approved in writing by the 
Council then notify the Council of the intended start date before you start work on site. 
Once development has commenced you will be unable to claim any reliefs retrospectively 
and CIL will become payable in full along with any surcharges and mandatory interest 
charges. If you commence development after making an exemption or relief claim but 
before the claim is approved, the claim will be forfeited and cannot be reinstated. 
 
Full details about the CIL Charge including, amount and process for payment will be sent 
out in a CIL Liability Notice which you will receive shortly. Further details are available 
here: www.bathnes.gov.uk/cil. If you have any queries about CIL please email 
cil@BATHNES.GOV.UK 
 
 4 Biodiversity Net Gain - Exempt/Not required 
 
The effect of paragraph 13 of Schedule 7A to the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 is 
that planning permission granted for development of land in England is deemed to have 
been granted subject to the condition (biodiversity gain condition) that development may 
not begin unless: 
 
(a) a Biodiversity Gain Plan has been submitted to the planning authority, and 
(b) the planning authority has approved the plan.  
 
There are statutory exemptions and transitional arrangements which mean that the 
biodiversity gain condition does not always apply. These are set out in the Biodiversity 

Page 104



Gain Requirements (Exemptions) Regulations 2024 and The Environment Act 2021 
(Commencement No. 8 and Transitional Provisions) Regulations 2024. 
 
Based on the information available this permission is considered to be one which will not 
require the approval of a biodiversity gain plan before development is begun because one 
or more of the statutory exemptions or transitional arrangements is/are considered to 
apply. 
 
 5 Responding to Climate Change (Informative): 
 
The council is committed to responding to climate change. You are advised to consider 
sustainable construction when undertaking the approved development and consider using 
measures aimed at minimising carbon emissions and impacts on climate change. 
 
 6 Permit/Consent Decision Making Statement 
 
In determining this application the Local Planning Authority considers it has complied with 
the aims of paragraph 39 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
 
 

Page 105



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 106



 

 

 
 
APPEALS LODGED 
 
 
App. Ref:  25/01750/FUL 
Location:  Flat 1 9 Walcot Buildings Walcot Bath Bath And North East 
Somerset 
Proposal:  External works for the erection of a single storey rear extension. 
Decision:  REFUSE 
Decision Date: 22 July 2025 
Decision Level: Delegated 
Appeal Lodged: 2 September 2025 
 

 
 
App. Ref:  25/01695/FUL 
Location:  6 Southdown Avenue Southdown Bath Bath And North East 
Somerset BA2 1HY 
Proposal:  Change of use from 3 bedroom dwelling (Class C3) to 6-Bedroom 
HMO (C4) 
Decision:  REFUSE 
Decision Date: 31 July 2025 
Decision Level: Planning Committee 
Appeal Lodged: 10 September 2025 
Officer Recommendation:    PERMIT 

 
 
 
 

Bath & North East Somerset Council 

MEETING: Planning Committee  

AGENDA 
ITEM 
NUMBER 

MEETING 
DATE: 

22nd October 2025 

RESPONSIBLE 
OFFICER: 

Louise Morris - Head of Planning & Building Control 

 

TITLE: NEW PLANNING APPEALS, DECISIONS RECEIVED AND DATES OF 
FORTHCOMING HEARINGS/INQUIRIES    

WARD: ALL 

BACKGROUND PAPERS: None 

AN OPEN PUBLIC ITEM 

 

Page 107

Agenda Item 8



 

 

App. Ref:  25/01612/FUL 
Location:  Russell House  Packhorse Lane South Stoke Bath Bath And North 
East Somerset 
Proposal:  Erection of roof terrace with internal access stair to the rear flat roof 
extension to Russell House, repairs and new flat roof to the existing garden shed built 
up to the rear boundary with Victoria Cottages. 
Decision:  REFUSE 
Decision Date: 3 July 2025 
Decision Level: Delegated 
Appeal Lodged: 25 September 2025 

 
 
App. Ref:  25/00726/CLPU 
Location:  Paulton Rovers Social Club  Winterfield Road Paulton Bristol Bath 
And North East Somerset 
Proposal:  Change of pitch surface from grass to synthetic 3G (Certificate of 
Lawfulness for a Proposed Development) 
Decision:  REFUSE 
Decision Date: 14 May 2025 
Decision Level: Delegated 
Appeal Lodged: 2 October 2025 

 
 
App. Ref:  25/01037/PACOU 
Location:  Broadlands Fruit Farm  Box Road Bathford Bath Bath And North 
East Somerset 
Proposal:  Prior approval request for change of use of agricultural building to 
flexible commercial and storage use. 
Decision:  REFUSE 
Decision Date: 5 June 2025 
Decision Level: Delegated 
Appeal Lodged: 2 October 2025 

 
 
Case Ref: 23/00437/NONCOM 
Location: Plot East Of 33 Rotcombe Lane High Littleton Bristol Bath And North East 
Somerset 
Breach: Appeal against without planning permission, the change of use of land from 
equestrian to a mixed use comprising of livery, horse and pony physiotherapy and 
rehabilitation; and the stationing of caravans and residential paraphernalia for residential 
use, together with the erection of fencing to conceal the residential use. 
Notice Issued Date: 07 August 2025  
Appeal Lodged: 2 October 2025 
 
 

 

Page 108



 

 

APPEALS DECIDED 
 
 
Case Ref: 22/00500/UNDEV 
Location: Derelict Building Access Road To Charlcombe Grove Farm Charlcombe 
Bath Bath And North East Somerset 
Breach: Without Planning Permission the Unauthorised Erection of a Residential 
Dwellinghouse. 
Notice Date: 08 February 2024 
Appeal Lodged: 21 March 2024 
Appeal Decision: Appeal Allowed  
Appeal Decided Date: 19 September 2025 
 

 
 
Case Ref: 22/00173/UNAUTH 
Location: Dorset Villa 14 Newbridge Road Newbridge Bath Bath And North East 
Somerset BA1 3JX 
Breach: Without planning permission the change of use of nil use property to 
commercial holiday let accommodation (Use Class Sui Generis). 
Notice Date: 17 April 2024 
Appeal Lodged: 12 June 2024 
Appeal Decision: Appeal Dismissed   
Appeal Decided Date: 22 September 2025 
 

 
 
 
App. Ref:  23/01365/FUL 
Location:  21 Darlington Place Bathwick Bath Bath And North East Somerset 
BA2 6BX 
Proposal:  Demolition of existing dwelling and erection of replacement dwelling 
and coach house. 
Decision:  REFUSE 
Decision Date: 15 July 2024 
Decision Level: Delegated 
Appeal Lodged: 3 February 2025 
Appeal Decision: Appeal Dismissed 
Appeal Decided Date: 3 October 2025 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 109



 

 

App. Ref:  24/04742/FUL 
Location:  21 Darlington Place Bathwick Bath Bath And North East Somerset 
BA2 6BX 
Proposal:  Extension and alteration of garage. 
Decision:   
Decision Date:  
Decision Level:  
Appeal Lodged: 20 March 2025 
Appeal Decision: Appeal Dismissed 
Appeal Decided Date: 3 October 2025 

 
 
Case Ref: 21/00115/UNAUTH 
Location: Land Between Convergence Of Durley Park And Durley Lane Durley Hill 
Keynsham Bath And North East Somerset 
Breach: Without Planning Permission, the change of use of agricultural land to a mixed 
use for storage (including vehicle storage), and the breaking, repair and sale of vehicles 
and vehicle parts. 
Notice Date: 28 September 2023 
Appeal Lodged: 18 December 2023 
Appeal Decision: Appeal Dismissed  
Appeal Decided Date: 06 October 2025 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 110



 

 

FORTHCOMING HEARINGS & INQUIRIES 
 
 
 
App. Ref: 24/00325/UNAUTH 
Location: Parcel 3263 Deanhill Lane Upper Weston Bath Bath And North East 
Somerset 
Breach: Appeal against without planning permission, the material change of use of 
agricultural land to a mixed use comprising of agriculture, residential caravan site and 
the importation and storage of waste; including the siting of caravans, generator and 
residential paraphernalia. Without planning permission, the erection of an agricultural 
building. 
Appeal Lodged: 10 July 2025 
Hearing to be held on 14th October 2025 at Aix-en-Provence, Guildhall, Bath. 
 

Page 111



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 112



 
Bath & North East Somerset Council 

 

MEETING: Planning Committee 

MEETING 
DATE: 22 October 2025 

AGENDA 
ITEM 
NUMBER  

TITLE: Quarterly Performance Report covering period 1 July – 30 Sept 2025 

WARD: ALL 

AN OPEN PUBLIC ITEM 

List of attachments to this report: 

Analysis of Chair referral cases 

 
1  THE ISSUE 

At the request of Members and as part of our on-going commitment to making service 
improvements, this report provides Members with performance information across Planning.  

 
2 RECOMMENDATION 

Members are asked to note the contents of the performance report. 

3 THE REPORT 

Tables, charts, and commentary 

1 - Comparison of Applications Determined Within Target Times 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 113

Agenda Item 9



2023-2024 2024-2025 % of planning 
applications in time Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 

% Majors in time (12/12) 
100% 

(7/7) 
100% 

(12/12) 
100% 

(6/7) 
86% 

(4/4) 
100% 

(8/9) 
89% 

(7/8) 
88% 

(8/8) 
100% 

% Minors in time (85/99) 
86% 

(71/83) 
86% 

(83/98) 
85% 

(86/103) 
83% 

(102/133) 
77% 

(70/88) 
80% 

(95/117) 
81% 

(86/112) 
77% 

% Others in time (283/341) 
83% 

(269/314) 
86% 

(281/348) 
81% 

(284/363) 
78% 

(283/332) 
85% 

(255/301) 
85% 

(338/423) 
80% 

(273/368) 
74% 

 
Highlights: 
• All three categories have been above target consistently every quarter for over 8 years 

(Majors target 60%, Non-majors target 70%). 
• Performance is above the last published England average of 90.8% for Majors, and a 

little below the average of 90.8% for Non-majors (year ending Jun 2025) but still above 
the national targets. 

 
Note:   
Major - 10+ dwellings/0.5 hectares and over, 1000+ sqm/1 hectare and over 
Minor - 1-10 dwellings/less than 0.5 hectares, Up to 999 sqm/under 1 hectare 
Other - changes of use, householder development, adverts, listed building consents, demolition in 
a conservation area 
 
 
2 - Recent Planning Application Performance 
 

2023-2024 2024-2025 Application nos. 
Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 

Received 538 536 615 495 514 613 565 508 
Withdrawn 65 49 38 56 51 41 34 39 
Delegated no. and % 433 

(96%) 
395 
(98%) 

446 
(97%) 

457 
(97%) 

445 
(95%) 

377 
(95%) 

531 
(96%) 

469 
(96%) 

Refused no. and % 27 (6%) 15 (4%) 15 (3%) 38 (8%) 34 (7%) 26 (7%) 16 (3%) 29 (6%) 

 
Highlights: 

• 1% rise in planning application numbers compared to the previous 12 months – the 
last published national trend figure was an 4% decrease (year ending Jun 2025). 

• 2% increase in planning application numbers compared to the same quarter last year.  
• The current delegation rate is in line with the last published England average of 96% 

(year ending Jun 2025). 
• Percentage of refusals on planning applications remains very low compared to 

the last published England average of 13% (year ending Jun 2025) and we put this 
down to the high level of use and overall success of our Pre-application advice 
service which also brings income into the service. 

 
3 – Dwelling Decisions and Numbers 
 

2023-2024 2024-2025 Decisions on Major 
residential 
applications 

Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 

Decisions on Major 
residential applications 
(10 or more dwellings) 

6 3 8 2 2 5 2 2 

Major residential 
decisions granted 

5 3 6 1 2 5 2 2 
Page 114



Number of dwellings 
applied for on Major 
schemes 

237 283 16 0 320 10 0 260 

Number of dwelling 
units permitted on 
schemes (net) 

110 156 228 99 699 403 134 75 

 
Highlights: 
• There were two major residential planning decisions last quarter and both were granted. 

 
4 - Planning Appeals 
 

 Oct – Dec 
2024 

Jan – Mar 
2025 

Apr – Jun 
2025 

Jul – Sep 
2025 

Appeals lodged 15 17 16 9 
Appeals decided 11 10 15 13 
Appeals allowed 2 (18%) 2 (20%) 2 (13%) 6 (46%) 
Appeals dismissed 9 (82%) 8 (80%) 13 (87%) 7 (54%) 

 
Highlights: 

• Over the last 12 months performance on Appeals Allowed (24%) is better than the 
national average of approx. 30% 

• Planning Appeal costs awarded against the council in this financial year: None. 
 
5 - Enforcement Investigations  
 

 Oct – Dec 
2024 

Jan – Mar 
2025 

Apr – Jun 
2025 

Jul – Sep 
2025 

Investigations launched 110 105 100 86 
Investigations in hand 505 518 547 564 
Investigations closed 62 119 71 83 
Enforcement Notices issued 3 5 1 1 
Planning Contravention Notices 
served  

3 5 3 4 

Breach of Condition Notices 
served 

1 2 1 0 

Stop Notices 0 0 0 0 
Temporary Stop Notices 0 1 0 0 
Injunctions 0 0 0 0 

 
 
 
6 – Other Work (applications handled but not included in national returns) 
 
The service also processes other statutory applications (discharging conditions, prior approvals, 
prior notifications, non-material amendments etc) and discretionary services like pre-application 
advice. The table below shows the number of these applications received.  
   
 
 

Oct – Dec 2024 Jan – Mar 2025 Apr – Jun 2025 Jul – Sep 2025 

 
Other types of work  275 

 
414 

 
381 

 
395 

 
Page 115



 
 
7 – Works to Trees 
 
 Oct – Dec 

2024 
Jan – Mar 

2025 
Apr – Jun 

2025 
Jul – Sep 

2025 
Number of applications for works to trees 
subject to a Tree Preservation Order (TPO) 26 31 17 17 

Percentage of applications for works to trees 
subject to a TPO determined within 8 weeks 96% 100% 100% 100% 

Number of notifications for works to trees 
within a Conservation Area (CA) 262 151 203 263 
Percentage of notifications for works to trees 
within a Conservation Area (CA) determined 
within 6 weeks 

95% 95% 99% 99% 

 
Highlights: 

• Performance on works to trees remains excellent. 
 
 
8 – Corporate Customer Feedback 
 
The latest quarterly report is published here: 
 
https://www.bathnes.gov.uk/view-customer-feedback-and-complaint-reports 

 

9 - Ombudsman Complaints 

When a customer remains dissatisfied with the outcome of the Corporate Complaints investigation 
they can take their complaint to the Local Government Ombudsman for an independent view. 

Planning complaints reaching the LGSCO: 

Ombudsman 
Complaints 

Oct – Dec 
24 

Jan – Mar 
25 

Apr – Jun 
25 

Jul – Sep 
25 

 
Investigated: Upheld 
 

0 0 0 0 

Investigated: Not upheld 0 0 0 0 

Cases closed after initial 
inquiries (rejected by 
LGO with no action or 
out of their jurisdiction) 

2 0 1 0 

Premature Complaint 
(referred back to 
Council) 

0 0 0 0 

 

Highlights: 
• There were no upheld complaints over the last year.  

 

 
Page 116

https://www.bathnes.gov.uk/view-customer-feedback-and-complaint-reports


 

10 – Section 106 Agreements and Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL)  

Members will be aware of the Planning Obligations SPD first published in 2009. Planning Services 
have spent the last few years compiling a database of Section 106 Agreements. This is still in 
progress but does enable the S106/CIL Monitoring Officer to actively monitor the delivery of 
agreed obligations. S106 and CIL financial overview sums below will be refreshed for every 
quarterly report. CIL annual reports, Infrastructure Funding Statements and Infrastructure Delivery 
Plan 2021 are also published on our website: https://www.bathnes.gov.uk/policy-and-documents-
library/annual-cil-spending-reports 

(Note: figures are for guidance only and could be subject to change due to further updates with regards to 
monitoring S106 funds) 

S106 Funds received (2025/26)  
£91,340.64 

CIL sums overview – Potential Liability amount (April 
2015 to date) 

 
£26,249,437.43 

CIL sums overview – Paid (April 2015 to date)  
£32,747,534.34 

 
 
11 – Chair Referrals 

Table 11 below shows the numbers of planning applications where Chair decision has been 
sought to either decide the application under delegated authority or refer to Planning Committee. 
A further analysis of Chair referral cases is in Appendix 1 below. 

 Oct – Dec 
2024 

Jan – Mar 
2025 

Apr – Jun 
2025 

Jul – Sep 
2025 

Chair referral delegated 9 14 5 16 
Chair referral to Planning 
Committee 

9 7 7 9 

 

 

12 – 5 Year Housing Land Supply 
 

 

The monitoring reports are also published on our website: https://www.bathnes.gov.uk/policy-
and-documents-library/annual-monitoring-reports 

Page 117

https://www.bathnes.gov.uk/policy-and-documents-library/annual-cil-spending-reports
https://www.bathnes.gov.uk/policy-and-documents-library/annual-cil-spending-reports
https://www.bathnes.gov.uk/policy-and-documents-library/annual-monitoring-reports
https://www.bathnes.gov.uk/policy-and-documents-library/annual-monitoring-reports


 

Appendix 1 – see attachment. 

 

 
Contact person  John Theobald, Project/Technical and Management Support Officer, Planning 

01225 477519 

Background papers CLG General Development Management statistical returns PS1 and PS2 + 
Planning applications statistics on the gov.uk website: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/live-tables-on-planning-
application-statistics 

Please contact the report author if you need to access this report in an alternative format 
 

Page 118

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/live-tables-on-planning-application-statistics
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/live-tables-on-planning-application-statistics


qry_Analysis of Chair referral cases 1.7.25 - 30.9.25

Application no ADDRESS PROPOSAL Decision Level Decision Date Status Notes 

24/04040/FUL
Parcel 3800 Old Dunkerton 
Hill Dunkerton Bath Bath And North East 
Somerset  

Erection of an 
agricultural storage 
building/machinery 
and implement shed.

CHAIR 02-Jul-25 PERMIT

Chair referral delegated decision

25/00687/FUL
Land At Rear Of Carpenter's Arms Wick 
Lane Stanton Wick Bristol Bath And North 
East Somerset  

Erection of a new self-
build dwelling and 
associated works.

CHAIR 03-Jul-25 PERMIT

Chair referral delegated decision

25/01836/FUL
10 Downside Close Bathampton Bath Bath 
And North East Somerset BA2 6XF

Conversion of double 
garage into home 
office studio/living 
annex. CHAIR 10-Jul-25 PERMIT Chair referral delegated decision

23/03753/FUL

Catholic Church Of The Good 
Shepherd Northend Batheaston Bath Bath 
And North East Somerset BA1 7EN 

Erection of four 
dwellings with 
associated landscaping 
and parking following 
demolition of existing 
mass centre. CHAIR 16-Jul-25 PERMIT Chair referral delegated decision

25/00813/FUL
111 West Avenue Oldfield Park Bath Bath 
And North East Somerset BA2 3QE

Alterations to roof to 
create first floor 
extension and 
demolition of existing 
double garage and 
conservatory. CHAIR 16-Jul-25 PERMIT Chair referral delegated decision

25/02055/RES

Meadow View  Middle Street East 
Harptree Bristol Bath And North East 
Somerset BS40 6BB

Approval of reserved 
matters (details of 
layout, appearance, 
scale, access and 
landscaping) with 
regard to outline 
application 
23/02539/OUT 
(Erection of a detached 
property with 
associated parking, to 
follow demolition of 
existing store structure 
(Outline CHAIR 04-Aug-25 APP Chair referral delegated decision

25/01910/FUL
2 Grange Road Salƞord Bath And North 
East Somerset BS31 3AR

Erection of single 
storey garage 
(retrospecƟve)  Ref 
25/00084/UNDEV CHAIR 07-Aug-25 PERMIT Chair referral delegated decision

P
age 119



qry_Analysis of Chair referral cases 1.7.25 - 30.9.25

25/01754/FUL

Norton Lane Farm Norton 
Lane Wellow Bath Bath And North East 
Somerset BA2 8QR 

Change of Use of 
development land 
from Agricultural to 
Holiday 
Accommodation and 
erection of 2no. Pigsty 
holiday pods. CHAIR 07-Aug-25 RF Chair referral delegated decision

25/02300/FUL
11 Hazel Grove Moorlands Bath Bath And 
North East Somerset BA2 2JE

Change of use from 
dwellinghouse (Use 
class C3) to 5no bed 
HMO (Use class C4). CHAIR 12-Aug-25 PERMIT Chair referral delegated decision

25/01770/FUL
16 Hantone Hill Bathampton Bath Bath 
And North East Somerset BA2 6XD

Construction of a first 
floor side extension, 
single storey rear 
extension, 
repositioned front 
porch and associated 
alterations to 
fenestration. CHAIR 20-Aug-25 PERMIT Chair referral delegated decision

24/04201/OUT

Springfield House  The Street Compton 
MarƟn Bristol Bath And North East 
Somerset BS40 6JA

Outline planning 
application with some 
matters reserved for 
the erection of a single 
storey detached 
dwelling to rear of 
Springfield House CHAIR 28-Aug-25 PERMIT Chair referral delegated decision

25/02028/FUL

LiƩle Dale  Mill Lane Monkton 
Combe Bath Bath And North East 
Somerset BA2 7HD

Erection of 2 storey 
side extension 
following demolition of 
existing garage, link 
and outbuilding. CHAIR 01-Sep-25 PERMIT Chair referral delegated decision

25/02625/PIP

Land To East Of Providence 
Bungalow Frome Road Radstock Bath And 
North East Somerset  

Permission in Principle 
for the erection of 4no 
dwellings. CHAIR 03-Sep-25 PERMIT Chair referral delegated decision

22/04003/FUL

Development Land At Rear Of 
18 Midsomer Enterprise Park Midsomer 
Norton Bath And North East Somerset  

Erection of 8no. light 
industrial units. CHAIR 18-Sep-25 PERMIT Chair referral delegated decision

23/03974/FUL

Land And Buildings West Of St Julians 
Farm St Julian's 
Road Shoscombe Bath Bath And North 
East Somerset  

Full planning 
application, for the 
erection of 4no family 
dwellings on land and 
buildings West of St 
Julians Farm. CHAIR 18-Sep-25 PERMIT Chair referral delegated decision

25/03064/FUL

Bath Road Hand Car Wash  Bath New 
Road Radstock Bath And North East 
Somerset BA3 3AF

Enclosure of tyre fitting 
and carwash area CHAIR 29-Sep-25 RF Chair referral delegated decision

P
age 120



qry_Analysis of Chair referral cases 1.7.25 - 30.9.25

23/03586/FUL

The Smallholdings Claude 
Avenue Twerton Bath Bath And North East 
Somerset  

Change of use of land 
and erection of storage 
building (Sui Generis 
use) for Bath 
Scaffolding Ltd 
(Retrospective). COMMDC 25-Sep-25 PERMIT

Chair referral to committee.  I have reviewed the 
application for 23/03586/FUL at The 
Smallholdings, Claude Avenue, Twerton, Bath, and 
I believe this matter should be brought before the 
committee. Given that this is a retrospective 
application on land currently designated as 
allotment land (albeit not used as such for many 
years), it is important for the committee to 
determine whether this designation still stands.

25/01643/FUL
Devlopment Site Next To 
2 Mayfields Keynsham Bath And North 
East Somerset  

Conversion of roof void 
to form 2no 1 bed flats

COMMDC 03-Jul-25 PERMIT

Chair referral to committee. After reviewing the 
application for 2 Mayfields, I feel that on balance, 
it should go to committee. The comments made 
by Keynsham Town Council regarding parking 
need to be thoroughly debated and further 
explained at the committee. As with all future 
applications going to committee, a site visit is 
required.

24/02489/EFUL

Parcel 1643 Middle Piece 
Lane BurneƩ Keynsham Bath And North 
East Somerset  

Installation, operation 
and decommissioning 
of renewable energy 
generating station 
comprising ground-
mounted photovoltaic 
solar arrays together 
with transformer 
stations, site accesses, 
internal access tracks, 
security measures, 
access gates, other 
ancill COMMDC 25-Sep-25 RF

Chair referral to committee. After reviewing the 
matter, I have decided that this case should go to 
committee. Given that it aligns with the council's 
energy policies, it will be valuable for the 
committee to deliberate on the arguments for 
refusal alongside our energy policies.

25/00041/FUL

Parcel 6200 Moorledge Lane Chew 
Magna Bristol Bath And North East 
Somerset  

Change of use from 
Agricultural Field to 
Secure Dog Field. 
Proposed fencing 
around perimeter of 
the field. Proposed 
single storey mobile 
field shelter. 
(Retrospective) COMMDC 31-Jul-25 RF

Chair referral to committee. I have looked into the 
matter and noticed that it is a commercial venture 
on what could possibly be grade one agricultural 
land. Moreover, it appears to duplicate a nearby 
venture that seems to be underused. Considering 
the potential harm this may cause, I would like to 
investigate this application further at the 
committee level. I do not believe a site visit is 
necessary for this application. Thank you for the 
clarification regarding the Agricultural Land 
classification survey. Despite the findings, I still 
feel that there is enough substance in the 
application for it to be brought to the committee 
for further discussion. Your assistance and 
understanding in ensuring this matter is 
thoroughly reviewed are greatly appreciated.

P
age 121



qry_Analysis of Chair referral cases 1.7.25 - 30.9.25

25/02460/FUL

St Michael's Doctors Surgery  Walwyn 
Close Twerton Bath Bath And North East 
Somerset BA2 1ER

Change of use from 
Class E(e) Doctor's 
Surgery into Class C4 
HMO COMMDC 27-Aug-25 PERMIT

Chair referral to committee. I have studied the 
Chair referral report for application 25/02460/FUL 
at St Michael’s Doctors Surgery in detail. Given 
that this application has been refused twice 
previously and remains a controversial issue 
within the local area, I believe it would be most 
appropriate for the committee to consider it. A 
site visit would also be needed before committee.

25/01695/FUL

6 Southdown 
Avenue Southdown Bath Bath And North 
East Somerset BA2 1HY

Change of use from 3 
bedroom dwelling 
(Class C3) to 6-
Bedroom HMO (C4) COMMDC 31-Jul-25 RF

Chair referral to committee. I have thoroughly 
reviewed the application and the accompanying 
comments. My primary concern is not related to 
the HMO element but rather the impact on the 
neighbouring property, particularly the proximity 
of the garage to number 8. Given these issues, I 
believe this application warrants further scrutiny. 
Therefore, I recommend this matter bereferred to 
the committee for a more in-depth review. 
Additionally, it would be beneficial for members 
to conduct a site visit to fully understand the 
concerns raised.

25/00872/PIP
Highbanks The Street Stowey Bristol Bath 
And North East Somerset BS39 5TH 

Permission in Principle 
for the erection of 2no 
dwellings following 
demolition of existing 
detached annex. COMMDC 31-Jul-25 PERMIT

Chair referral to committee. I've given this 
application considerable thought and concluded 
that it should be brought to the committee for 
further deliberation. In your summing up, the 
application site is found to be unsustainable by 
location and is contrary to policies ST1 and ST7. 
However, considering the site is situated among 
existing residential housing and not isolated from 
other development, it may be considered infill 
development in accordance with Policy D7. Given 
these nuances, it would be prudent to seek the 
committee's advice on thematter.

23/04529/FUL

Parcel 6600 Fairy Hill Compton 
Dando Bristol Bath And North East 
Somerset  

Installation of ground 
mounted solar panels, 
substation compound, 
access tracks, 
perimeter fencing with 
CCTV cameras, access 
gates and associated 
grid infrastructure, in 
connection with 
development of a 
2.1MW community 
solar energy farm. COMMDC 29-Jul-25 PERMIT

Chair referral to committee. This application has 
generated a substantial level of public interest 
covering a significant range of planning issues. The 
Council has declared a climate emergency and as 
a community we need to explore sustainable 
solutions for generating energy. However this 
must be balanced against the key planning issues 
that the case officer has raised. It will be in the 
public interest for this application to be 
considered by the Planning Committee.

P
age 122



qry_Analysis of Chair referral cases 1.7.25 - 30.9.25

25/01768/FUL
41 Bloomfield Rise Bloomfield Bath Bath 
And North East Somerset BA2 2BL

Installation of side and 
rear dormers. COMMDC 31-Jul-25 PERMIT

Chair referral to committee. This is going to 
committee as the officer recommendation is 
refusal but local members feel this needs more 
scrutiny this is agreed by the Chair.

25/01744/FUL
30 Shaws Way Twerton Bath Bath And 
North East Somerset BA2 1QQ

Change of use from a 3 
bedroom 
dwellinghouse (Use 
Class C3) to a 6 
bedroom House in 
Multiple Occupation 
(HMO) (Use Class C4) 
and single-storey rear 
extension and 
alterations bicycle and 
bin storage. COMMDC 25-Sep-25 RF Cllr Moore called the application to committee.

25/01634/PIP

Land Adjacent To 
Greystones Ashgrove Peasedown St 
John Bath Bath And North East Somerset  

Permission in Principle 
infill residential 
development of a 
minimum of three and 
a maximum of five 
dwellings. COMMDC 27-Aug-25 PERMIT

Officer recommendation is contrary with the 
objection received by the Parish Council.

P
age 123



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 124


	Agenda
	6 Minutes of the Previous Meeting
	Minutes
	 
	250917 Decision List

	Minutes of Previous Meeting

	7 Main Plans List - Applications for Planning Permission Etc for Determination by the Committee
	8 New Planning Appeals Lodged, Decisions Received and Dates of Forthcoming Hearings/Inquiries
	9 Quarterly Performance Report covering period 1 July - 30 Sept 2025
	6 – Other Work (applications handled but not included in national returns)
	The service also processes other statutory applications (discharging conditions, prior approvals, prior notifications, non-material amendments etc) and discretionary services like pre-application advice. The table below shows the number of these applications received.
	7 – Works to Trees
	251022 Analysis of Chair referral cases 010725 - 300925




